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THE CHAIRMAN OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTOR’S LETTER 

Dear shareholders and investors, 

Rostelecom continued to add to its new offering in 2012, leading to results which are 

undoubtedly among the strongest in the Company’s successful history. 

As a result of the efforts of the Company’s management and its staff, Rostelecom made 

significant progress in developing its services in a number of innovative new areas during 2012. 

We succeeded in advancing our interactive television services, our cloud-based technology 

products and progress has been made in the construction of Rostelecom’s mobile data transfer 

networks. These operational developments were reinforced by a strong set of financial results 

for 2012, where all the key financial indicators rose. 

In addition to our operational achievements, which include expanding our market presence and 

increasing our operational efficiency, the Company has also made significant headway in 

preparing to merge Rostelecom with OJSC Svyazinvest and a range of its subsidiary structures. 

We were able to complete a number of key steps before the end of last year by consolidating 

‘Sky Link’ and acquiring shares in Svyazinvest’s additional share offering.  

By participating in Svyazinvest’s additional issue, through which government share holdings of 

regional telecommunications companies contributed to Svyazinvest’s capital, Rostelecom was 

able to secure its blocking stake of 25%+1 shares up until the merger. In order to complete the 

deal, the reorganisation, must now be approved at a shareholders’ meeting and we must also 

go through a series of obligatory corporate procedures. The merger itself will clear up a 

complicated and entangled leadership structure, helping to increase transparency and facilitate 

the integration of its subsidiary businesses.  The structural changes associated with the merger 

are expected to improve Rostelecom’s investment case as it will lead to a more streamlined and 

transparent management structure, it will consolidate all of Svyazinvest’s assets and subsidiary 

companies will be united.  

As Chairman of the board of directors, I declare that Rostelecom supports the highest levels of 

corporate governance, worthy of global best practice.  To this end, strict procedures are in 

place regarding the disclosure of information to the investment community to protect 

shareholders’ legal interests. A strong internal audit service, which works within the internal 

control system, also exists, as well as a risk management service.  

The pursuit of best practice has turned the Board of Directors in to a genuine working organ, 

whose sessions have evolved into effective forums for active debate and the resolution of 

important strategic tasks. When key topics need to be raised, they are provisionally discussed 

within specialist committees, created by the Board of Directors, so that third party experts can 

engage with stakeholders’ representatives. For example, in December last year, a large number 
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of experts were called in, including representatives from the Ministry of Communications and 

the Federal Agency for State Property Management, to discuss how Rostelecom should realise 

its strategy.  Suggestions were provided by Rostelecom’s own staff on how its updated strategy 

should be executed, and it was agreed that Rostelecom will remained focused on developing 

services in fast-growing segments, including expanding our position on the mobile 

communications market. 

Rostelecom is an exceptionally promising and interesting Russian company that enjoys a high 

level of investor interest and significant potential for growth. I have no doubt that Rostelecom 

has a great future ahead and it is fully capable of becoming a market leader if it continues to 

focus on its fast-growing markets and if it harnesses the talents of its strong management team 

and its loyal workforce. 

 

Yours faithfully, 

I.Rodionov 

Chairman of the Board of Directors, OAO Rostelecom    
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PRESIDENT’S LETTER 

Dear shareholders, investors, clients, partners and employees, 

It is a great honour to have been given responsibility for leading one of the largest 

infrastructure companies in Russia, which has united regional telecommunications companies 

across the country and has absorbed the best traditions and experience of several generations 

of telecommunications operators. The Company forms the “backbone” of the national 

telecommunications infrastructure, providing us with a significant competitive advantage over 

other players in the market. 

There is no doubt that the Company has achieved a great deal in recent years and its long-term 

development is built on solid foundations. Today, Rostelecom is the largest telecommunications 

group in Russia which provides services in all segments of the telecoms market across the 

country.  Rostelecom is Russia’s market leader, according to indicators such as the pace of 

growth in broadband and pay-TV subscriptions, all of which clearly demonstrate how these 

market segments are developing.  

Despite our obvious strengths, there are challenges to address. Primarily, our communications 

network is in need of modernisation and we need to improve our customer offering. We are 

developing an unrivalled package of services, at attractive tariffs, and plans are also underway 

to make significant improvements to our customer service practices. A great deal of progress is 

also needed when it comes to improving business efficiency and corporate governance 

standards. We must also move away from our technocratic approach to solving business issues 

and crucially, as part of this, we must change our corporate culture. A major part of this task 

will be to increase our employees’ sense of belonging and involvement in our common cause, 

which should help improve the quality of service offered to clients. 

Many difficult tasks lie ahead of Rostelecom, but I am confident that we have all the required 

strengths and capabilities at our disposal to solve all of these issues.   

 

Yours faithfully, 

Sergey Kalugin  

President of Rostelecom OJSC 
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ABOUT THE COMPANY 

Rostelecom (“the Group” or “the Company”) is a major Russian telecommunications provider, 

with points of presence (“PoPs”) in every region in Russia. On the basis of its advanced 

telecommunications network consisting of approximately 500,000 km of backbone 

infrastructure plus last mile connection and a fibre to the building or fibre to the home (“FTTx”) 

network Rostelecom is providing access to 34 million subscribers. The Company organizes the 

business by two primary customer groups – residential customers (i.e., individuals) and 

corporate customers  (i.e., legal entities, Russian Government agencies and entities under 

direct and indirect control of the Russian Government, telecommunications carriers and 

resellers that purchase our interconnection services), which represented 51% and 49% of total 

revenue, respectively, for the year ended December 31, 2012. 

The business is centred on providing integrated telecom solutions including local and intra-zone 

telephone services, international long-distance (“ILD”) and domestic long-distance (“DLD”) 

services, mobile voice, data services, broadband Internet access services and Pay-TV services to 

broad base of customers in all regions of Russia. 

Rostelecom had 27.1 million local fixed-line voice subscribers, 13.6 million mobile voice 

subscribers, 9.2 million fixed-line broadband subscribers and 6.6 million Pay-TV subscribers at 

the end of 2012. The Group generated RUB 321.3 billion of consolidated revenues, RUB 118.6 

billion of OIBDA (36.9% of revenues) and RUB 35.2 billion of net income for the twelve months 

ended December 31, 2012. 

Company’s ordinary shares were included in the Large Cap Segment of the MSCI Global 
Standard Indices and MSCI Russia Index, effective from September 1, 2011. Current weight in 
MSCI Russia of 1.97% 

Rostelecom was assigned a ‘BBB-’ and ‘BB+’ international credit ratings by Fitch Ratings and 

Standard & Poor’s respectively, both with a ‘Stable’ outlook. 
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KEY FINANCIAL & OPERATIONAL HIGHLIGHTS  
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Revenue breakdown by services, 2012 
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Local voice subscribers 
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Pay-TV subscribers 

 

 

KEY EVENTS OF 2012 & EARLY 2013  

Business news: 
 

 Rostelecom signed a co-operation agreement with the retail networks of Svyaznoy 
and Euroset 
 

 Rostelecom launched federal bundle services for small- and mid-sized businesses. 
 

 Rostelecom successfully organised the video surveillance of the Russian Presidential 
Elections on  March 4, 2012. 
 

 Rostelecom received federal LTE licenses. 
 

 Rostelecom carried out test launches of 3G+ networks in 24 regions. 
 

 Rostelecom carried out test launches of LTE base stations in Krasnodar and Sochi. 
 

 Rostelecom launched 3G+ networks commercially in 10 regions: in the Irkutsk region, 
in Primorsky and Perm Krai, in the Ulyanovsk region, in Penza region, in the Republic 
of Tatarstan, in the Nizhny Novgorod region, in the Saratov region, and in the 
Orenburg and Samara regions. 
 

 Rostelecom launched corporate bonds worth a total sum of RUB 35 billion. 
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 Rostelecom’s Board of Directors approved the appointment of Sergey Kalugin as 

President of Rostelecom to succeed Alexander Provotorov  
 

Reorganization: 
 

 Acquisition of 3.86% of Rostelecom’s own ordinary shares, consequently increasing the 
Treasury’s stake to 6.55% 
 

 The Decree relating to the merger of Rostelecom and Svyazinvest was signed by the 
President of the Russian Federation. 
 

 State approval received for the acquisition of ZAO Sky Link, an additional share issue by 
Svyazinvest and also the transfer of additional Svyazinvest telecom assets. 
 

 In relation to the additional Svyazinvest share issue, Rostelecom acquired an additional 
140,315,416 Svyazinvest shares to safeguard its 25% +1 stake until the merger. 

 
 The Rostelecom Board of Directors approved the price at which one ordinary and one 

preferred share will be bought from shareholders who vote against or do not take part 
in the voting over the company's reorganization. The buyback price of one ordinary 
share has been set at RUB 136.05, with the price of one privileged share at RUB 95.24 as 
set by the independent appraiser Ernst and Young. 

 
M&A: 
 

 The acquisition of 100% of ZAO Sky Link gave Rostelecom access to 3G licenses in 65 
regions across Russia 
 

 The acquisition of 28.2% of NTK, increasing Rostelecom’s share of the company to 100%. 
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MERGER WITH SVYAZINVEST & OPTIMIZATION OF GROUP’S STRUCTURE 

On April 05, 2012, Rostelecom announced a corporate reorganisation (the “Merger”), 
which envisages the merger of Svyazinvest into the Company. It is expected to enhance 
Rostelecom’s investment case by simplifying its shareholder structure and eliminate the cross 
ownership structure. 

Svyazinvest is a holding company controlled by the Russian government. Its principal 
assets currently comprise 45.29% of Rostelecom ordinary shares, as well as certain other 
Russian telecommunication companies, such as OAO Central Telegraph (“Central Telegraph”) 
(51% of the ordinary shares) and OAO Giprosvyaz (“Giprosvyaz”) (74.9% of the ordinary shares). 
The Russian government also holds interests in the Company through the FASPM, which 
accounts for 7.43% of the ordinary shares and Vnesheconombank (VEB), which currently holds 
2.45% of Rostelecom ordinary sharesshares. Overall, the Russian government currently holds 
beneficially 55.16% of Rostelecom ordinary shares. 

Svyazinvest was originally established primarily to hold interests in a number of regional 
telecommunications companies in Russia. Over the past few years, these regional operators 
have been merged into the Company, resulting in Svyazinvest’s principal remaining assets being 
its interests in the Company and Sky Link, as well as interests in certain smaller Russian 
telecommunications companies. The Russian government has therefore proposed a 
reorganisation of Svyazinvest, which will be carried out by merging it into the Company. 

As of March 31, 2013 the following key steps in reorganizations have been made: 

 Signing the Presidential decree: Decree No. 340 for merging Svyazinvest into 
Rostelecom merger, was signed by the Russian President on March 24, 2012  

 Necessary governmental approvals have been obtained: SkyLink purchase, Svyazinvest’s 
additional share issue and transfer of additional telecom assets from Svyazinvest to 
Rostelecom, have been approved 

 Acquisition of SkyLink from Svyazinvest: a non-cash transaction for a 1.91% of treasury 
shares that are on the balance sheet of Mobitel LLC (Rostelecom’s 99% subsidiary) 

 Svyazinvest’s additional issue: Svyazinvest  carries out an additional issue. Rostelecom 
buys  140,315,416 shares in Svyazinvest to maintain its stake at 25% + 1 share until the 
merger  

 Corporate appraisal: the two companies are appraised by an independent appraiser and 
Rostelecom Board of Directors approved the price at which one ordinary and one 
preferred share will be bought from shareholders who vote against or do not take part 
in the voting over the company's reorganization. The buyback price of one ordinary 
share has been set at RUB 136.05, with the price of one privileged share at RUB 95.24 as 
set by the independent appraiser Ernst and Young. 

 

The final phase of the merger is currently expected to occur as follows: 
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 Shareholders’ meetings: both companies hold shareholders’ meetings to obtain 
approval of the merger  

 Mandatory redemption of shares from minority shareholders: Rostelecom is obliged by 
law to spend up to 10% of its net assets on mandatory redemption of shares from the 
shareholders who have voted against the merger or not voted at all, within 45 days from 
the shareholders’ meeting  

 Rostelecom’s additional issue: Rostelecom conducts an additional issue in favor of the 
Russian Property Ministry  

 Conversion of shares: Svyazinvest shares owned by the Russian Property Ministry shall 
be converted into Rostelecom shares; Rostelecom shares currently held by Svyazinvest 
will be cancelled 

 

Following the completion of the merger, the Russian government will be a beneficial 
holder of at least 50% of the ordinary shares. Therefore, following the merger, the Russian 
government will remain the controlling shareholder of the Company.  
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OPERATING & FINANCIAL REVIEW  

Key financial highlights in 2012: 

 Revenues up 7% year on year to RUB 321.3 billion 

 OIBDA1 up to RUB 118.6 billion 

 OIBDA margin of 36.9% compared with 37.5% a year earlier (without taking into account 
the non-monetary effect on Q4 2011 results due to reduced long-term social 
obligations, as a result of a new labour contract signed by Rostelecom, its employees 
and the labour union in December 20112). 

 Net profit of RUB 35.2 billion (RAS net profit is used as a basis for dividend calculation 
on preferred shares up to RUB 32.7 billion).    

 Capital expenditure3 of RUB 91.2 billion, representing 28.4% of consolidated revenues 

 Net debt4 of RUB 203.1 billion with a net debt / OIBDA5 ratio of 1.7x as at December 31, 
2012. 

 

Financial summary 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

                                                           
1
 Here and below, please refer to Attachment 1 to this statement for a full definition of OIBDA 

2
 The non-monetary effect was RUB 4.7 billion on OIBDA margin in Q4 2011 and in total in 2011 without taking into account the non-

monetary effect on the result of Q4 2011, due to the reduced long-term social obligations, as a result of the new labour contract 
signed by Rostelecom, its employees and the labour union in December 2011, which made up 39% . 
3
 Here and below, capital expenditure (“CAPEX”) comprises cash spent on purchase of property, plant and equipment and intangible 

assets 
4
 Here and below, net debt is calculated as the sum of long-term loans and short-term borrowings minus cash and cash equivalents 

and short-term investments 
5
 OIBDA for the last 12 months 

RUB million FY 2012 FY 2011 % change, y-o-y 

Revenue 321,251    301,494   7% 

OIBDA 118,554 117,712 1% 

   OIBDA margin, % 36.9% 39.0%  

Operating profit  53,825     60,188    (11%) 

   Operating margin, % 16.8% 20.0%  

Net profit  35,240 42,527 (17%) 

   Net margin, % 11.0% 14.1%  

Capital expenditures 91,181    83,231    10% 

% of revenue 28.4% 27.6%  

Net debt 203,084    161,516    26% 

Net debt/annualized 

OIBDA 
1.7х 1.4х  
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Operating review 

Revenue structure by services6 

RUB million FY 2012 FY 2011 % change, y-o-y 

Local telephony services  85,734     88,061   (3%) 

   Intra-zone telephony 

services 
 18,754     21,393    (12%) 

DLD/ILD telephony services  20,390     24,070    (15%) 

Interconnection and traffic  

transit services 
 21,003     19,774    6% 

Broadband Internet  49,797     46,396    7% 

Pay TV  9,147     6,706  36% 

Mobile communication 

services 
 41,161     40,660    1% 

Data services (VPN, data 

centres, wholesale Internet 

sales) 

 20,815     18,872    10% 

Rent of channels  11,269     10,365   9% 

Cloud services 6,625 2,764 140% 

Other  36,556     22,442    63% 

Total revenue  321,251     301,494    7% 

 

Revenue structure by customer segments 

RUB million FY 2012 FY 2011 % change, y-o-y 

Residential customers   162,493    165,634    (2%) 

Corporate customers  69,015     69,555    (1%) 

Governmental customers   53,452     34,484    55% 

Operators 36,291     31,821    14% 

Total revenue 321,251     301,494    7% 

 

                                                           
6  Effective from April 1, 2011, the methodological changes in the revenue structure include the following: 1) revenue from DLD/ILD traffic 

transit, which were previously included in the “DLD / ILD telephony services” reporting line, are now  included  in  the “Interconnection and 

traffic transit services”   reporting line;  2) revenue from mobile interconnection services, previously included in the “Interconnection and traffic 

transit services” reporting line, are now presented under "Mobile Communication Services";  3) other methodological changes had no 

significant impact on the reporting structure 
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Rostelecom’s revenue in 2012 reached RUB 321.3 billion, a 7% increase over 2011, achieved 
due to growth in cloud and IT service segments, but also from growth in revenue from 
providing broadband and pay-TV services. 

This growth was partially offset by a decline in revenues from Domestic Long Distance and 
International Long Distance and intrazonal telephony services, which primarily reflected on-
going changes in usage patterns for traditional fixed-line services. 

 

Key operating indicators 

Number of Subscribers 

(millions): FY 2012 FY 2011 % change, y-o-y 

Household passed  33.8 32.0 6% 

incl FTTх 16.4 12.9 27% 

Local telephony 27.1 28.5 (5%) 

Mobile 13.6 13.1 4% 

Broadband Internet access incl. 9.2 8.2 12% 

 Residential 8.5 7.6 12% 

 Corporate 0.7 0.6 9% 

Pay TV incl. 6.6 5.9 12% 

 IPTV 1.4 0.7 102% 

Traffic, generated by 

residential and corporate 

subscribers7 (billions of 

minutes)    

 Intra-zone 2.4 2.7 (11%) 

 DLD 1.2 1.3 (13%) 

 ILD 0.1 0.1 (13%) 

 
The number of households passed grew 6% year-on-year to 33.8 million8, including 16.4 million 
(or 48%) passed by FTTx technology. The number of broadband subscribers grew 12% 
compared to the equivalent period last year, rising to 9.2 million subscribers. The subscriber 
base in the broadband B2C segment grew 12% to 8.5 million, out of which, those connected by 
FTTx technology grew 1.6 times year-on-year to 2.8 million (that is 33% of the total subscriber 
base), representing the highest rate of growth in the Russian market. Rostelecom’s share of the 
B2C broadband market was 40%. 
 

                                                           
7
 Excluding traffic, generated by other telecom operators 

8
 Calculated as the sum of total number of households passed by xDSL, FTTx and xPON technologies, excluding technology 

intersections. 
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The number of pay-TV subscribers grew 12% compared to the equivalent period last year, 
comprising 6.6 million subscribers. Of that total, the number of interactive TV subscribers more 
than doubled to 1.4 million, with the penetration optical networks making up 34%. 
Rostelecom’s share of the Interactive TV market was 49%. 
 
The number of mobile subscribers grew 4% compared with the equivalent period last year, 
rising to 13.6 million subscribers. The acquisition of SkyLink gave Rostelecom access to 3G 
licenses in 69 regions across Russia. As of the date of this annual report, 3G+ networks have 
been built and undergone testing in 24 Russian regions, with commercial launches taken place 
in 10 areas. 
 
The number of subscribers to fixed-line local telephone services decreased year-on-year, due to 
changes in client preference in favour of mobile means of communication, although remaining 
significantly lower than for international peer companies. 
 

Operating Expenses9 Structure 

RUB million FY 2012 FY 2011 % change, y-o-y 

Personnel costs 84,308 76,252 11% 

Interconnection charges 47,312 40,736 16% 

Materials, repairs and 

maintenance, utilities 27,358 27,507 (1%) 

Other operating income (13,868) (14,711) (6%) 

Other operating expenses 57,587 53,998 7% 

Total 202,697 182,782 10% 

 
Operational expenditure, excluding depreciation and amortisation, in 2012 was RUB 202.7 
billion, up 10% compared to the equivalent period last year, in the main part, due to: 

 11% growth in personnel expenditure compared to the equivalent period in 2011 to 
RUB 84.3 billion, due to the effect of the one-off reduction in long-term social 
obligations, as a result of a new labour contract signed by Rostelecom, its employees 
and the labour union in December 2011 by  RUB 4.8 billion, the recruitment of 
commercial staff in the mobile segment, but also the creation of reserves for 
compensation due to employees as part of the 20% optimization of administrative 
personnel planned for 2013 

 Increased expenditure on operator services by 16% year-on-year to RUB 47.3 billion, in 
connection with the increase in direct expenditure, which relates to the growth of the 
Company’s profits. 

 
 

                                                           
9
 Excluding depreciation and amortisation 
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The Company reported a FY 2012 OIBDA of RUB 118.6 billion with OIBDA margin 36.9%. 
 
In 2012, depreciation and amortisation expenses rose 13% compared to 2011 to reach RUB 
64.7 billion due to the video surveillance project for the Presidential elections and the 
commissioning of new fixed assets, specifically the construction of 3G+ networks.  
 
In 2012, capital expenditure rose 10% overall compared to 2011, reaching RUB 91.2 billion. The 
2012 increase in CAPEX primarily comprised of the maintenance of existing channels and the 
construction of new channels, to enable the video observation of the Presidential elections. 
Also, the modernization of broadband networks, the implementation of new IT systems, the 
launch of new services and the expansion of 3G+ networks required additional investment. 
 
The Company reported an operating profit of RUB 53.8 billion for 2012, with operating margin 
of 16.8%. 
 
The growth of financial expenditure in connection with the rise in gross debt was in part 
compensated by the positive effect of the exchange rate. 
 
Profit before tax was RUB 44.0 billion for 2012, representing decreases of 17% on the 
equivalent period of 2011. This was for the most part due to the increase in amortization, but 
also as a result of the one-off decrease in expenditure from the pension plan in 4Q 2011. 
 
The Company’s rate of income tax in the full year 2012 decreased 18% compared to 2011 to 
RUB 8.8 billion. This change in income tax related to changes to pre-tax profit. The effective 
income tax-rate for whole 2012 year remained at 20%, in line with the Tax Code level of 20%.  
 
The Group reported a net profit of RUB 35.2 billion for 2012. 
 

Financial review 

Net operating cash flow rose 13% by the end of 2012 to RUB 96.2 billion. 
 
Net cash used for investment activities decreased 24% by the end of 2012 to RUB 87.5 billion. 
This decrease is linked to the use of investment funds in acquiring 71.8% of the shares in OAO 
NTK in 1Q 2011. 
 
The decrease in the amount of net cash received from financial activity by the end of 2012 was 
linked to Rostelecom’s acquisition of 3.86% ordinary shares in OOO Mobitel, but also the 
buyback of 28.2% of shares in OAO NTK. 
 
The Group’s total debt rose 24% year-on-year to RUB 214.4 billion. More than 98% of the 
Company’s total debt was ruble-denominated as of 31st December 2012. Rostelecom’s net 
debt, as of December 31, 2012, was RUB 203.1 billion, which is 1.7x and the Group’s OIBDA 
margin as at the end of 2012. 
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE  

Rostelecom is governed by the Board of Directors and the Management Board. The Board of 

Directors is responsible for the strategic development, while the Management Board is 

responsible for implementing such strategies and overall management. There are no service 

contracts between Rostelecom and the Directors. There are no family relationships between 

any of the Directors and the members of the Management Board. 

 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS & COMMITTEES  

Pursuant to the Joint Stock Companies Law and Rostelecom charter, members of the 

Board of Directors are elected annually by a general meeting of shareholders. A person elected 

as a member of the Board of Directors may be re-elected an unlimited number of times. The 

business address for each of our Directors is 14, 1-st Tverskaya-Yamskaya Street, Moscow 

125047, Russian Federation. As at the date of the annual report, the membership of the Board 

of Directors is set out below: 

Name Date of Birth Position Since 

Ivan I. Rodionov November 30, 1953 Chairman of the Board of 

Directors 

May 2009 

Sergey A. Azatyan May 4, 1979 Director June 2012 

Vladimir N. Bondarik November 7, 1957 Director  May 2009 

Anton S. Inshutin March 20, 1974 Director June 2012 

Yury A. Kudimov April 19, 1953 Director June 2010 

Sergey I. Kuznetsov December 25, 1953 Director June 2011 

Mikhail A. Leshenko March 20, 1975 Director June 2012 

Anatoly A. Milyukov April 15 , 1972 Director June 2011 

Alexander Y. Provotorov November 7, 1974 Director May 2009 

Vadim V. Semenov August 21, 1965 Director January 2011 

Anton A. Zlatopolsky September 12,1966 Director June 2011 

All of the Directors were elected or re-elected on June 14, 2012 by the Company’s 

annual general shareholders’ meeting. The terms of appointment for each Director expire on 

the date of the next annual general shareholders’ meeting of the Company. 

The qualifications and certain other information for each Director are set forth below: 
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Ivan I. Rodionov has been a member of our Board of Directors since May 2009 and its 

Chairman since June 2011. Mr. Rodionov also serves as a member of the board of directors and 

a member of the audit committee of Svyazinvest. He also serves as a member of the boards of 

directors of OJSC FosAgro, Svyazinvest, OJSC IBS Group Holding, OJSC EnergoMashinostroitelny 

Alliance, OJSC Rusinvest, and OJSC Amofos. Mr. Rodionov has also served as a member of the 

board of directors of OJSC MGTS from 2005 to 2007. In addition, he is a professor at the Russian 

State University for the Humanities and a professor at the National Research University – 

Higher School of Economics. From 2004 to 2006, Mr. Rodionov served as the managing director 

of AIG-Interros RCF Advisor. Mr. Rodionov graduated from the Lomonosov Moscow State 

University in 1978 with a degree in economics. 

Sergey A. Azatyan has been a member of our Board of Directors since June 2012. He has 

served as the managing director of MarCap Investments Group Limited Moscow branch since 

2011. From 2009 to 2011, Mr. Azatyan also served as the managing director of MarCap Advisors 

Limited Moscow branch. In addition, he served as head of investment department at LLC 

Marshal Consulting from 2007 to 2009. Prior to that, he has held various management positions 

at MDM Bank and Gamma Group investment bank. Mr. Azatyan graduated from the Financial 

University under the Government of the Russian Federation in 2000 with a degree in 

international economic relations. 

Vladimir N. Bondarik has been a member of our Board of Directors since May 2009 and 

served as its Chairman in 2010. He also serves as the general director of OJSC Gyprosvyaz, 

deputy general director of Svyazinvest and advisor to the Minister at the Ministry of 

Communications and Mass Media of the Russian Federation. Mr. Bondarik also serves as the 

chairman of the board of directors of OJSC Vitanet since 2010. From 2005 to 2008, Mr. Bondarik 

held various management positions, including the general director, the managing director and 

the deputy general director, at LLC Roilcom. In addition, he served as the general director of 

LLC Sensor Systems from 2004 to 2005. Mr. Bondarik graduated from the Moscow Institute of 

Physics and Technology in 1980 with a degree in radio-electronic devices. 

Anton S. Inshutin has been a member of our Board of Directors since June 2012. He has 

also served as the managing partner of InVenture Partners since 2012. Mr. Inshutin was the 

executive director for telecommunications, media, technologies in Russia and CIS at Morgan 

Stanley from 2007 to 2012. Prior to that, he served as the executive director for 

telecommunications, media, technologies in Russia and CIS at Deutsche Bank. Mr. Inshutin 

graduated from the Russian Presidential Academy of National Economy and Public 

Administration in 1996 with a degree in financial management. 
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Yury A. Kudimov has been a member of our Board of Directors since June 2010. He also 

serves as the general director of LLC Investment Company of Vnesheconombank (VEB Capital). 

Mr. Kudimov serves as the chairman of the boards of directors of VEB-Invest LLC and Globeks-

Capital LLC, and a member of the boards of directors of Svyazinvest, OJSC First Freight 

Company, and OJSC Terminal. From 2005 to 2009, Mr. Kudimov held various management 

positions at OJSC National Reserve Bank, including the President and the chairman of the 

management board. Mr. Kudimov graduated from the Lomonosov Moscow State University in 

1979 with a degree in journalism and from the Dowling College in 1998 with a master’s degree 

in banking and international financial systems. 

Sergey I. Kuznetsov has been a member of our Board of Directors since June 2011. 

Mr. Kuznetsov also serves as a member of the Independent Directors’ National Register of the 

Russian Union of Industrialists and Entrepreneurs. From 2004 to 2009, he served as chairman of 

the Board of Directors of Rostelecom, OJSC Central Telegraph, OJSC Telecominvest and several 

IRCs. From 2004 to 2006, he served as deputy general director and member of the 

management board of OJSC Svyazinvest. Mr. Kuznetsov graduated from North-Western 

Polytechnics Institute where he specialized in computer technologies. He also trained at 

Columbia University and studied business administration at the Fuqua Business School at Duke 

University. 

Mikhail A. Leshenko has been a member of our Board of Directors since June 2012. 

Mr. Leshenko has served as a deputy general director at Svyazinvest and as an adviser to the 

Minister of Telecom and Mass Communications since 2009 and 2008, respectively. From 2005 

to 2008, he served as a director of Marshall Capital Partners. Mr. Leshenko graduated from the 

Saint Petersburg State University of Economics and Finance (FINEC) in 1997 with a degree in 

finance. 

Anatoly A. Milyukov has been a member of our Board of Directors since June 2011. 

Mr. Milyukov has also served as the managing vice president of OJSC Gazprombank and a 

member of the board of directors of CJSC Gazprombank – Asset Management, GBP Asset 

Management S.A. and CJSC New Instrumental Solutions since 2008. From 2001 to 2006, he also 

served as the Chief Managing Director of Alfa-Capital Management Company. Mr. Milyukov 

graduated from the Lomonosov Moscow State University with a degree in economics. In 2001, 

Mr. Milyukov graduated from Harvard Business School (MBA). 
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Alexander Y. Provotorov has been a member of our Board of Directors since May 2009. 

Mr. Provotorov also serves as the general director of OJSC NTC since 2012. From 2010 to March 

27, 2013, he served as our President.  He also has been a member of the management board of 

Svyazinvest. He is also the chairman of the board of directors of OJSC Giprosvyaz, and a 

member of the boards of directors of Svyazinvest, OJSC Central Telegraph, OJSC 

Rosinfocominvest, and Telecom-Soyuz Pension Fund. He also served as a member of the boards 

of directors of CJSC PTT and OJSC MGTS. From 2009 to 2010, he served as the first deputy 

general director at Svyazinvest. In 2009, he served as the senior managing director of MarCap 

Advisors Limited. From 2006 to 2008, he served as the general director of Marshall Capital. In 

2005, Mr. Provotorov served as the deputy general director of Marshall Capital Partners. 

Mr. Provotorov graduated from the Lomonosov Moscow State University in 1996 with a degree 

in law. 

Vadim V. Semenov has been a member of our Board of Directors since January 2011. 

Mr. Semenov also serves as the general director and the chairman of the management board of 

Svyazinvest. He also serves as the chairman of the boards of directors of OJSC Moscow Inter-

city Telephone Exchange No.9, Sky Link, OJSC Gyprosvyaz, CJSC Delta Telecom, OJSC Moscow 

Cellular Communications, and OJSC Central Telegraph. Mr. Semenov has also been a member of 

the boards of directors of Svyazinvest and Telecom-Soyuz Pension Fund since 2011 and 2010, 

respectively. From 2009 to 2010, he served as an advisor to our general director, our Vice 

President for corporate development and a member of the Management Board. From 2003 to 

2009, Mr. Semenov held various management positions at MegaFon, including the head of legal 

department, the director for legal affairs and the deputy director for legal affairs. Mr. Semenov 

graduated from the Saint Petersburg State University in 1997 with a degree in law. 

Anton A. Zlatopolsky has been a member of our Board of Directors since June 2011. He 

also serves as the Director of Russia State Television and Deputy General Director of FGUP 

VGTRK and has held these positions since 2006. Mr. Zlatopolsky graduated from the Lomonosov 

Moscow State University with a degree in law. 

 

Committees 

Audit Committee 

The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors was established in December 2004 by 

the Board of Directors and performs its functions in accordance with the regulations approved 

by the Board of Directors. Our Audit Committee is comprised of the following members: Yury A. 

Kudimov (chairman), and Anton S. Inshutin, Vadim V. Semenov and Ivan I. Rodionov. 
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The goals and objectives of the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors, as set forth 

in its regulations, are to assist the Board of Directors in carrying out its oversight responsibilities 

in the areas of:  

 the quality and integrity of our financial statements; 

 the qualifications and independence of our independent auditor;  

 the performance of functions and responsibilities of our independent auditor;  

 monitor the activities of our internal auditor; and  

 our compliance with legal and regulatory requirements.  

Nominations and Remuneration Committee 

The Nominations and Remuneration Committee of the Board of Directors was 

established in September 2003 by the Board of Directors and performs its functions in 

accordance with regulations approved by the Board of Directors. Our Nominations and 

Remuneration Committee is comprised of the following members: Sergey A. Azatyan 

(chairman), and Mikhail A. Leshenko, Anatoly A. Milyukov, and Anton A. Zlatopolsky. 

The goals and objectives of the Nominations and Remuneration Committee, as set forth 

in its regulations, are to assist the Board of Directors in carrying out its oversight responsibilities 

in the areas of:  

 development of our policy in respect of appointment of members of the 
Management Board;  

 preparation of recommendations on appointment of the General Director; 

 determination of qualifications for candidates for the Board of Directors;  

 development of our policy defining principles and criteria to determine 
compensation of members of the Board of Directors, the Internal Audit 
Commission, the President and members of the Management Board, as well as 
criteria for the appraisal of their activity;  

 preparation of recommendations on our personnel policy, including the employee 
incentive system; and  

 appraisal of activities of our management.  

Strategy Committee 

The Strategy Committee of the Board of Directors was established in September 2003 by 

the Board of Directors and performs its functions in accordance with regulations approved by 

the Board of Directors. Our Strategy Committee is comprised of the following members: Vadim 

V. Semenov (chairman), and Sergey A. Azatyan, Anton S. Inshutin, Sergey I. Kuznetsov and 

Alexander Yu. Provotorov. 

The goals and objectives of the Strategy Committee, as set forth in its regulations, are to 

assist the Board of Directors in carrying out its oversight responsibilities in the areas of:  
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 preliminary consideration of and preparation of recommendations for our strategic 
development plan;  

 oversight of implementation of the strategic development plan;  

 preliminary consideration and preparation of recommendations and policy in 
respect to participation in other organizations; 

 preparation of recommendations for our dividend policy;  

 preliminary consideration and preparation of recommendations in respect to 
alteration of our charter capital; 

 preliminary consideration and preparation of recommendations for approval of 
major transactions and interested-party transactions; 

 preliminary consideration and preparation of recommendations in respect to 
reorganization and liquidation 

 preparation of recommendations for the implementation of our investment 
planning and monitoring procedure;  

 preparation of recommendations for adjusting our current strategy; and  

 preparation of recommendations for improving our procedures for interaction with 
our affiliated and subsidiary companies.  

Corporate Governance Committee 

The Corporate Governance Committee of the Board of Directors was established in 

March 2008 by the Board of Directors and performs its functions in accordance with regulations 

approved by the Board of Directors. Our Corporate Governance Committee is comprised of the 

following members: Sergey I. Kuznetsov (chairman), and Vladimir N. Bondarik, Mikhail A. 

Leshenko, Alexander Yu. Provotorov and Anton A. Zlatopolsky. 

The goals and objectives of the Corporate Governance Committee, as set forth in its 

regulations, are to assist the Board of Directors in carrying out its oversight responsibilities in 

the areas of:  

 issues related to our Corporate Secretary;  

 convocation, preparation and holding of annual and extraordinary general meetings 
of shareholders with due consideration for the best corporate governance 
practices;  

 approval of and amendments to our internal document(s), setting forth internal 
rules for disclosure, as well as establishing procedures for using non-public 
information about our operations, our securities and transactions relating to such 
securities; 

 submission for voting by the general meetings of shareholders of the proposals on 
approval of or making amendments to our charter and other internal documents 
governing operations of our management bodies;  
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 approval of and amendments to our Corporate Governance Code, annual 
evaluation of and recommendations to the Board of Directors concerning inclusion 
in the annual report information about our compliance with the Corporate 
Governance Code recommended by the FSFM, as well as ensuring compliance with 
our Corporate Governance Code;  

 resolution of various corporate conflict;  

 oversight of compliance with ethical norms reflecting our social responsibility; 

 review of our compliance with the requirements of applicable laws; and 

 preparation of recommendations for appointment of our registrar.  

 

MANAGEMENT BOARD & COMMITEES  

The Company has a collective executive body, i.e. the Management Board, and a sole executive 

body, i.e. the President. The business address for each of members of the Management Board 

is 15, Dostoevskogo Street, St.-Petersbourg, 191002, Russian Federation. The business address 

for our sole executive body is 14, 1-st Tverskaya-Yamskaya Street, Moscow 125047, Russian 

Federation. The following senior managers play a significant role in the management: 

Name Date of Birth Position Since 

Sergey B. Kalugin November 2, 

1966 

President – Chief Executive 

Officer 

March 2013 

Alexander Y. Provotorov(1)

  

November 7, 

1974 

Ex- President – Chief 

Executive Officer 

July 2010 – 

March 2013 

Natalia A. Albrekht  July 6, 1972 Vice President September 2012 

Roman A. Frolov August 7, 1976 Chief Accountant February 2006 

Anton A. Khozyainov October 14, 

1974 

Senior Vice President August 2010 

Mikhail M. Magrilov December 9, 

1975 

Vice President for Strategy 

and Operating Efficiency 

August 2012 

Vladimir K. Mironov July 29, 1956 Vice President August 2011 

Alexander M. Rogovoy July 18, 1979 Vice President for Legal 

Issues and Corporate 

Development 

October 2010 

Olga N. Rumyantseva June 29, 1973 Executive Director – Director 

of Corporate and State 

Clients Sales Department 

November 2011 
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Galina V. Rysakova May 9, 1967 Executive Director – Director 

for Organisational 

Development and Human 

Resources 

July 2006 

Oleg I. Senkov February 12, 

1978 

Executive Director – Director 

for Mergers and Acquisitions 

February 2011 

Pavel A. Zaytsev December 14, 

1977 

Senior Vice President – Chief 

Operational Officer  

October 2010 

Ivan I. Zima August 26, 1971 Vice President – Technical 

Director 

January 2012 

______________________ 

Note: 

(1) Chairman of the Management Board 

 

The qualifications and certain other information for each senior manager are set out 

below: 

Sergey B. Kalugin has served as our President since March 2013. He was a founder and 

CEO of OJSC National Telecommunications (“NTK”), a Russian leading cable TV and broadband 

operator, from 2001 to 2008 and from 2009 to 2012. Mr. Kalugin has also been Managing 

Partner at WebMediaGroup since 2009. From 2001 to 2007 Mr. Kalugin was CEO of OJSC 

National Cable Networks. From 2000 till 2011, he was CEO of OJSC RTR-Signal. Prior to that, Mr. 

Kalugin worked at JSC AB Inkombank, where he held executive positions in investment banking 

and corporate finance. Mr. Kalugin graduated from the Department of Economics of 

Lomonosov Moscow State University in 1991. 

Alexander Y. Provotorov. See “Board of Directors” above. 

Natalia A. Albrekht has served as Vice President since September 2012. From 2008 to 

2012, she held several senior positions with CTC Media, including the deputy general director of 

organisational development, human resources and business administration. From 2006 to 

2008, she was the head of the center in Rosgosstrah. From 2005 to 2006, she served as the 

deputy general director of Federal Sales Center. From 2002 to 2005, Ms. Albrekht held various 

management positions in NTV Plus.  Ms. Albrekht graduated from The Bauman Moscow State 

Technical University in 1995. 

Roman A. Frolov has served as chief accountant since February 2006. Since 2002, he has 

held several senior positions with Rostelecom, including the tax manager, the head of the tax 

department and the deputy chief accountant prior to serving as chief accountant. Mr. Frolov 
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graduated from the Plekhanov Russian Academy of Economics in 1997 with a degree in finance 

and credit. 

Anton A. Khozyainov has served as Senior Vice President since August 2011. He served 

as Vice President for economics and finance since August 2010. He has also served as a member 

of the board of directors of OJSC Moscow Inter-city Telephone Exchange No.9 since 2009. From 

2009 to 2010, Mr. Khozyainov served as deputy general director – the finance director. In 2009 

Mr. Khozyainov served as deputy finance director. Mr. Khozyainov was an advisor to the 

general director of CJSC MTs NTT in 2009. From 2006 to 2008, he served as the finance director 

of Marshall Capital, and in 2005 as the finance director of Marshall Capital Partners. 

Mr. Khozyainov graduated from the Moscow Electronics and Mathematics Institute (Technical 

University) in 1997 with a degree in applied mathematics with the qualification of an engineer-

mathematician. In 2002, he became a member of the Association of Chartered Certified 

Accountants. 

Mikhail M. Magrilov has served as Vice President for Strategy and Operating Efficiency 

since August 2012. In 1999, Mr. Magrilov served as a credit inspector with Sberbank. From 2000 

to 2002, he served as an auditor in the telecoms department of Arthur Andersen, and in 2002-

2008, he advised various Russian and CIS telecoms companies with Ernst & Young and A.T. 

Kearney. Since 2008, Mr. Margilov was a partner and head of telecoms with 

PricewaterhouseCoopers Russia. Mr. Magrilov graduated from the Baltic State Technical 

University in Saint Petersburg in 1997 with a degree in automatic management systems, and 

holds a master of economics degree from Universitetet i Nordland since 1999. 

Vladimir K. Mironov has served as Vice President since August 2010. From 2004 to 

2010, he served as deputy general director and from 2002 to 2004 he served as the deputy 

general director on personnel provision and security. From 2001 to 2002, Mr. Mironov was the 

head of the security department at CJSC PeterStar. Mr. Mironov has previously served in the 

military and graduated from the Obraztsov Leningrad Rail Transport Institute with a degree in 

electrification of rail transport. 

Alexander M. Rogovoy has served as r Vice President for Legal Issues and Corporate 

Governance since October 2010. In 2010, he served as deputy head of legal department. From 

2003 to 2009, Mr. Rogovoy held various management positions, including the legal counsel and 

the head of the legal department at MegaFon. Mr. Rogovoy graduated from the Moscow State 

Legal Academy in 2001 with a degree in law. 

Olga N. Rumyantseva has served as executive director – director of corporate clients 

sales department since November 2010. In 2010 she served as a deputy general director – sales 

director of OJSC Svyazdorinvest. From 2004 to 2010 Mrs. Rumyantseva held various positions in 

the Company, including sales director and head of mass market department. From 1994 to 
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2004 she served in various telecommunications companies in sales, client service and 

marketing. Mrs. Rumyantseva graduated from Moscow State Engineering University Stankin 

with a degree in computer-aided design systems. 

Galina V. Rysakova has served as executive director- director for organisational 

development and human resources since July 2006. From 2003 to 2006, she served as deputy 

general director – the director of organisational development and human resources. 

Ms. Rysakova graduated from the Lomonosov Moscow State University in 1999 with a degree in 

law. 

Oleg I. Senkov has served as executive director- director of Mergers and Acquisitions 

Department since February 2011. From 2010 to 2011 he served as the director of mergers and 

acquisitions department at Svyazinvest. Mr. Senkov served as the deputy general director at LLC 

Advance Capital from 2009 to 2010. In 2008 he served as the deputy general director at LLC 

Aria Capital. From 2005 to 2007 Mr. Senkov served as the deputy head of corporate finance – 

the head of mergers and acquisitions department at MDM Bank, Open Joint Stock Company. In 

2005 he served as the vice president at LLC Group Tetra Trust. Mr. Senkov held various 

positions within financial organizations from 2001. He graduated from the Financial University 

under the Government of the Russian Federation in 2000 with a degree in international 

economics, he also holds a Ph.D. in economics from the Moscow State Region University. 

Pavel A. Zaytsev has served as Senior Vice President – Chief Operating Officer since 

November 2012. He served as Vice President – Sales director since October 2010. He also 

serves as a member of the boards of directors of CJSC Wireless Informational Technologies and 

OJSC Moscow Inter-city Telephone Exchange No.9. From 2009 to 2010, he was the deputy 

general director – the sales director of OJSC Uralsvyazinform. From 2005 to 2009, Mr. Zaytsev 

served as the general director of CJSC Uraltelecomservice. Mr. Zaytsev graduated from the Ural 

State Technical University in 2000 with a degree in information systems in economy. 

Ivan I. Zima has served as Vice President – Technical director since January 2012. From 

2011 to 2012 he served as director of the department of communication lines planning and 

development. From 2006 to 2011 Mr. Zima served as director of our Far-Eastern branch. Prior 

to that, from 1998 to 2006, he held various positions with us, including radio relay line servicing 

engineer, head of communications centre, and head of office in our Far-Eastern branch. 

Mr. Zima graduated from the Irkutsk State Technical University in 1994 with a degree in 

radiotechnics, and from the Siberian State Telecommunications University in 2002 with a 

degree in economics and management. He also studied business administration at the Moscow 

Technical University of Communications and Informatics. 
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Committees 

Management Board currently has the following committees: 

Budget and Investment Committee 

The main purpose of the Budget and Investment Committee is to enhance Rostelecom 

effectiveness in making budget and investment decisions required for the implementation of 

business plans, strategies and development programs, and financial, business and tariff policies. 

The main functions of the Budget and Investment Committee include maintaining a correlation 

and consistency between the budgeting and investment processes, control over compliance 

with those processes and preparation of proposals for the Management Board on the foregoing 

matters.  

Compensation Committee 

The purpose of the Compensation Committee is to create an effective compensation 

system designed to manage human resources so as to enhance Rostelecom competitiveness. 

The main function of the Compensation Committee is to maintain a correlation between the 

overall strategy and policies related to the payment of salaries and bonuses to the employees. 

Information Disclosure Committee 

The main purpose of the Information Disclosure Committee is to establish and 

implement a uniform information policy consistent with applicable legal requirements, as well 

as with the development strategy. The main functions of the Information Disclosure Committee 

include maintaining consistency between information policy and strategy and development 

goals, enhancing the accuracy and timeliness of disclosure of information in accordance with 

applicable legal requirements and internal regulations, as well as enhancing the conformity and 

consistency of information publicly disclosed by Rostelecom. 

Internal Control Committee 

The main purpose of the Internal Control Committee is to design, implement and 

maintain effective internal controls, as well as risk management procedures. The main 

functions of the Internal Control Committee include ensuring effective control and an effective 

risk management environment, further enhancement of risk management and control 

procedures, as well as ensuring effective management control over financial reporting. 

Information Security Committee 

The main purpose of the Information Security Committee is to ensure compliance of 

Rostelecom information security requirements with all applicable laws, rules and regulations, as 
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well as the Company’s goals and objectives. The main functions of the Information Security 

Committee include promptly reviewing and making decisions on issues relating to ensuring the 

security of Rostelecom information and information resources. 

Charity Committee 

The main purpose of the Charity Committee is to consider our participation in various 

charity initiatives and socially important projects. 

 

INTERNAL AUDIT COMMISSION 

The Internal Audit Commission verifies the accuracy of Rostelecom financial reporting 

under Russian law, generally supervises the Company’s financial activity and performs certain 

internal control functions. Current Internal Audit Commission was elected on June 14, 2012, 

and is comprised of five members. Pursuant to the charter, the Audit Commission is elected by 

the annual general shareholders’ meeting (or, as applicable, an extraordinary general 

shareholders’ meeting) for a term expiring on the date of the next annual shareholders’ 

meeting. Any shareholder or any other person nominated by a shareholder may be a member 

of the Internal Audit Commission provided that a member of the Internal Audit Commission 

may not simultaneously be the President, a member of the Board of Directors, a member of the 

Management Board or a member of the liquidation commission (elected in case of our 

liquidation). The Internal Audit Commission elects its Chairman and Secretary. The Internal 

Audit Commission reviews Rostelecom financial and business operations and, in particular: 

audits the Company’s financial and business documents; reviews the legal impact of 

agreements executed on behalf of Rostelecom, transactions and settlements with 

counterparties; analyses the accounting statements and statistical records for compliance with 

applicable regulations; checks whether payments to suppliers of goods and services, payments 

to the budget, calculation and payments of dividends and redemption of other obligations are 

made accurately and in due course; audits  balance sheets and profit and loss statements and 

performs other functions related to financial issues. In the performance of its duties, the 

Internal Audit Commission has the right to request, and officers of the governing bodies must 

provide, documents on Rostelecom financial and business operation, including confidential 

documents. 
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REMUNERATION OF MEMBERS OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND THE 

MANAGEMENT BOARD AND VICE-PRESIDENTS 

The contractual salaries of the members of the Management Board and Vice-presidents 

of the Company consist of a fixed amount payable on a monthly basis, as well as quarterly and 

yearly performance bonuses. For the years ended  December 31, 2011 and 2012, members of 

the Management Board and Vice-presidents were entitled to remuneration and compensation 

in an aggregate amount of approximately RUB  240 million and approximately RUB 372 million, 

respectively. 

The Directors receive compensation for service as directors in accordance with the 

Regulation on the Board of Directors approved by the general shareholders meeting on June 14, 

2012. According to this regulation, the Directors receive quarterly and annual compensation. 

Quarterly compensation for each Director is equal to RUB 1.5 million and can be decreased by 

10% (in case of non-participation in up to 25% of meetings), 30% (in case of non-participation in 

more than 25% but fewer than 50% of meetings) and 100% (in case of non-participation in 

more than 50% of meetings). Annual compensation of all Directors is approved by the general 

shareholders meeting as a percentage of the Company’s OIBDA determined on the basis of IFRS 

accounts for the next reporting financial year, and in any case shall not exceed 0.13%. Annual 

compensation can be decreased by 50% if the Director participated in less than 50% of 

meetings. Also according to the Regulation, the Company shall reimburse the Directors’ 

expenses incurred in connection with their functions as directors. For the years ended 

December 31, 2011 and 2012, the Directors were entitled to remuneration and compensation 

in an aggregate amount of approximately RUB 192 million and approximately RUB 150 million, 

respectively. 
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DIVIDEND POLICY 

Pursuant to the Joint Stock Companies Law, Rostelecom charter and the dividend policy, 

dividends on shares may be paid based on the results of the first three, six or nine months of 

the fiscal year and/or based on Rostelecom annual results. Declaring and paying dividends on 

the ordinary shares is the right of the Company, but not an obligation, while declaring and 

paying dividends in respect of the preferred shares is the Company’s obligation, and the 

amount of and procedure for paying dividends on the preferred shares are set forth in 

Rostelecom charter. 

Annual dividends are proposed by the Board of Directors, based on the year-end 

statutory accounting reports prepared in accordance with IFRS (in case of ordinary shares) and 

RAS (in case of preferred shares), and are approved by the annual shareholders’ meeting, which 

is usually convened by the Board of Directors during the second quarter of each year. The right 

to receive dividends is attributable only to shareholders included in the list of persons entitled 

to receive dividends, which is compiled as of the record date for shareholders eligible to 

participate in the general shareholders’ meeting at which the decision on the relevant dividend 

payment is to be made. 

The following table sets forth, on the per share basis, dividends which Rostelecom paid 

on our ordinary shares and preferred shares for the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 

2009, and the nine months ended 30 September 2010. 

 

Year ended  December, 31 

Nine months 
ended  

September30 

 2011 2010 2009 2010 

 (RUB)  
Dividend per Preferred Share  4.6959 0.4344 2.1005 1.6667 
Dividend per Ordinary Share  4.6959 — 1.4002 1.1113 

In addition, for the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009, the IRCs also paid 

dividends in the aggregate amounts of RUB 4,036 million and RUB 3,484 million on their 

ordinary shares, respectively, and in the aggregate amounts of RUB 2,344 million and 

RUB 2,275 million on their preferred shares, respectively. The dividends for the nine months 

ended September 30, 2010 were paid in connection with the Reorganisation with the aim of 

ensuring fair distribution of profits generated by each company participating in the 

Reorganisation. Accordingly, the Company, along with each IRC, declared and paid dividends to 

their respective shareholders of record prior to the effective date of the Reorganisation. As a 

matter of Russian law, dividends for the year ended December 31, 2010 were declared and paid 

to the Company’s shareholders of record following the Reorganisation in respect of the 
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Company’s profits for that year, excluding the profits of the IRCs, since on December 31, 2010, 

the Company and the IRCs existed as separate legal entities. 

Under Russian law, dividends payable to shareholders may not exceed the amount 

proposed by the board of directors. The decision on the payment of dividends, as well as the 

amount and form of the dividend payable, is adopted by the shareholders’ meeting. 

Dividends payable on each preferred share are fixed by Rostelecom charter in the 

amount of 10% of the Company’s net profits, based on the year-end RAS statutory accounting 

report, divided by the number of shares representing 25% of Rostelecom outstanding shares. 

the Company may not pay dividends on ordinary shares unless dividends on Preferred Shares 

are paid in full. In addition, if the dividend per ordinary share exceeds the dividend payable per 

preferred share, Rostelecom meeting must increase the dividend per preferred share to that 

per ordinary share. Failure to pay a dividend on preferred shares in full authorises holders of 

the preferred shares to vote on all matters considered by the general shareholders’ meeting 

until the date when dividends on preferred shares are paid in full. The total amount of 

dividends paid by Rostelecom on the preferred shares for the years ended  December 31, 2011, 

2010 and 2009 represented approximately 3.5%, 12.6% and 10.0% of the annual net profits 

under RAS, respectively. The significant difference in the amount of dividends paid for the years 

ended  December 31, 2010 and 2011 is attributable to an approximately nine-fold increase in 

our RAS net profit following the Reorganization coupled with the increase in the number of 

ordinary shares due to the Reorganization, while the number of preferred shares remained 

unchanged, which resulted in the number of existing preferred shares representing 

approximately 7.6% of Rostelecom outstanding shares in the year ended  December 31, 2011, 

as compared to approximately 25.0% in the year ended  December 31, 2010. 

Under Rostelecom dividend policy approved by the Board of Directors adopted in 

September 2010, dividend payable on each ordinary share had to amount to at least 20% of the 

net profit for the past fiscal year, based on the year-end RAS statutory accounting report, 

divided by the total number of outstanding ordinary shares. The total amount of dividends paid 

on the ordinary shares for the years ended  December 31, 2010 and 2009 represented 

approximately 23.4% and approximately 20.0% of the annual net profits under RAS, 

respectively. In December 2011, this policy was revised to require that dividends payable on 

ordinary shares must be equal to at least 20% of the net profit for the past fiscal year based on 

the year-end IFRS financial statements. The total amount of dividends on the ordinary shares 

for the year ended December 31, 2011 represented approximately 42.5% and 30.0% of the 

annual net profits under RAS and IFRS, respectively. 

The annual dividend, if declared, must be paid within sixty days following the date the 

decision on dividend payments was made at the general shareholders’ meeting.  
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Dividends for 2008/2011* 

 

 * 2008/2009 and 9 months of 2010 – consolidated data on IRC and Rostelecom  

 

  



 

35 
 

SHAREHOLDERS & SHARE CAPITAL 

Description of share capital 

The Company’s share capital is RUB 7,965,224.3450, consisting of 2,943,258,269 

ordinary shares and 242,831,469 preferred shares, all of which are fully paid, issued and 

outstanding and have a nominal value of RUB 0.0025 each. The Company neither has 

convertible securities, nor exchangeable securities, nor securities with warrants.  

The Company is also authorized to issue additional 3,685,438,051 ordinary shares and 

531 preferred shares, all such shares having a nominal value of RUB 0.0025. Under Russian 

legislation, charter capital refers to the aggregate nominal value of the issued and outstanding 

shares. As of December 31, 2012, 55,244,704 of the ordinary shares and 31,539,995 of the 

preferred shares are subject to the Incentive Programme providing for Rostelecom employee’s 

options in respect of these shares. As of December 31, 2012, Rostelecom did not hold any 

ordinary or preferred shares, while Mobitel held 4.6% of the ordinary shares and 12.6% of the 

preferred shares acquired by Rostelecom, the IRCs and Dagsvyazinform as a result of the 

statutory share buy-out procedures during Reorganisation and then contributed to Mobitel.  

In accordance with the Joint Stock Companies Law and the Company’s charter, a 

decision on any issuance of shares or securities convertible into shares by closed subscription, 

or an issuance by open subscription of ordinary shares or securities convertible into ordinary 

shares constituting more than 25% of the number of issued ordinary shares, requires a three 

quarters majority vote of a shareholders’ meeting. The Board of Directors is authorized to issue 

additional ordinary shares up to 25% of the previously issued shares through open subscription 

without obtaining further shareholder approval. As of December 31, 2012, Rostelecom had not 

issued any additional shares. 

The following table sets out certain information with respect to the ownership of 

ordinary shares by each shareholder, as of December 31, 2012: 

 Ordinary shares 

Shareholder Number % 

The State through:   
      Svyazinvest(1)(2)  1,332,911,894 45.29 
      FASPM(1)(2)  218,620,597 7.43 
      VEB(1)  72,013,105 2.45 
   
LLC Mobitel(3)  136,432,027 4.64 
Other minorities  1,183,280,646 40.20 

Total  2,943,258,269 100.00 
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Notes: 

(1) Controlled by the Russian Government. 

(2) Holds an interest in the share capital in the Company notifiable to the Company and the FSFM, as 

described below. 

(3) The Company owns 99.9% of the share capital of LLC Mobitel. 

 

 Preferred Shares 

Shareholder Number % 

LLC Mobitel  30,487,109 12.55 
Other minorities  212,344,360 87.45 

Total  242,831,469 100.00 

 

The Company is indirectly controlled by the Russian Government, which holds 55.16% of 

the Company’s ordinary shares through Svyazinvest, VEB and FASPM. There are no measures in 

place to ensure that such control is not abused. 

Russian law, including the Joint Stock Companies Law and corporate governance 

requirements applicable to companies listed on Russian stock exchanges, provide certain 

protections to minority shareholders. For instance, there are supermajority shareholder 

approval requirements for certain corporate actions, pursuant to which a shareholder is able to 

demand that the company purchase the shares held by that shareholder if the shareholder 

voted against or did not participate in voting on certain types of actions. In addition, companies 

are required to obtain the approval of disinterested shareholders for certain transactions with 

interested parties and the shareholders owning not less than 1% of the company’s stock may 

bring an action for damages caused by the company’s managers or directors. Furthermore, 

since the Company’s shares are listed on MICEX-RTS, Rostelecom is and expect to continue to 

be required to comply with a number of corporate governance standards which provide 

additional protection to its shareholders, including minority shareholders. However, no 

assurance can be given that the applicable Russian laws and the corporate governance 

standards with which Rostelecom has to comply will be able to fully protect the interests of its 

minority shareholders if such interests are in conflict with the interests of its other 

shareholders. 

None of the Company’s shareholders have voting rights different from any other holders 

of the shares. 

Each shareholder of the Company has an obligation under Russian law to notify in 

writing the Company and the FSFM about (i) an acquisition of 5% or more of the Ordinary 

shares, and (ii) any circumstances which result in a change in the number of such shares 
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above/below the 5%, 10%, 15%, 20%, 25%, 30%, 50%, 75% or 95% threshold. However, since 

the obligation to notify regarding such acquisitions or disposals lies on Rostelecom 

shareholders, the Company’s ability to know whether such information is up to date or 

accurate, depends on shareholders’ compliance with the regulation. 

Ordinary shares are listed on quotation list “A1” of MICEX-RTS under the ticker “RTKM”. 

Preferred Shares are listed on quotation list “A1” of MICEX-RTS under the ticker “RTKMP”. ADRs 

are also traded over-the-counter in the United States on the OTCQX under the ticker “ROSYY”. 

 

Rights of shareholders 

Shares of each category (ordinary shares and preferred shares) grant equal rights to 

holders of shares of each respective category. 

Ordinary shares 

As required by the Joint Stock Companies Law and the Company’s charter, all ordinary 

shares grant identical rights to each holder. Each fully paid ordinary share, except for certain 

circumstances expressly provided for by law (e.g. when a shareholder acquires shares in excess 

of certain threshold and is required to make a mandatory offer to purchase shares of other 

shareholders), gives its holder the right to: 

 transfer such ordinary share freely without the consent of other shareholders; 

 participate in the Company’s management as provided by the Joint Stock 
Companies Law and the Company’s charter; 

 participate in the general shareholders’ meeting with the right to vote on all 
matters within the shareholders’ competence, including through a representative 
acting on the basis of a power of attorney; 

 receive dividends in accordance with the Joint Stock Companies Law and the 
Company’s charter if the general shareholders’ meeting resolves to pay such 
dividends (always subject to the Board of Directors’ recommendation); 

 upon the Company’s liquidation, receive a proportionate amount of the Company’s 
property after the Company’s liabilities are discharged; 

 demand repurchase of all or some of the shares owned by such holder if the holder 
votes against or does not participate in voting on the decision of the shareholders 
meeting approving any of the following: 

o any reorganisation; 

o entering into a major transaction, as defined by the Joint Stock Companies Law; 
and 

o amendment of the Company’s charter or approval of a new addition to the 
Company’s charter that limit shareholder’s rights; 
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 exercise statutory pre-emption rights to acquire our ordinary shares in accordance 
with applicable Russian law; 

 have access to certain of the Company’s documents, receive copies for a reasonable 
fee and, if holding alone or with other shareholders 25% or more of the voting 
shares, have free access to accounting documents;  

 if holding, solely or with other holders, 1% or more of the voting shares, file a 
lawsuit against a Director or member of any of our executive bodies (including the 
chief executive officer) to reimburse damages suffered by Rostelecom due to their 
fault; 

 if holding, solely or jointly with other shareholders, not less than 1% of the 
Company’s voting shares, obtain a list of persons entitled to participate in the 
general shareholders’ meeting; 

 if holding, solely or jointly with other shareholders, not less than 2% of the 
Company’s voting shares, may, not later than 60 days after the end of the relevant 
financial year, propose matters for the agenda of the annual shareholders’ meeting 
and nominate candidates to the Board of Directors, the Audit commission, the 
ballot committee and a candidate for the President; 

 if holding, solely or jointly with other shareholders, not less than 10% of the 
Company’s voting shares, demand that the Board of Directors call an extraordinary 
general meeting of shareholders or an unscheduled audit of the Company by the 
Audit Commission or an independent auditor; and 

 exercise other rights of a shareholder provided by the Company’s charter, under 
Russian law or by decisions of a general shareholder’s meeting. 

Preferred Shares (or type “A” preferred shares) 

Preferred shares generally confer on their holders the following principal rights: 

 to receive a fixed dividend, except in certain cases envisaged by the Joint Stock 
Companies Law and our charter; and 

 to enjoy preference over ordinary shares in any distribution of profits and any 
proceeds from our liquidation. 

While there are no limits on admission of shareholders to shareholders’ meetings, in 

accordance with Rostelecom charter and the Joint Stock Companies Law, only holders of 

ordinary shares have the right to vote on any matter within the competence of the meeting. 

The preferred shares confer no voting rights unless the charter and the Joint Stock Companies 

Law provide otherwise. Holders of preferred shares are entitled to vote on: 

 the adoption of amendments to the charter that would adversely affect their rights 
as preferred shareholders, including the issuance of any other type of preferred 
shares that would enjoy a priority in right of payment of dividend, a preference in 
respect of liquidation value over the preferred shares, amendments to the formula 
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for calculating dividends and/or the liquidation value attached to the preferred 
shares; or 

 reorganization or liquidation. 

They may also vote at shareholders’ meetings following the shareholders’ meeting at 

which a decision was adopted not to pay dividends on preferred shares or to pay them only in 

part. Such right to vote continues until the dividends to which the holders of preferred shares 

are entitled are paid in full. 

Holders of Ordinary shares and Preferred Shares may: 

 freely transfer the shares without the consent of other shareholders; 

 participate in the distribution of our net profits (as reported under RAS) in the form 
of dividends (see “Dividend Policy”) and in the distribution of our assets in the event 
of liquidation; 

 enjoy the right of first refusal in respect of additional shares being placed by 
Rostelecom through an open subscription and, in certain circumstances, by way of a 
closed subscription; and 

 have access to certain company documents, receive copies for a reasonable fee 
and, if holding alone or with other holders, 25% or more of the voting stock, have 
access to accounting documents and minutes of the management board meetings. 

Rostelecom shareholders may also exercise other rights provided by Russian law and the 

Company’s charter. 
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CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY 

Projects in the social sphere are a key component of corporate social responsibility of 

Rostelecom at the federal and regional levels. The Company has been a good corporate citizen 

for over 10 years now, being socially active and contributing to solution of social problems and 

tasks. 

Rostelecom sees its mission as not only providing quality communication services to its 

customers, but also fostering the growth of local communities within the Company's footprint, 

promoting a stable social environment and improving quality of life in the country. 

With its own infrastructure, telecommunication resources, a broad spectrum of services 

rendered and close ties to regional authorities, Rostelecom is in a position to effectively address 

both problems of individual social groups, such as veterans or the disabled, and larger-scale 

tasks in such spheres of public life as public health, education, sports, environmental 

protection, and culture. 

Rostelecom implements important long-term social projects throughout the Russian Federation 

territory – from Kaliningrad Region in the West to Sakhalin in the East, helping with the most 

urgent social issues. 

As part of its social policy, the Company implements the following programmes: Education, 

Sports, Care, Environment, and Spiritual Heritage. 

 

Education Programme 

Support for industry-specific education 

In 2012, the Company provided assistance to industry-specific colleges and vocational schools – 

Moscow Technical University of Communications and Information Science, the Bonch-Bruyevich 

St. Petersburg National University of Telecommunications, the Siberian National University of 

Telecommunications and Information Science (SibGUTI), and the SibGUTI College of 

Telecommunications and Information Science. Using the facilities of five core schools, in 2012 

Rostelecom opened its own departments under the programme for innovation-driven growth. 

Support for industry-specific education establishments means, first of all, improving the 

physical infrastructure of the schools, supporting student initiatives and student unions, 

providing scholarships, and organizing trainee jobs in the Company's business units for 

students. 
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Use of state-of-the-art technologies for education and child creativity 

In February 2012, as part of the 5th International Winter Arts Festival in Sochi, Rostelecom 

organized a music master class series for young musicians in four cities across Russia – Sochi, 

Yaroslavl, Penza, Perm and Novokuibyshevsk (Samara Reg.) at the same time. This was possible 

thanks to multiparty video conferencing that linked the Chamber Music Hall of the city of Sochi 

and the cities' concert venues equipped with special state-of-the-art videoconferencing 

systems. As a result, young musicians and their teachers were given a unique opportunity to 

attend classes taught by great musicians such as Yuri Bashmet, Dmitry Vdovin and Maxim 

Vengerov, as well as to ask them questions about the secrets of musicianship in real time. 

For a year the Company acted as a telecommunications sponsor of the First National 

Competition of Classical Music Performers, which is held under the auspices of Yuri Bashmet, 

the world famous violist and conductor. As part of its sponsorship, Rostelecom provided 

technical capability for young musicians to be given auditions in cities across Russia – 

Krasnodar, Sochi and Stavropol – at the same time. The competition over, the winners were 

formed into the Russian National Youth Symphony Orchestra, which gave its first performance 

in Sochi in November 2012. 

In May 2012 Rostelecom provided a webcast of competition events at the ‘Arts. Youth. Talent’ 

Eleventh Youth Delphic Games of Russia. Thanks to the Company's IT solutions, they were made 

available for viewing not only to the participants and guests in the audience but also to all 

Internet users: for the duration of the Games, Rostelecom provided on its website live 

broadcasting of the Games nominations and events from 11 different sites. 

Internet safety projects 

Since April 2012 the customers have been offered the ‘Child at Home’ option in all tariff plans 

of the Company to safeguard minors from web content illegal under Russian law. The Company 

is also implementing a federal project to provide the service of content filtration for general 

education schools. 

In addition to its engineering solutions for the Web safety problem, the Company launched a 

series of communications projects for safer Internet outside the Moscow region in 2012 – 

‘Children on the Internet’ parent guidance meetings, ‘Safe Internet Tutorials at Schools’, 

‘Children's Video Competition’, ‘Social Poster Competition’, and ‘Safe Internet’ Russian National 

Competition of Teaching Aids – which are tailored for various audiences such as children, 

teachers, parents and the public. The problems that these projects target encompass malware 

management, spam, fraud, dangerous content etc. 
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Academic competitions and quizzes for young people 

Along with support for industry-specific education, in the provinces the Company sponsors a 

variety of competitions that are designed to encourage creative interest of school children and 

students in modern computer technologies and get them involved in practical application of 

web technologies and computer graphics. 

A case in point is the active support provided by the Company to the ‘IT-Planet’ International 

Student Competition in 2012. 

Granny Online/Grandpa Online Project 

Among the Company's most ambitious social projects in recent years are programmes to 

improve computer skills of the aged. 

Rostelecom in coordination with the Inter-regional Non-Governmental Organization 

‘Association of Veterans, the Disabled and Retirees (AVDR INGO) and Intel Corporation have 

been implementing the Granny Online/Grandpa Online Project since 2012. As the Programme's 

Official Sponsor, Rostelecom will provide Internet access services using its own network to the 

ICT Training Centres (Centres) opened to teach basic IT and communication skills to senior 

citizen in Russian provinces. 

The programme's primary objective is to facilitate the emergence of information-oriented 

society in this country, and in particular bring the aged into the ICT space. The programme's 

training courses and workshops are geared to address the problem of psychological barrier in 

elderly enrollees towards new technology, teach them how to use the computer and the 

Internet, including social networks, forums and IP services. 

The Programme trainees learn the basics of using a personal computer, develop skills of 

searching online for the information they need, emailing, and using popular applications for 

online communications (ICQ, Skype), social media etc. 

 

Sports Programme 

Social initiatives as part of sponsorship of Sochi-2014 Steering Committee 

Since 2009 Rostelecom has been the Title Sponsor of the XXII Olympic Winter Games in Sochi 

and has been contributing to the Olympic project in the spirit of "Olympics for Each and Every 

One!" 

As part of this sponsorship, in 2012 the Company joined a number of the Sochi-2014 Steering 

Committee's social initiatives aimed at promoting and inculcating the Olympic values in Russian 

provinces. 
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Rostelecom's sponsorship of federal sports and educational events for children and young 

people has already become a good tradition. Since 2011, as a special part of its sponsorship of 

the Sochi-2014 Steering Committee 2014 in preparation for the XXII Winter Olympics, the 

Company has been implementing a programme of sports events and competitions for children 

and young people. Events take place twice a year: in winter and late spring, and are joined by 

dozens of cities throughout Russia. The programme enjoys active involvement of Olympic 

athletes, medallists and winners of competitions in various sports, and support from numerous 

local residents who attend these merry competitions. 

In 2012 a programme of online Olympic education was launched with support from 

Rostelecom. The Company signed a Memorandum of Cooperation with the Steering Committee 

of the XXII Olympic Winter Games 2014 in Sochi and the Russian Olympic Committee (ROC) to 

implement on a federal scale a programme of Sochi-2014 Olympic education, which is designed 

for a year and a half and will be available throughout this country. Pursuant to the 

Memorandum, Rostelecom, as the telecommunications sponsor of the Sochi-2014 Olympic 

Education System, will provide videoconference-enabled locations in Moscow and elsewhere in 

Russia to hold training workshops for regional school teachers, methodologists etc. 

At the beginning of the new school year 2012-2013, Rostelecom, the Russian Olympic 

Committee (ROC) and the Steering Committee of the XXII Olympic Winter Games 2014 in Sochi 

gave Russia's first innovative Olympic web class ‘London 2012 – Sochi 2014’ for school children. 

In Moscow, pupils went for their Olympic class to the Sochi-2014 Steering Committee 

headquarters, their peers in Sochi, Krasnodar and Saransk attended it online using a 

videoconferencing system, and children in Kazan and Rostov-on-Don used a web link. Also, all 

those who wished to do so could watch the class webcast at www.rostelecom.ru and 

www.soch2014.com. During the class, schoolchildren learned about the Olympic and 

Paralympic Games in London, as well as about the preparations for the Sochi Games at first 

hand. 

Cooperation with the Figure-Skating Federation of Russia 

Since 2009, Rostelecom has been the Title Sponsor of the Figure-Skating Federation of Russia 

(FSFR). Every year the Company provides financial assistance to organize and hold the 

Federation's events, to train the Russia's national team members for the Olympic Games, 

European and world championships, for ISU Grand Prix rounds and finals etc. 

In December 2011, Rostelecom and FSFR kicked off the joint programme of Rostelecom's ‘Star 

Track’ master classes. In 2012 the programme held events in major cities of the European 

Russia, as well as Siberia and the Far East – in Stary Oskol, Chelyabinsk, Kaliningrad, Rostov-on-

Don, Omsk and Khabarovsk. The programme is designed to scout for young talent far and wide 

across this country. During master classes, high-profile sports stars share their professional 

http://www.rostelecom.ru/
http://www.soch2014.com/
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secrets with young figure-skaters, and young athletes get a unique opportunity to show off 

their talents and skills to famous coaches. 

 

Care Programme 

Aid to sponsored childcare centres 

Rostelecom actively helps a great number of welfare institutions such as hospitals and 

children's homes. 

The Company buys medical equipment and pays for urgent medical interventions, funds the 

repairs of buildings and acquisition of essentials, helps organize festivities and sessions with 

children's psychologists for orphanage inmates, and provides communications channels to 

study online for children. 

Assistance is provided both in responses to one-off requests from institutions and on a regular 

basis. Many of these institutions are sponsored by the Company's hub branches. 

New Year's charity programme for sponsored orphanages and boarding schools 

In the run-up to 2013, Rostelecom implemented a one-of-a-kind nationwide charity programme 

for orphanage and boarding-school inmates in dozens of regions across Russia. 

In all, the programme was joined by 60 childcare centres in this country, which have about 5 

thousand inmates. 

The Company opted out of purchasing corporate Christmas gifts for its customers and partners 

and used all of these savings to buy what is most urgently needed by the inmates of regional 

childcare centres – clothing and footwear, furniture, educational, sports and special needs 

equipment. 

Also, in thirty cities across Russia the staff of Rostelecom's branches took part in a large-scale 

volunteer New Year project, ‘Be Father Frost’. Christmas trees were set up in the Company's 

offices and decorated made unusually – Christmas tree ornaments and handcrafted items made 

by children in orphanages. Attached to the decorations were children's requests to Father 

Christmas. This way, every Rostelecom employee could choose a request and make a child's 

dream come true by buying the present. 

In the run-up to New Year 2013, Rostelecom threw open the doors of the nation's main 

playhouse for the inmates of 23 orphanages and boarding schools, as well as large families in 

and around Moscow – on 27 December 2012 the Company organized a charity performance of 

the ‘Nutcracker’ ballet at the Bolshoi Theatre of Russia. It was the first charity performance of 

the show at the Bolshoi Theatre of Russia on such a grand scale. 
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At the same time, the Company provided a series of New Year webcasts of the best Russian 

ballet shows for patients at a number of children's hospitals in and around Moscow, who had to 

stay there during New Year festivities. The ballets ‘Nutcracker’ at the Mikhailovsky Theatre and 

‘Cinderella’ at the Stanislavsky and Nemirovich-Danchenko Musical Theatre were shown to little 

inmates of the Rogachev FNKTs [federal clinical research centre (FCRC)], RDKB [Russian 

Children's Clinical Hospital (RCCH)], NII [Research Institute (RI)] of emergency paediatric surgery 

and traumatology, headed by Leonid Roshal, and the Children's Hospital in the town of 

Kolomna. 

New opportunities for disabled children 

Rostelecom traditionally facilitates integration into society for people with disabilities and, 

specifically, handicapped children. Rostelecom implements, both at the level of its Corporate 

Centre and hub branches, an online education programme for disabled children at home and 

special care institutions alike. 

In 2012, for example, Rostelecom was involved in implementing online education programmes 

in many areas within its footprint, as part of which the Company provided disabled children 

with Internet access, as well as arranged delivery and installation of necessary equipment. 

Support for veterans 

As is customary, on the eve of Victory Day Rostelecom and its subsidiary Zebra Telekom held a 

traditional meeting with the Russian Committee of Veterans of Wars and Military Service 

(RCVWMS). In 2012, the veterans were presented with new universal cards of Zebra Telekom, 

which enable them to make free calls to other cities not only via a landline but also via a mobile 

line. 

Rostelecom also organized a number of multi-party video conferences for veterans of the Great 

Patriotic War during the year. 

 

Environment Programme 

Preservation of ecosystems 

In whatever it does, Rostelecom tries its best not only to eliminate adverse environmental 

impact, but also to minimize its environmental footprint. 

In and of itself, telecommunications infrastructure produces no polluting emissions or industrial 

waste, but construction of new facilities can have short-term adverse environmental effects. On 

a regular basis, when building telecommunications infrastructure, Rostelecom implements a 

package of environmental measures that makes it possible to minimize atmospheric emissions 

and preserve soils and water bodies, and arranges purification and revitalization of the soil. 
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Also, the Company's volunteers regularly take part in federal and regional events aimed at 

inculcating an attitude of care towards the environment as part of the so-called ‘environmental 

task force’, which remove rubbish and waste from the environment. 

 

Spiritual Heritage Programme 

Support for national arts 

Since 2008, Rostelecom representatives have been sitting on the Board of Trustees of the 

National Academic Bolshoi Theatre of Russia. 

The priority tasks of the Board of Trustees are to find funding sources other than the public 

purse, assist the Bolshoi Theatre in staging new performances, organizing tours, bringing in 

stars and young performing talent, as well as in improving the theatre's governance and 

financial and operating management. 

Thanks to Rostelecom, thousands of spectators in Moscow can now enjoy performances by 

established and rising stars of the world-famous Russian ballet school, which appear on the 

Bolshoi Theatre's historic stage newly opened in 2011 after a long refurbishment. 

Support for sectoral museums 

For many years Rostelecom has been affiliated with the Russian Communications History 

Foundation, whose annual programmes provide for facilitation of the development of the 

Popov Central Museum of Communications in St. Petersburg. The Museum is one of the earliest 

science and technology museums in the world. It has a unique collection showcasing the 

evolution of telecommunications, including exhibits highlighting the history of post, telegraph 

and telephony, radio communications and radio broadcasting, television, mobile, space and 

satellite communications. 

Also, Rostelecom's hub branches annually provide aid to regional museums of communication, 

both bankrolled by branches and set up by municipalities and enthusiasts using own funds. The 

museums provide tours, do research, and expand their expositions on a regular basis. 
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RISK MANAGEMENT  

Risk factors 

An investment in our shares and DRs involves risks, including: 

Risks Relating to Our Business 

 We face increasing competition in all segments of the Russian telecommunications 

market, which may adversely affect our ability to retain or increase our current 

subscriber base and could result in reduced operating margins and a loss of market 

share, as well as different pricing, service or marketing policies. 

 We may not be able to successfully develop and/or deploy fourth generation (“4G”) 

wireless services in Russia, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, 

financial condition, results of operations or prospects or the value of the Shares and 

DRs. 

 Changes in the regulation of Russian telecommunication markets may materially 

adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations or prospects or 

the value of the Shares and DRs. 

 If the demand for certain telecommunications services that we offer or are developing 

and promoting does not increase, our ability to achieve further revenue growth from 

these services will be limited. 

 Significant delays in the collection of receivables and the inability to collect payments 

for various telecommunications services provided to our customers may result in losses 

and could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of 

operations or prospects or the value of the Shares and DRs. 

 Continuing rapid changes in technologies could increase competition and/or require us 

to make substantial investments which may be ineffective. 

 Our inability to obtain equipment, software and other network components and related 

services in a timely manner and at market prices could have a material adverse effect on 

our business, financial condition and results of operations. 

 We depend on the reliability of our networks, and a system failure or breach of our 

security measures could result in a loss of subscribers and could materially adversely 

affect our business, financial condition, results of operations or prospects or the value of 

the Shares and DRs. 

 If the calculation of our tax liability and certain initiatives we have used to reduce our 

tax burden are successfully challenged by Russian tax authorities, we will face significant 

losses associated with the assessed amount of unpaid tax and related interest and 
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penalties, which may have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, 

results of operations or prospects or the value of the Shares and DRs. 

 Our existing arrangements with trade unions may not be renewable on terms 

favourable to us, and our operations could be materially adversely affected by strikes 

and lockouts. 

 Insurance coverage under our insurance agreements may be insufficient to compensate 

us for losses incurred. 

 If our transactions and/or the transactions of members of our Group and their 

predecessors-in-interest were to be challenged on the basis of non-compliance with 

applicable legal requirements, our business, financial condition, results of operations or 

prospects or the value of the Shares and DRs could be materially adversely affected. 

 If our minority shareholders or the minority shareholders of our subsidiaries were to 

successfully challenge past or future interested party transactions, or fail to approve 

interested party transactions or other matters in the future, the invalidation of such 

transactions or failure to approve such matters could have a material adverse effect on 

our business, financial condition, results of operations or prospects or the value of the 

Shares and DRs. 

 A finding by the FAS that we have acted in contravention of Russian antimonopoly 

legislation could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, 

results of operations or prospects or the value of the Shares and DRs.  

 We are subject to the regulation and control of the FST and the FAS. 

 We are subject to anti-corruption laws in the jurisdictions in which we operate, 

including anti-corruption laws of Russia, and we may be subject to the UK Bribery Act of 

2010 (the "UK Bribery Act"). Our failure to comply therewith could result in penalties 

which could harm our reputation and have a material adverse effect on our business, 

financial condition, results of operations or prospects or the value of the Shares and 

DRs. 

 Failure to renew our telecommunication licenses and radio frequency permits, comply 

with the terms thereof or receive renewed telecommunication licenses and radio 

frequency permits with similar terms to our existing licenses and permits could have a 

material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations or 

prospects or the value of the Shares and DRs. 

 Our intellectual property rights are costly and difficult to protect. 

 If leaks of confidential information, including information relating to our subscribers, 

occur it may negatively impact our reputation and our brand image and lead to a loss of 

market share, which could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition, 

results of operations or prospects or the value of the Shares and DRs. 
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 A part of our fixed line infrastructure is outdated, and we may be required to make 

significant investments beyond those that are currently planned to modernize it. 

 Social projects that we implement may put pressure on our margins. 

 Alleged medical risks of cellular technology may subject us to negative publicity or 

litigation, decrease our access to base station sites, diminish subscriber usage and 

hinder access to additional financing.  

 Systems failures, delays and failure to optimise our information technology systems 

could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations 

or prospects or the value of the Shares and DRs. 

 We may be forced to repay the indebtedness of our subsidiaries owed by them and we 

may not be able to recover the debt of our subsidiaries owed to us. 

 We could be materially adversely affected if lenders accelerate our debt due to any 

failure to comply with loan agreements. 

 

Risks Relating to the Reorganisation 

 Both the merger of the IRCs and Dagsvyazinform into the Company and the proposed 

merger of Svyazinvest into the Company may be challenged by our shareholders and the 

former shareholders of the IRCs and Svyazinvest as well as Russian state authorities. 

 We may have difficulty integrating the assets of the IRCs and Dagsvyazinform that have 

been acquired by us as a result of the Reorganisation.  

 We may have difficulty integrating the assets of Svyazinvest that are to be acquired by 

us as a result of the proposed merger of Svyazinvest into the Company 

 We cannot be certain that the anticipated positive synergy effects of the Reorganization 

will materialise or reach expected levels. 

 We may face significant tax liabilities as the legal successor to the IRCs and Svyazinvest. 

 A finding by the FAS that we have acted in contravention of Russian antimonopoly 

legislation in connection with the Reorganisation could have a material adverse effect 

on our business, financial condition, results of operations or prospects or the value of 

the Shares and DRs. 

 

Risks Relating to our Strategy 

The assumptions underlying our growth strategy may prove to be incorrect. 

 We may acquire, invest in or merge with other companies to expand our operations 

which may pose risks to our business. 
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 We may have difficulty integrating the assets and companies that we have acquired and 

we may not realize the anticipated benefits from our acquisitions and business 

combinations.  

 The failure of our geographic expansion strategy could hamper our continued growth 

and profitability and could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial 

condition, results of operations or prospects or the value of the Shares and DRs. 

 We may not be able to secure sufficient financing to fund our acquisition strategy and 

capital expenditure plans. 

 

Risks Relating to our Financial Condition 

 Servicing and refinancing our indebtedness will require a significant amount of cash, and 

our ability to generate cash or obtain financing depends on many factors beyond our 

control. 

 Fluctuations in the value of the rouble against the US dollar and the euro, as well as our 

inability to convert our revenues, could materially adversely affect our business, 

financial condition, results of operations or prospects or the value of the Shares and 

DRs. 

 Inflation could increase our costs and materially adversely affect our results of 

operations. 

 

Additional Risks Relating to our Business 

 Salary increases in Russia may reduce our profit margins. 

 Our competitive position and future prospects depend on our senior management’s 

experience and expertise and our ability to recruit and retain qualified personnel. 

 Legal uncertainties relating to privatisation of our shares and assets may exist. 

 Failure to fulfil our obligations to state authorities completely and in a timely manner in 

connection with a few of our significant projects could materially adversely affect our 

business and result in significant financial and reputation damages. In addition, any 

interruption in implementing these projects could materially adversely affect our 

financial results. 

 Our beneficial controlling shareholder may have interests that conflict with the interests 

of our other shareholders. 

 Failure to comply with the requirements of Russian customs authorities or to obtain 

pertinent certification for the import of telecommunications equipment could materially 
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adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations or prospects or 

the value of the Shares and DRs. 

 

Risks Relating to Russia 

Risks relating to our business and the telecommunications industry 

 Failure to comply with existing laws and regulations or to obtain all approvals, 

authorizations and permits required to operate our telecommunications equipment, or 

the findings of government inspections or increased governmental regulation of our 

operations, could result in a disruption in our business and substantial additional 

compliance costs and sanctions. 

 It may be difficult to ascertain the validity and enforceability of title to land in Russia and 

the extent to which it is encumbered. 

 The accession of Russia into the World Trade Organization (WTO) may lead to legislative 

and other changes which may adversely affect our business, financial condition and 

results of operations. 

Political risks 

 Political and governmental instability, including conflicts among federal, regional and 
local authorities and other political conflicts, could create an uncertain operating 
environment hindering our long-term planning ability and could have an adverse effect 
on our business, financial condition and results of operations. 

 The reversal of reform policies or government policies targeted at specific individuals or 
companies could have an adverse effect on our business, as well as investments in 
Russia more generally. 

 Deterioration of Russia’s relations with other countries could result in a significant 
decrease in demand for securities of Russian companies and/or adversely affect the 
value of investments in Russia. 

 Political and social conflicts or instability could create an uncertain operating 
environment and adversely affect the value of investments in Russia. 

Social risks 

 Social instability, particularly if caused by worsening economic conditions and turmoil in 

the Russian financial markets, could lead to labour and social unrest, increased support 

for renewed centralised authority, nationalism or violence. 

 Crime, corruption and negative publicity could create a difficult business climate in 

Russia and harm our business. 
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Economic risks 

 Companies operating in emerging markets such as Russia are generally subject to 

greater risks than companies operating in more developed markets, and global financial 

or economic crises or even turmoil in any large emerging market country, could have an 

adverse effect on our business. 

 Economic instability in Russia could have an adverse effect on our business. 

 The physical infrastructure in Russia is in poor condition, which may lead to 

interruptions in effective financial and economic activity. 

 Weaknesses in the Russian banking sector make it more susceptible to market 

downturns or economic slowdowns. 

Legislative and legal risks 

 Weaknesses relating to the Russian legal system and Russian laws create an uncertain 

environment for investment and business activity in Russia and thus could have an 

adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. 

 Unlawful, selective or arbitrary government action could materially adversely affect our 

business, financial condition and results of operations. 

 Our failure to comply with new personal data protection laws in Russia may have a 

material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. 

 Lack of independence and inexperience of the judiciary, the difficulty of enforcing court 

decisions and governmental discretion in enforcing claims could prevent us or holders of 

the DRs from obtaining effective redress in a court proceeding, which could have a 

material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations or 

the price of the DRs. 

 Russian companies can be forced into liquidation on the basis of formal non-compliance 

with certain requirements of Russian law. 

 The law relating to Russian corporate governance and control may be applied 

inconsistently and is difficult to enforce. 

 Lack of developed corporate and securities laws and regulations in the Russian 

Federation may limit our ability to attract future investment. 

 Shareholder rights provisions under Russian law may impose additional costs on us. 

 Shareholder liability under Russian corporate law could cause us to become liable for 

the obligations of our subsidiaries. 

 Russian currency regulation has been liberalised and may remain subject to change. 

 Russian legislation may not adequately protect against expropriation and 

nationalisation. 
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 Russia’s unpredictable acknowledgement and enforcement of foreign court judgements 

or arbitral awards give rise to significant uncertainties. 

 The lack of a central and rigorously regulated share registration system in Russia may 

result in improper record ownership of the Shares, including the Shares underlying the 

relevant DRs. 

Risks Relating to the DRs and the Trading Market 

 DR holders may have limited recourse against us, our Directors and our senior 

managers. 

 We may decide not to pay dividends in the future, and our ability to pay dividends will 

depend upon the level of our net profit under RAS and IFRS and other factors. 

 New Russian legislation will require the disclosure of beneficial ownership of the DRs, 

and a failure to provide such disclosure may restrict your ability to vote and/or receive 

dividends. 

 Non-Russian resident DR holders may not be able to benefit from double tax treaties in 

relation to Russian withholding taxes on dividends paid via the Depositary. 

 Resident holders of the DRs may be subject to increased effective rates of tax on 

dividends due to the lack of clarity in the Russian tax law with respect to beneficial 

ownership. 

 Capital gains from the sale of the DRs may be subject to Russian income tax. 

 Because the Depositary may be considered the beneficial holder of the Shares 

underlying the DRs, these Shares may be arrested or seized in legal proceedings in 

Russia against the Depositary. 

 Voting rights with respect to the Shares represented by DRs are limited by the terms of 

the Deposit Agreements for the DRs and relevant requirements of Russian law. 

 Sales of Shares or DRs following the Admission may result in a decline in the price of the 

DRs. 

 We are not subject to the same takeover protection as a company incorporated in the 

United Kingdom. 

 Holders of our DRs may not be able to exercise their pre-emptive rights in relation to 

future issues of Shares. 

 The Shares may be de-listed from MICEX-RTS, the FSFM permission for the DR 

programmes may be revoked and the DR facilities may have to be terminated. 

Risks Relating To Taxation 

 Our business has a significant exposure to taxation in Russia. 

 We are subject to tax audits by Russian tax authorities which may result in additional 

liabilities. 
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 We may be deemed to receive unjustified tax benefits. 

 We may encounter difficulties in recovery of VAT paid to vendors or at customs. 

 The Russian transfer pricing rules are vaguely drafted and are subject to varying 

interpretations by Russian tax authorities and courts. 

 

Risk management system 

In order to manage potential risks, the Company has introduced and developed a risk-based 

approach to conducting business. This ensures that the management of Rostelecom takes the 

most effective decisions when circumstances are uncertain, and also is able to form an opinion 

on business opportunities for the Company. 

Each year, the Board of Directors approves a Risk Management Programme. Rostelecom 

regularly updates its risk profiles and develops and monitors its action plans in order to reduce 

the occurrence of risk to an acceptable level. The Company always assesses risks associated 

with the development of operational business solutions and their implementation. 

This may be done during discussions at meetings of the Board of Directors, the BoD’s Audit 

Committee, the Management Board and during working group meetings. 
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Independent Auditors’ Report 

To the Shareholders and Board of Directors 
OJSC Rostelecom 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of OJSC Rostelecom (the 
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”), which comprise the consolidated statements of 
financial position as at 31 December 2012, 2011 and 2010, and the consolidated statements of 
comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows for 2012, 2011 and 2010, and notes, 
comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information. 

Management’s Responsibility for the Сonsolidated Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated 
financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for 
such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of 
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error. 

Auditors’ Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the fair presentation of these consolidated 
financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with Russian 
Federal Auditing Standards and International Standards on Auditing. Those standards require 
that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material 
misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the 
auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the 
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk 
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair 
presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that 
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the 
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 
made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated 
financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to express 
an opinion on the fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements. 

 Opinion 

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the 
financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2012, 2011 and 2010, and its financial 
performance and its cash flows for 2012, 2011 and 2010 in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards. 

Mr. Shvetsov A.V., Director, power of attorney dated 1 October 2010 No. 55/10 

ZAO KPMG 

21 March 2013Moscow,  

Russian Federation 



OJSC Rostelecom 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION  
(In millions of Russian Roubles) 

 The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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Notes 
31 December 

2012 
31 December 

2011 
31 December 

2010 

ASSETS     

Non-current assets     

Property, plant and equipment  6 385,994 335,205 310,023 

Investment property  274 259 356 

Goodwill and other intangible assets 7 87,830 88,937 52,018 

Investments in associates 9 37,389 34,746 27,658 

Other investments 10 2,498 3,635 977 

Deferred tax assets 20 2,694 1,127 530 

Other non-current assets 11 5,413 13,562 3,528 

Total non-current assets  522,092 477,471 395,090 

Current assets     

Inventories 12 4,534 4,763 4,715 

Trade and other accounts receivable 13 33,992 28,790 25,880 

Prepayments  3,912 2,706 2,264 

Prepaid income tax  2,921 3,309 1,788 

Other investments 10 952 3,926 5,582 

Cash and cash equivalents 14 10,370 7,380 12,694 

Other current assets 15 1,258 1,268 1,216 

Total current assets  57,939 52,142 54,139 

Total assets  580,031 529,613 449,229 

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES     

Equity attributable to equity holders of the Group     

Share capital 16 106 106 100 

Additional paid-in capital  34,839 34,736 34,742 

Treasury shares  (36,615) (17,161) (17,428) 

Retained earnings and other reserves  257,143 247,253 204,072 

Total equity attributable to equity holders of the Group  255,473 264,934 221,486 

Non-controlling interests  493 7,784 12 

Total equity  255,966 272,718 221,498 

Non-current liabilities      

Loans and borrowings 17 150,907 91,851 92,405 

Employee benefits 19 12,130 11,752 16,197 

Deferred tax liabilities 20 23,236 20,813 14,283 

Accounts payable, provisions and accrued expenses 18 230 85 202 

Other non-current liabilities  4,136 3,689 1,574 

Total non-current liabilities  190,639 128,190 124,661 

Current liabilities     

Loans and borrowings 17 63,499 80,972 55,265 

Accounts payable, provisions and accrued expenses 18 59,889 39,196 40,870 

Income tax payable  50 242 45 

Other current liabilities  9,988 8,295 6,890 

Total current liabilities  133,426 128,705 103,070 

Total liabilities  324,065 256,895 227,731 

Total equity and liabilities  580,031 529,613 449,229 

These consolidated financial statements were approved by management of OJSC Rostelecom 

on 21 March 2013 and were signed on its behalf by Senior Vice President: 

                                                                                                                         _________________P.A.Zaytsev



OJSC Rostelecom 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
(In millions of Russian Roubles unless otherwise stated) 

 The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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  Year ended 31 December 

 Notes 2012 2011 2010 

     
Revenue 21 321,251 301,494 277,497 

Operating expenses     
Wages, salaries, other benefits and payroll taxes 22 (84,308) (76,252) (74,731) 

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment losses 6, 7 (64,729) (57,524) (56,604) 

Interconnection charges  (47,312) (40,736) (37,624) 

Materials, utilities, repairs and maintenance 23 (27,358) (27,507) (24,754) 

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment and 
intangible assets  (822) (792) (933) 

Bad debt expense 13 (1,318) (572) (736) 

Other operating income 24 13,868 14,712 14,650 

Other operating expenses 25 (55,447) (52,634) (46,811) 

Total operating expenses, net  (267,426) (241,305) (227,543) 

Operating profit  53,825 60,189 49,954 

Income from  associates  4,293 4,474 353 

Finance costs 26 (16,005) (13,069) (11,996) 

Other investing and financial gain 27 1,440 2,078 2,296 

Foreign exchange gain/ (loss), net  480 (377) (94) 

Profit before income tax  44,033 53,295 40,513 

Income tax expense 20 (8,793) (10,767) (10,084) 

Profit for the year  35,240 42,528 30,429 

     

Other comprehensive income      
Revaluation (loss) / gain on available-for-sale investments  (407) 15 155 

Revaluation gain on available-for-sale investments 
transferred to profit on sale  (740) - - 

Exchange differences on translating foreign operations  (89) - - 

Share of other comprehensive (loss)/ gain recognized by 
associates  (102) 3 34 

Income tax in respect of other comprehensive loss items  228 (3) (32) 

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax  (1,110) 15 157 

Total comprehensive income for the year  34,130 42,543 30,586 

     

Profit attributable to:     

Equity holders of the Group  35,064 42,701 30,509 

Non-controlling interests  176 (173) (80) 

     

Total comprehensive income attributable to:     

Equity holders of the Group  33,960 42,716 30,666 

Non-controlling interests  170 (173) (80) 

     

Earnings per share attributable to  
equity holders of the Group – basic (in RUB) 30 12.14 14.32 9.80 

Earnings per share attributable to  
equity holders of the Group –diluted (in RUB) 30 12.06 14.10 9.72 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 

(In millions of Russian Roubles) 
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   Year ended 31 December 

  Notes 2012 2011 2010 

Cash flows from operating activities     

Profit before income tax  44,033 53,295 40,513 

Adjustments to reconcile profit before tax to cash generated    
from operations:    

Depreciation, amortization and  impairment losses 6, 7 64,729 57,524 56,604 

Loss on sale of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets  822 792 933 

Bad debt expense 13 1,318 572 736 

Income from associates  (4,293) (4,474) (353) 

Finance costs excluding finance costs on pension and other long-term 
social liabilities 26 15,054 12,030 10,519 

Other investing and financial gain 27 (1,440) (2,078) (2,296) 

Foreign exchange (gain)/ loss, net  (480) 377 94 

Share-based  payment expenses 29 18 588 3,930 

Changes in net working capital:     

Increase in accounts receivable  (7,628) (1,599) (3,505) 

Increase/ (decrease) in employee benefits  378 (4,445) 619 

Decrease/ (increase) in inventories  240 202 (441) 

Increase/ (decrease) in accounts payable, provisions and accrued expenses  4,459 (5,804) (920) 

Increase/ (decrease) in other assets and  liabilities  1,960 (309) (279) 

Cash generated from operations  119,170 106,671 106,154 

Interest paid  (16,015) (12,230) (11,830) 

Income tax paid  (6,924) (9,064) (9,787) 

Net cash provided by operating activities  96,231 85,377 84,537 

Cash flows from investing activities     

Purchase of property, plant and equipment and  intangible assets  (91,181) (83,231) (53,176) 

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment  and intangible assets  1,864 1,486 1,555 

Acquisition of financial assets  (4,436) (8,565) (10,764) 

Proceeds from disposals of financial assets  8,300 9,176 20,244 

Government grant received 24 - 1,105 - 

Interest received  236 934 2,282 

Dividends received   827 193 188 

Purchase of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired  (1,287) (32,281) (4,548) 

Proceeds from disposals of subsidiaries, net of cash disposed  82 - - 

Acquisition of equity accounted  investees (1,908) (3,640) (26,000) 

Net cash used in investing activities (87,503) (114,823) (70,219) 

Cash flows from financing activities    

Sale of treasury shares 2,775 1,754 - 

Purchase of treasury shares (22,126) (1,487) (25,343) 

Proceeds from bank and corporate loans 532,663 296,398 124,819 

Repayment of bank and corporate loans (491,724) (250,410) (83,215) 

Proceeds from bonds 10,000 - 126 

Repayment of bonds (7,285) (13,932) (11,077) 

Proceeds from promissory notes 22,863 12,050 5,340 

Repayment of promissory notes (22,939) (15,984) (7,276) 

Repayment of vendor financing payable (163) (368) (890) 

Proceeds from / (repayment of) other non-current financing liabilities (13) 72 47 

Repayment of finance lease liabilities (1,824) (3,150) (3,764) 

Acquisition of non-controlling interest (15,628) (366) - 

Dividends paid to shareholders of the Group (12,131) (116) (14,106) 

Dividends paid to non-controlling shareholders of subsidiaries (190) (303) - 

Net cash (used in)/provided by financing activities (5,722) 24,158 (15,339) 

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents (16) (26) 40 

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  2,990 (5,314) (981) 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 7,380 12,694 13,675 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of year 10,370 7,380 12,694 

 



OJSC Rostelecom 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
(In millions of Russian Roubles) 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 Attributable to equity holders of the Group 

Non-
controlling 

interest 
Total 

 equity  
Share 

capital 
Additional 

 paid-in capital 

Unrealized gain/ 
(loss) on 

available-for-sale 
investments 

Treasury 
shares 

Share option 
reserve 

Retained 
earnings 

Total equity 
attributable to 
shareholders of 

the Group 

Balances at 1 January 2010 100 33,424 630 (67) - 183,396 217,483  (72) 217,411 

Profit for the year - - - - - 30,509 30,509 (80) 30,429 

Other comprehensive income          

Revaluation gain on available-for-sale investments - - 155 - - - 155 - 155 

Share of other comprehensive income recognized 
by associates - - 34 - - - 34 - 34 

Income tax in respect of other comprehensive 
income items - - (32) - - - (32) - (32) 

Total other comprehensive income, net of tax - - 157 - - - 157 - 157 

Total comprehensive income  - - 157 - - 30,509 30,666 (80) 30,586 

Transactions with shareholders, recorded directly  
in equity:          

Dividends to equity holders of the Group - - - - - (14,808) (14,808) - (14,808) 

Acquisition of treasury shares - - - (25,343) - - (25,343) - (25,343) 

Sale of treasury shares - - - 7,982 - - 7,982 - 7,982 

Acquisition of non-controlling interest - - - - - 2 2 - 2 

Non-controlling interest in acquired subsidiaries - - - - - - - 164 164 

Employee benefits within share-based employee 
motivation program - - - - 4,186 - 4,186 - 4,186 

Effect of business combinations under common 
control - 1,318 - - - - 1,318 - 1,318 

Total transactions with shareholders - 1,318 - (17,361) 4,186 (14,806) (26,663) 164 (26,499) 

Balances at 31 December 2010 100 34,742 787 (17,428) 4,186 199,099 221,486 12 221,498 

 

 

 

 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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OJSC Rostelecom 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (continued) 
(In millions of Russian Roubles) 

 

 The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 

8 

 Attributable to equity holders of the Group 

Non-
controlling 

interest 
Total 

 equity  Share capital 
Additional paid-

in capital 

Unrealized gain/ 
(loss) on available-

for-sale 
investments 

Treasury 
shares 

Share option 
reserve 

Retained 
earnings 

Total equity 
attributable to 
shareholders of 

the Group 

Balances at 1 January 2011 100 34,742 787 (17,428)  4,186 199,099 221,486  12 221,498 

Profit for the year - - - - - 42,701 42,701 (173) 42,528 

Other comprehensive income          

Revaluation gain/(loss) on available-for-sale 
investments - - 15 - - - 15 - 15 

Share of other comprehensive income 
recognized by associates - - 3 - - - 3 - 3 

Income tax in respect of other comprehensive 
income items - - (3) - - - (3) - (3) 

Total other comprehensive income, net of tax - - 15 - - - 15 - 15 

Total comprehensive income/ (loss)  - - 15 - - 42,701 42,716 (173) 42,543 

Transactions with shareholders, recorded 
directly  in equity:          
Dividends to equity holders of the Group - - - - - (5) (5) - (5) 

Dividends to non-controlling shareholders of 
subsidiaries - - - - - - - (308) (308) 

Acquisition of treasury shares - - - (1,487) - - (1,487) - (1,487) 

Sale of treasury shares - - - 1,754 - - 1,754 - 1,754 

Acquisition and disposal of non-controlling 
interest - - - - - (154) (154) (212) (366) 

Non-controlling interest in acquired subsidiaries - - - - - - - 8,465 8,465 

Employee benefits within share-based employee 
motivation program - - - - (45) 683 638 - 638 

Issue of share capital 6 (6) - - - - - - - 

The share of changes recognized in retained 
earnings by associates - - - - - (59) (59) - (59) 

Other changes in equity - - - - - 45 45 - 45 

Total transactions with shareholders 6 (6) - 267 (45) 510 732 7,945 8,677 

Balances at 31 December 2011 106 34,736 802 (17,161) 4,141 242,310 264,934 7,784 272,718 

 



OJSC Rostelecom 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (continued) 
(In millions of Russian Roubles) 

 

 The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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  Attributable to equity holders of the Group 

Non-
controlling 

interest 
Total 

 equity  

Share 
capital 

Additional paid-
in capital 

Unrealized gain/ 
(loss) on 

available-for-sale 
investments 

Translation 
of foreign 

operations 
Treasury 

shares 
Share option 

reserve 
Retained 
earnings 

Total equity 
attributable to 
shareholders of 

the Group 

Balances at 1 January 2012 106 34,736 802 - (17,161) 4,141 242,310 264,934  7,784 272,718 

Profit for the year - - - - - - 35,064 35,064 176 35,240 

Other comprehensive income           
Revaluation gain/(loss) on available-for-sale 
investments - - (407)  - - - (407) - (407) 

Revaluation gain on available-for-sale 
investments transferred to profit on sale - - (740) - - - - (740) - (740) 

Exchange differences on translating foreign 
operations - - - (83) - - - (83) (6) (89) 

Share of other comprehensive loss recognized by 
associates - - (94) (8) - - - (102) - (102) 

Income tax in respect of other comprehensive 
loss items - - 228 - - - - 228 - 228 

Total other comprehensive loss, net of tax - - (1,013) (91) - - - (1,104) - (1,110) 

Total comprehensive income/ (loss)  - - (1,013) (91) - - 35,064 33,960 170 34,130 

Transactions with shareholders, recorded 
directly  in equity:           
Dividends to equity holders of the Group - - - - - - (13,693) (13,693) - (13,693) 

Dividends to non-controlling shareholders of 
subsidiaries - - - - - - - - (190) (190) 

Non-controlling interest in acquired subsidiaries - - - - - - - - 54 54 

Acquisition of non-controlling interest - - - - - - (8,303) (8,303) (7,325) (15,628) 

Acquisition of treasury shares - - - - (22,126) - - (22,126) - (22,126) 

Sale of treasury shares - 103 - - 2,672 - - 2,775 - 2,775 

Employee benefits within share-based employee 
motivation program - - - - - (1,048) 1,066 18 - 18 

The share of changes recognized in retained 
earnings by associates - - - - - 2 (2,092) (2,090) - (2,090) 

Other changes in equity - - - - - - (2) (2) - (2) 

Total transactions with shareholders - 103 - - (19,454) (1,046) (23,024) (43,421) (7,461) (50,882) 

Balances at 31 December 2012 106 34,839 (211) (91) (36,615) 3,095 254,350 255,473 493 255,966 



OJSC Rostelecom 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
(In millions of Russian Roubles unless otherwise stated) 
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1. REPORTING ENTITY 

The accompanying consolidated financial statements are of OJSC Rostelecom (“Rostelecom” or the 
“Company”), and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”), which are incorporated in the Russian Federation 
(“Russia”). 
 
The Group provides communication services (including local, intra-zone, long-distance domestic and 
international fixed-line telephone services, mobile services), data transmission, Internet, Pay TV, VPN and 
data centers services, rent of communication channels and radio communication services in the territory 
of Russian Federation. The Group operates the main intercity network and the international 
telecommunications gateways of the Russian Federation, carrying voice and data traffic that originates in 
its own network and other national and international operators’ networks to other national and 
international operators for termination. 
 
The Company operates socially important Government programs, including “E-Government”, “Unified 
communication service” and other. 
 
On 1 April 2011, the Company completed the merger with OJSC North-West Telecom, OJSC Centrtelecom, 
OJSC South Telecommunications Company, OJSC VolgaTelecom, OJSC Uralsvyazinform, OJSC Sibirtelecom, 
OJSC Far East Telecom (collectively referred to as the Interregional Companies (“IRCs”) and OJSC 
Dagsvyazinform (“Dagsvyazinform”) with the IRCs and Dagsvyazinform ceasing to exist as separate legal 
entities and all of their assets (including licenses), rights and liabilities being transferred to the Company as 
the legal successor of the IRCs and Dagsvyazinform under Russian law. The purpose of the reorganization 
was to establish an integrated telecommunications operator, a market leader in each segment of the 
Russian telecommunications market, eliminate internal conflicts of interest, expand into new market 
segments and optimize costs and capital expenditures.  
 
Rostelecom was established as an open joint stock company on 23 September 1993 in accordance with 
the Directive of the State Committee on the Management of State Property of Russia No. 1507-r, dated 
27 August 1993. As at 31 December  2012, the Government of the Russian Federation controls the 
Company by holding of 55.2% of the Company’s ordinary shares through OJSC “Svyazinvest”, 
“Vnesheconombank” and Federal Agency of State properties management. 
 

The Company’s headquarters are located in the Russian Federation, Moscow at 1st Tverskaya-Yamskaya 
Street, 14, 125047. 

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION 

(a) Statement of compliance 

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”). 

(b) Basis of measurement 

The consolidated financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis except for measurement of 
available-for-sale investments at fair value and certain other items when IFRS requires accounting 
treatment other than historical cost accounting (refer to Note 4). 
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(c) Functional and presentation currency 

The national currency of the Russian Federation is the Russian Rouble (“RUB”), which is the functional 
currency of Group entities and the currency in which these consolidated financial statements are 
presented. The only Group entity with other functional currency is GNC-Alfa, incorporated in Armenia. The 
functional currency of this entity is Armenian Dram (“AMD”). All financial information presented in RUB 
has been rounded to the nearest million, unless otherwise stated. 

(d) Use of estimates and judgements 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRSs requires management to make 
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and 
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported 
amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.  

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting 
estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods 
affected. 

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the 
reporting date that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below: 

Changes in Estimate of Useful Lives 

The Group assesses the remaining useful lives of items of property, plant and equipment at least at each 
financial year-end and, if expectations differ from previous estimates, the changes are accounted for as a 
change in an accounting estimate in accordance with IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting 
Estimates and Errors.  

Fair Values of Assets and Liabilities Acquired in Business Combinations 

The Group is required to recognize separately, at the acquisition date, the identifiable assets, liabilities and 
contingent liabilities acquired or assumed in a business combination at their fair values, which involves 
estimates. Such estimates are based on valuation techniques, which require considerable judgment in 
forecasting future cash flows and developing other assumptions. 

Share-based employee benefits 

The Group measures cost of share-based employee benefit by reference to the fair value of equity 
instruments granted. This requires judgment in estimating future volatility of basis asset which is 
determined using historical data on market price of the shares. Future volatility may differ significantly 
from that estimated. 

Employee Benefits 

The Group uses actuarial valuation methods for measurement of the present value of defined employee 
benefit obligations and related current service cost. This involves the use of demographic assumptions 
about the future characteristics of current employees who are eligible for benefits (mortality, both during 
and after employment, rates of employee turnover, etc.) as well as financial assumptions (discount rate, 
future salary and benefit levels, etc.). 

Allowances 

The Group makes allowances for doubtful accounts receivable. Significant judgment is used to estimate 
doubtful accounts. In estimating doubtful accounts historical and anticipated customer performance are 
considered. Changes in the economy, industry, or specific customer conditions may require adjustments 
to the allowance for doubtful accounts recorded in the consolidated financial statements.  
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Impairment of non-current assets 

Each asset or cash generating unit is evaluated at the end of every reporting period to determine whether 
there are any indications of impairment. If any such indication exists, a formal estimate of the recoverable 
amount is performed and an impairment loss recognised to the extent that carrying amount exceeds the 
recoverable amount. For goodwill and intangible assets that have indefinite lives or that are not yet 
available for use, recoverable amount is estimated at each reporting date.  

This requires an estimation of the value in use of the cash-generating units. Estimating of value in use 
requires the Group to make significant judgement concerning expected future cash flows and discount 
rates applicable. Expected future cash flows of cash-generating unit are typically based on approved 
budgets for next financial years and strategic plan for the period from second till fifth years. Cash flows 
beyond five–year periods are extrapolated using industry growth rate. Discount rates are determined 
based on historical information of cost of debt and equity of a respective cash-generating unit. Any future 
changes in the aforementioned assumptions could have significant impact on value in use. 

Lease classification 

A lease is classified as financial lease if it transfers substantially all risks and rewards incidental to 
ownership, otherwise it is classified as operating lease. Determining whether an arrangement is, or 
contains, a lease is based on the substance of the arrangement, but not its legal form and requires 
judgements. 

Litigation 

The Group exercises considerable judgment in measuring and recognizing provisions and the exposure to 
contingent liabilities related to pending litigation or other outstanding claims subject to negotiated 
settlement, mediation, arbitration or government regulation, as well as other contingent liabilities. 
Judgment is necessary in assessing the likelihood that a pending claim will succeed, or a liability will arise, 
and to quantify the possible range of the final settlement. Because of the inherent uncertainties in this 
evaluation process, actual losses may be different from the originally estimated provision. These estimates 
are subject to change as new information becomes available. Revisions to the estimates may significantly 
affect future operating results. 

3. OPERATING ENVIRONMENT OF THE GROUP  

The Group’s operations are primarily located in the Russian Federation. Consequently, the Group is 
exposed to the economic and financial risks of the Russian Federation which displays characteristics of an 
emerging market. The legal, tax and regulatory frameworks continue development, but are subject to 
varying interpretations and frequent changes which together with other legal and fiscal impediments 
contribute to the challenges faced by entities operating in the Russian Federation. The consolidated 
financial statements reflect management’s assessment of the impact of the Russian business environment 
on the operations and the financial position of the Group. The future business environment may differ 
from management’s assessment. 

4.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently by the Group to all periods 
presented in these consolidated financial statements. 

(a) Principles of consolidation 

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the companies comprising the 
Group and its subsidiaries. 
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Business combinations 

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method as at the acquisition date, which is 
the date on which control is transferred to the Group. Control exists when the Group has the power to 
govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. In 
assessing control, the Group takes into consideration potential voting rights that currently are exercisable. 

The consideration transferred does not include amounts related to the settlement of pre-existing 
relations. Such amounts are generally recognised in profit or loss. 

Any contingent consideration payable is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. If the contingent 
consideration is classified as equity, it is not remeasured and settlement is accounted for within equity. 
Otherwise, subsequent changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration are recognised in profit 
or loss. 

Costs related to the acquisitions other than those associated with issue of debt or equity securities, that 
the Group incurs in connection with business combination are expensed as incurred. 

Combination of entities under common control 

Business combinations arising from transfers of interests in entities that are under the control of the 
shareholder that controls the Group are accounted for as if the acquisition had occurred at the beginning 
of the earliest comparative period presented or, if later, at the date that common control was established; 
for this purpose comparatives are revised. The assets and liabilities acquired are recognised at the carrying 
amounts recognised previously in the Group’s controlling shareholder’s consolidated financial statements. 
The components of equity of the acquired entities are added to the same components within Group 
equity except that any share capital of the acquired entities is recognised as part of share premium. Any 
cash paid for the acquisition is recognised directly in equity. 

Acquisitions of non-controlling interests 

Acquisitions of non-controlling interests are accounted for as transactions with owners in their capacity as 
owners and therefore no goodwill is recognised as a result. Acquisitions of non-controlling interests that 
do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions. 

Subsidiaries 

Subsidiaries are entities that are directly or indirectly controlled by the Group. Subsidiaries are 
consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group and are no longer consolidated 
from the date that control ceases.  

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period as the Group, 
using consistent accounting policies. 

All intra-group balances, income and expenses and unrealized gains and losses resulting from intra-group 
transactions are eliminated in full.  

Losses are allocated to the parent and to non-controlling interest based on their respective interests. 

Investments in associates (equity accounted investees) 

Associates in which the Group has significant influence but not a controlling interest are accounted for 
using the equity method of accounting. Significant influence is usually demonstrated by the Group owning, 
directly or indirectly, between 20% and 50% of the voting ownership interest or by power to participate in 
the financial and operating policy decisions of associates. The Group’s share of the net income or losses of 
associates is included in profit or loss, the Group’s share of movement in reserves is recognized in equity 
and the Group's share of the net assets of associates is included in the consolidated statements of 
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financial position.  

An assessment of investments in associates for possible impairment or reversal of impairment recognized 
previously is performed when there is an indication that the asset has been impaired or the impairment 
losses recognized in prior years no longer exist. When the Group’s share of losses exceeds the carrying 
amount of the investment, the investment is reported at nil value and recognition of losses is discontinued 
except to the extent of the Group’s commitment to fund future losses. Unrealized profits and losses that 
arise from transactions between the Group and its associates are eliminated in the proportion to the 
Group’s share in such associates. 

Crossholding structures  

When the Group has significant influence over an entity, which also has significant influence or controls 
the Company, the effective ownership interest approach is used. Under the effective ownership interest 
approach, the Group determines its share of comprehensive income of the associate on the basis of the 
Group's effective interest in the associate. The effect of the reciprocal interests is incorporated into the 
associate's financial statements through the associate's own equity accounting or consolidation. 

Special purpose entities 

A special purpose entity (“SPE”) is consolidated if, based on an evaluation of the substance of its 
relationship with the Group and the SPE’s risks and rewards, the Group concludes that it controls the SPE. 
SPEs controlled by the Group were established under terms that impose strict limitations on the decision-
making powers of the SPEs’ management and that result in the Group receiving the majority of the 
benefits related to the SPEs’ operations and net assets, being exposed to majority of risks incident to the 
SPEs’ activities, and retaining the majority of the residual or ownership risks related to the SPEs or their 
assets. 

Non-controlling interest 

Non-controlling interest includes that part of the net results of operations and of net assets of subsidiaries 
attributable to interests which are not owned, directly or indirectly through subsidiaries, by the Group. 
Non-controlling interest at the reporting date represents the non-controlling shareholders’ portion of the 
fair values of identifiable assets and liabilities of the subsidiary at the acquisition date, and their portion of 
movements in net assets since the date of the combination. 

The losses applicable to non-controlling interest, including negative other comprehensive income, are 
charged to non-controlling interest even if it causes non-controlling interest to have a deficit balance.  

(b) Goodwill  

Goodwill on an acquisition of a subsidiary is included in intangible assets. Goodwill on an acquisition of an 
associate is included in the investment in associates. 

The acquirer recognizes goodwill as of the acquisition date measured as the excess of (a) over (b) below: 

(a) the aggregate of:  

 the acquisition-date fair value of consideration transferred;  

 non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets; and  

 in a business combination achieved in stages, the acquisition-date fair value of the acquirer’s 
previously held equity interest in the acquiree.  

(b) the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed 
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measured in accordance with IFRS 3.  

Following initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. 
Impairment losses for goodwill may not be reversed. If the impairment loss recognized for the cash-
generating unit exceeds the carrying amount of the allocated goodwill, the additional amount of the 
impairment loss is recognized by allocating to other assets on pro rata basis, but not below their fair value. 

Goodwill is not amortized. Instead, it is tested for impairment annually or more frequently if events or 
changes in circumstances indicate that it might be impaired.  

Where goodwill forms part of a cash-generating unit and part of the operations within that unit are 
disposed of, the goodwill associated with the operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount of 
the operation when determining the gain or loss on disposal of the operation. Goodwill disposed of in this 
circumstance is measured based on the relative values of the operation disposed of and the portion of 
cash-generating unit retained. 

In case of excess of the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities 
and contingent liabilities over cost of business combination the Group: 

 reassesses the identification and measurement of the acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and 
contingent liabilities and the measurement of the cost of the combination; 

 recognizes in profit or loss any excess remaining after that reassessment immediately. 

(c) Property, plant and equipment 

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated 
impairment losses. Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. 
The cost of self-constructed assets includes the cost of materials and direct labour, any other costs directly 
attributable to bringing the asset to a working condition for their intended use, the costs of dismantling 
and removing the items and restoring the site on which they are located, and capitalised borrowing costs. 

The cost of replacing part of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised in the carrying 
amount of the item if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied within the part will flow 
to the Group and its cost can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is 
derecognised. The costs of the day-to-day servicing of property, plant and equipment are recognised in 
profit or loss as incurred.  

Items of property, plant and equipment that are retired or otherwise disposed of are eliminated from the 
statement of financial position along with the corresponding accumulated depreciation. Any difference 
between the net disposal proceeds and carrying amount of the item is reported as a gain or loss on 
derecognition. The gain or loss resulting from such retirement or disposal is included in the determination 
of net income. 

Depreciation is calculated on property, plant and equipment on a straight-line basis from the time the 
assets are available for use, over their estimated useful lives as follows: 
 Number of years  

Buildings and site services 10 – 50 

Cable and transmission devices:  
 Cable 10 – 40 
 Radio and fixed link transmission equipment 8 – 20 
 Telephone exchanges 15 
 Other 5 – 10 

The useful life of assets encompasses the entire time they are available for use, regardless of whether 
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during that time they are in use or idle. Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are 
reviewed at each reporting date or more frequently if events occur that suggest a change is necessary and, 
if expectations differ from previous estimates, the changes are accounted for prospectively. Depreciation 
of an asset ceases at the earlier of the date the asset is classified as held for sale and the date the asset is 
derecognized. 

Construction in progress represents properties under construction and is stated at cost. This includes cost 
of construction and other direct costs. Construction in progress is not depreciated until the constructed or 
installed asset is ready for its intended use. 

Advances given to suppliers of property, plant and equipment are included in other non-current assets. 

Interest costs on borrowings to finance the construction of property, plant and equipment are capitalized 
during the period of time that is required to complete and prepare the asset for its intended use.  

Cost of machinery and plant and other items of property, plant and equipment related to core activities of 
the Group, which have been gratuitously transferred to the Group beyond the privatisation framework, is 
capitalised in property, plant and equipment at fair value at the date of such transfer. Such transfers of 
property, plant and equipment primarily relate to future provision of services by the Group to entities, 
which have transferred property, plant and equipment. In such instances, the Group records deferred 
income in the amount of the fair value of the received property, plant and equipment and recognises 
income in the income statement on the same basis that the equipment is depreciated. 

(d) Leases 

Service contracts that do not take the legal form of a lease but convey rights to the Group to use an asset 
or a group of assets in return for a payment or a series of fixed payments are accounted for as leases. 
Determining whether an arrangement contains a lease is determined based on the facts and 
circumstances of each arrangement to determine whether fulfilment of the arrangement is dependent on 
the use of a specific asset or assets and whether the arrangement conveys a right to use that asset. 
Contracts meeting these criteria are then evaluated to determine whether they are either an operating 
lease or finance lease. 

Finance leases, which transfer to the Group substantially all the risks and benefits incidental to ownership 
of the leased item, are capitalized at the commencement of the lease term at the fair value of the leased 
property or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments. Lease payments are 
apportioned between the finance charges and reduction of the lease liability so as to achieve a constant 
rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance charges are charged directly to profit or 
loss. Capitalized leased assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the estimated 
useful life of the asset or the lease term unless there is a reasonable certainty that the Group will obtain 
ownership by the end of the lease term, in which case the assets are depreciated over their estimated 
useful lives. 

Indefeasible Rights of Use (IRU) leases represent the right to use a portion of asset granted for a fixed 
period. IRUs are recognized as an asset when the Group has the specific indefeasible right to use an 
identified portion of the underlying asset, generally optical fibers or dedicated wavelength bandwidth, and 
the duration of the right is for the major part of the underlying asset’s economic life. Such assets are 
included in property, plant and equipment in the consolidated statement of financial position. They are 
depreciated over the shorter of the expected period of use and the life of the contract. 

Leases, including IRU leases, where the lessor retains substantially all the risks and benefits of ownership 
of the asset are classified as operating leases. Operating lease payments are recognized as an expense in 
profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 
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(e) Investment property 

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation (including 
property under construction for such purposes). Investment properties are measured initially at cost, 
including transaction costs. The Group applies cost model to its investments properties and subsequent to 
initial recognition investment properties are measured in accordance with IAS 16’s requirements for that 
model. 

 An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when the investment property is permanently 
withdrawn from use and no future economic benefits are expected from the disposal. Any gain or loss 
arising on derecognition of the property (calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds 
and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in profit or loss in the period in which the property is 
derecognised. 

(f) Intangible assets 

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible 
assets acquired in a business combination is fair value as at the date of acquisition.  

Development expenditures are capitalised if they meet criteria for an assets recognition. Expenditure on 
research phase are expensed as incurred. 

Following initial recognition, intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortization and 
any accumulated impairment losses.  

The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either finite or indefinite. 

Intangible assets with finite lives are amortized over the useful economic life and assessed for impairment 
when there is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. Useful lives of intangible assets with 
finite lives are determined on individual basis. 

Amortization periods and methods for intangible assets with finite useful lives are reviewed at least at 
each financial year-end and, if expectations differ from previous estimates, the changes are accounted for 
as changes in accounting estimates. Changes in the expected useful life or the expected pattern of 
consumption of future economic benefits embodied in the asset are accounted for by changing the 
amortization period or method, as appropriate, and treated as changes in accounting estimates. The 
Group assesses whether there is any indication that a finite lived intangible asset may be impaired at each 
reporting date. The Group also performs annual impairment tests for finite lived assets not yet placed in 
use. The amortization expense on intangible assets with finite lives is included in depreciation and 
amortization expenses in profit or loss. 

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are not amortized, but tested for impairment annually or 
more frequently when indicators of impairment exist, either individually or at the cash-generating unit 
level. The useful life of an intangible asset with an indefinite life is reviewed annually to determine 
whether indefinite life assessment continues to be supportable. If not, the change in the useful life 
assessment from indefinite to finite is made on a prospective basis. 

(g) Impairment of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 

At each reporting date or more frequently if events occur that suggest a change is necessary, an 
assessment is made as to whether there is any indication that the Group’s assets may be impaired. If any 
such indication exists, an assessment is made to establish whether the recoverable amount of the assets 
has declined below the carrying amount of those assets as disclosed in the financial statements. In 
addition, annual impairment test is carried out for intangible assets with indefinite useful life or that are 
not yet available for use and goodwill. When such a decline has occurred, the carrying amount of the 
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assets is reduced to the recoverable amount. The amount of any such reduction is recognized immediately 
as a loss. Any subsequent increase in the recoverable amount of the assets, except for goodwill,  is 
reversed when the circumstances that led to the write-down or write-off cease to exist and there is 
persuasive evidence that the new circumstances and events will persist for the foreseeable future. 
Increase of the recoverable amount is limited to the lower of its recoverable amount and carrying amount 
that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognized for the asset in prior years. 

The recoverable amount is determined as the higher of the assets’ fair value less cost to sell, or value in 
use. If it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of the individual asset, the Group determines 
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit (further- CGU) to which the assets belong. The value 
in use of the asset is estimated based on forecast of future cash inflows and outflows to be derived from 
continued use of the asset and from the estimated net proceeds on disposal, discounted to present value 
using an appropriate discount rate.  

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the 
acquisition date, allocated to each of the CGUs or groups of CGUs expected to benefit from the 
combination’s synergies, irrespective of whether other assets and liabilities of the Group are assigned to 
those units or group of units. Each unit or group of units to which goodwill is so allocated: 

 represents the lowest level within the Group at which the goodwill is monitored for internal 
management purposes; and 

 is not larger than an operating segment determined in accordance with IFRS 8 Operating Segments.  

(h) Inventory 

Inventory principally consists of cable, spare parts for the network and other supplies. Inventory is stated 
at the lower of cost incurred in bringing each item to its present location and condition and its net 
realizable value. Cost is calculated using weighted average cost formula, and includes expenditure 
incurred in acquiring the inventories, production or conversion costs, and other costs incurred in bringing 
them to their existing location and condition. Items used in the construction of new plant and equipment 
are capitalized as part of the related asset. Net realizable value is determined with respect to current 
market prices less expected costs to dispose. Inventory used in the maintenance of equipment is charged 
to operating costs as utilized and included in repair and maintenance and other costs in profit or loss. 

(i) Accounts receivable 

Trade and other accounts receivable are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at 
original invoice amount less an allowance for any uncollectible amounts. The allowance is created based 
on the historical pattern of collections of accounts receivable and specific analysis of recoverability of 
significant accounts. 

Bad debts are written off in the period in which they are identified. 

(j) Financial instruments 

Financial instruments carried in the consolidated statement of financial position include cash and cash 
equivalents, investments (other than in consolidated subsidiaries and equity method investees), non-
hedge derivatives, accounts receivable, accounts payable and borrowings. The particular recognition 
methods adopted for financial instruments are disclosed in the individual policy statements associated 
with each item. The Group classifies financial assets and liabilities into the following categories: loans and 
receivables, financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, held-to-maturity investments, 
available-for-sale financial assets, financial liabilities at amortized cost. 
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Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not 
quoted in an active market and not originated with the intent to be sold immediately. Such assets are 
carried at amortized cost using the effective interest method less any allowance for impairment. The 
calculation takes into account any premium or discount on acquisition and includes transaction costs and 
fees that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. Gains and losses are recognized in profit or loss 
when the loans and receivables are derecognized or impaired, as well as through the amortization 
process. 

Financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit and loss are financial assets or liabilities, which 
are either classified as held for trading or derivatives or are designated by the Group as at fair value 
through profit or loss upon initial recognition. Financial assets are classified as held for trading if they are 
acquired for the purposes of selling in the near term. Gains and losses on investments held for trading are 
recognized in profit or loss.  

Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and 
fixed maturity that the Group has the positive intention and ability to hold to maturity. Held-to-maturity 
investments are recognised initially at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. 
Subsequent to initial recognition, held-to-maturity investments are measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method, less any impairment losses.  

All other investments not classified in any of the three preceding categories are classified as available-for-
sale. After initial recognition, available-for-sale investments are measured at fair value with gains and 
losses being recognized in other comprehensive income until the investment is derecognized at which 
time the cumulative gain or loss previously reported in equity is included in the determination of profit or 
loss. 

All financial liabilities are carried at amortized cost using the effective interest method, except for 
derivative financial liabilities which are carried at their fair values.  

Transactions with financial instruments are recognized using settlement date accounting. Assets are 
recognized on the day they are transferred to the Group and derecognized on the day that they are 
transferred by the Group. 

At each reporting date or more frequently if events occur that suggest a change is necessary, an 
assessment is made as to whether there is any indication that the Group’s investments may be impaired. 
The fair value of investments that are actively traded in organized markets is determined by reference to 
the quoted market bid price at the close of business at the reporting day. For investments where there is 
no active market, fair value is determined using valuation techniques. Such techniques include using 
recent arm’s length transactions, references to the current market value of other instruments which is 
substantially the same, discounted cash flow analysis or other valuation models. 

Investing and financial gains comprise interest income on funds invested (including available-for-sale 
financial assets), dividend income, gains on the disposal of available-for-sale financial assets, fair value 
gains on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and gains on the remeasurement to fair value 
of any pre-existing interest in an acquiree. Interest income is recognised as it accrues in profit or loss, 
using the effective interest method. Dividend income is recognised in profit or loss on the date that the 
Group’s right to receive payment is established, which in the case of quoted securities is normally the ex-
dividend date.  

Finance costs comprise interest expense on borrowings (other than capitalised into the cost of qualifying 
assets), unwinding of the discount on provisions and contingent consideration, losses on disposal of 
available-for-sale financial assets, dividends on preference shares classified as liabilities, fair value losses 
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on financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss and impairment losses recognised on financial 
assets (other than trade receivables).  

(k) Borrowings 

Borrowings are initially recognized at fair value less directly attributable transaction costs, and have not 
been designated ‘as at fair value through profit or loss’. In subsequent periods, borrowings are measured 
at amortized cost using the effective interest method. Gains and losses are recognized in profit or loss 
when the liabilities are derecognized as well as through the amortization process. 

Borrowing costs are expensed, except for those that would have been avoided if the expenditure to 
acquire the qualifying asset had not been made. To the extent that funds are borrowed generally and used 
for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset, the amount of borrowing costs eligible for capitalization is 
determined by applying a capitalization rate to the expenditures on that asset. The capitalization rate is 
the weighted average rate of the borrowing costs applicable to the borrowings of the enterprise that are 
outstanding during the period, unless borrowings were made specifically for the purpose of obtaining the 
qualifying asset wherein that rate is used. Qualifying borrowing costs are capitalized with the relevant 
qualifying asset from the date the activities to prepare the asset are in progress and expenditures and 
borrowing costs are being incurred until the related asset is substantially ready for its intended use. 
Capitalized borrowing costs are subsequently charged to profit or loss in the period over which the asset is 
depreciated. 

(l) Foreign currency transactions 

Transactions denominated in foreign currencies are translated into Roubles at the exchange rate as of the 
transaction date. Foreign currency monetary assets and liabilities are translated into Roubles at the 
exchange rate as of the reporting date. Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, 
or on reporting the Group's monetary items at rates different from those at which they were initially 
recorded in the period, or reported in previous financial statements, are recorded as foreign currency 
exchange gains or losses in the period in which they arise. Foreign currency gains and losses are reported 
on a net basis depending on whether foreign currency movements are in a net gain or net loss position. 

 

As at December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010, the rates of exchange used for translating foreign currency 
balances were (in Russian Roubles for one unit of foreign currency): 

 2012 2011 2010 

US Dollar (USD) 30.37 32.20 30.48 

Japanese Yen (100) 35.15 41.50 37.38 

Special Drawing Rights (SDR) 46.82 49.27 46.73 

EURO (EUR) 40.23 41.67 40.33 
Source: the Central Bank of Russia 

(m) Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand, balances with banks, and highly liquid investments 
with original maturities of three months or less, with insignificant risks of diminution in value. 

(n) Deferred income taxes 

Deferred income tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary differences at the reporting 
date between the tax basis of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting 
purposes. 



OJSC Rostelecom 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
(In millions of Russian Roubles unless otherwise stated) 

 

 

 

21 

Deferred income tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable temporary differences: 

 except where the deferred income tax liability arises from goodwill or the initial recognition of an 
asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, 
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and 

 in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates and 
interests in joint ventures, except where the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference can be 
controlled and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 

Deferred income tax assets are recognized for all deductible temporary differences, carry-forward of 
unused tax credits and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be 
available against which the deductible temporary differences, carry-forward of unused tax credits and 
unused tax losses can be utilized: 

 except where the deferred income tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises 
from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination 
and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and 

 in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates 
and interests in joint ventures, deferred tax assets are only recognized to the extent that it is probable 
that the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be 
available against which the temporary difference can be utilized. 

The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the 
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the 
deferred income tax asset to be utilized. Any such previously recognized reduction is reversed to the 
extent that it becomes probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period 
when the asset will be realized or the liability settled. Tax rates are based on laws that have been enacted 
or substantively enacted at the reporting date.  

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax 
assets and liabilities, and they relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable 
entity, or on different tax entities, but they intend to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis 
or their tax assets and liabilities will be realised simultaneously. 

In accordance with the tax legislation of the Russian Federation, tax losses and current tax assets of a 
company in the Group may not be set off against taxable profits and current tax liabilities of other Group 
companies except for cases when two or more entities form the Consolidated Group of Taxpayers for the 
purposes of unified income tax declaration submission. In addition, the tax base is determined separately 
for each of the Group’s main activities and, therefore, tax losses and taxable profits related to different 
activities cannot be offset except for the abovementioned Consolidated Group of Taxpayers formation. 

(o) Revenue and operating costs recognition 

Revenue and operating costs for all services supplied and received are recognized at the time the services 
are rendered. Revenue is recognized when it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the 
transaction will flow to the entity and the amount of revenue can be reliably measured. Revenues and 
expenses are reported net of respective value added tax. 

Revenues from directly billed subscribers are recognized in the period where the services were provided 
based on the Group’s billing system’s data. Revenue from time calls and data transfer is measured 
primarily by the volume of traffic processed for the period. Revenues from subscribers billed via agents 
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are recognized in the period where the services were provided based on agent reports. 

The Group charges its subscribers throughout Russia for certain communication services based on pre-set 
tariffs regulated by the Ministry of Telecom and Mass Communications and Federal Tariff Service.  

The Group charges amounts to interconnected operators for incoming traffic and is charged by operators 
for termination. These revenues and costs are shown gross in the consolidated financial statements. 

Amounts payable to and receivable from the same operators are shown net in the consolidated 
statements of financial position when, and only when, the Group has a legal right to offset the amounts 
and intends either to settle on a net basis or to realize the asset and settle liability simultaneously. 

Revenues from the sale of transmission capacity on terrestrial and submarine cables, which relates to IRU 
under operating leases where the Group is a lessor, are recognized on a straight-line basis over the life of 
the contract. 

(p) Provisions 

Provisions are recognized when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a 
past event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to 
settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. The expense 
relating to any provision is charged in profit or loss or capitalized in an asset if it is required by IFRS. 

Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects 
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability. The 
unwinding of the discount is recognised as finance cost. 

(q) Government grants 

Government  grants are recognised initially as deferred income at fair value when there is reasonable 
assurance that they will be received and the Group will comply with the conditions associated with the 
grant, and are then recognised in profit or loss as other income on systematic basis over the useful life of 
the asset. 

Grants that compensate the Group for expenses incurred are recognized in profit or loss as other income 
on systematic basis in the periods in which the expenses are recognised. 

(r) Employee benefits 

The Group operates a defined benefit pension scheme which requires one-off contributions, representing 
the net present value of future monthly payments to employees, to be made by the Group to a separately 
administered pension fund upon employees’ dismissal. The pension fund is liable for payments to the 
retired employees.  

The Group uses the Project Unit Credit Method to determine the present value of its defined benefit 
obligations and the related current service cost and, where applicable, past service cost. 

Actuarial gains and losses are recognized as income or expense when the net cumulative unrecognized 
actuarial gains and losses for each individual plan at the end of the previous reporting period exceed 10% 
of the higher of the defined benefit obligation and the fair value of plan assets at that date. These gains or 
losses are recognized over the expected average remaining working lives of the employees participating in 
the plans. 

The Group also participates in a defined contribution plan. Contributions made by the Group on defined 
contribution plans are charged to expenses when incurred.  
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The Group accrues for the employees’ compensated absences (vacations) as the additional amount that 
the Group expects to pay as a result of the unused vacation that has accumulated at the reporting date.  

(s) Share-based payments  

The Group operates an equity-settled, share-based compensation plan, under which the Group receives 
services from employees as consideration for options for shares of the Company. The fair value of the 
employee services received in exchange for the grant of the options is recognised as an expense. The total 
amount to be expensed is determined by reference to the fair value of the options granted. 

The total expense is recognised over the vesting period, which is the period over which all of the specified 
vesting conditions are to be satisfied. At the end of each reporting period, the entity revises its estimates 
of the number of options that are expected to vest based on the non-market vesting conditions. It 
recognises the impact of the revision to original estimates, if any, in the statement of comprehensive 
income, with a corresponding adjustment to equity.  

(t) Dividends 

Dividends are recognized when the shareholder's right to receive the payment is established. Dividends in 
respect of the period covered by the financial statements that are proposed or declared after the 
reporting date but before approval of the financial statements are not recognized as a liability at the 
reporting date in accordance with IAS 10 Events After the Reporting Period.  

(u) Treasury shares 

The cost of treasury shares purchased is debited to a separate category of equity. When treasury shares 
are sold or re-issued, the amount received for the instruments is credited to this category, and any 
surpluses or deficits on sales of treasury shares are shown as an adjustment to additional paid-in capital. 
The average cost method is used to determine the cost of treasury shares sold. However, if the entity is 
able to identify the specific items sold and their costs, the specific cost is applied.  

(v) Earnings per share 

IAS 33 requires the application of the “two-class method” to determine earnings applicable to ordinary 
shareholders, the amount of which is used as a numerator to calculate earnings per ordinary share. The 
application of the “two-class method” requires that the profit or loss after deducting preferred dividends 
is allocated to ordinary shares and other participating equity instruments to the extent that each 
instrument shares in earnings as if all of the profit or loss for the period had been distributed. The total 
profit or loss allocated to each class of equity instrument is determined by adding together the amount 
allocated for dividends and the amount allocated for a participation feature. 

(w) Segment information 

An operating segment is a component of the Group that engages in business activities from which it may 
earn revenues and incur expenses, including revenues and expenses that relate to transactions with any of 
the Group’s other components. All operating segments’ operating results are reviewed regularly by the 
Management Board to make decisions about resources to be allocated to the segment and assess its 
performance, and for which discrete financial information is available. 

Segment results that are reported to the Management Board include items directly attributable to a 
segment as well as those that can be allocated on a reasonable basis.  

Segment capital expenditure is the total cost incurred during the year to acquire property, plant and 
equipment, and intangible assets other than goodwill. 
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(x) Changes in accounting policies 

The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year except that the 
Group has adopted those new/revised standards and interpretations mandatory for financial years 
beginning on January 1, 2012. The changes in accounting policies result from adoption of the following 
new or revised standards and interpretations: 

 IFRS 7 “Financial Instruments: Disclosures” (as amended in October 2010); 

 IAS 12 “Income taxes – Deferred Tax” (as amended in December 2010). 

The adoption of amended Standards did not have material impact on the Group’s results of operations, 
financial position and cash flows.  

(y) IFRSs and IFRIC interpretations not yet effective 

The following new Standards, amendments to Standards and Interpretations are not yet effective as at 
31 December 2012, and have not been applied in preparing these consolidated financial statements. The 
Group plans to adopt these pronouncements when they become effective. 

 IAS 19 (2011) Employee Benefits. The amended standard will introduce a number of significant 
changes to IAS 19. First, the corridor method is removed and, therefore, all changes in the present 
value of the defined benefit obligation and in the fair value of plan assets will be recognised 
immediately as they occur. Secondly, the amendment will eliminate the current ability for entities to 
recognise all changes in the defined benefit obligation and in plan assets in profit or loss. Thirdly, the 
expected return on plan assets recognised in profit or loss will be calculated based on the rate used to 
discount the defined benefit obligation. The amended standard shall be applied for annual periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2013 and early adoption is permitted. The amendment generally 
applies retrospectively. The Group is expecting material impact of the revised Standard on its financial 
position and performance and is still evaluating the consequences of the new Standard’s adoption. 

 IAS 27 (2011) Separate Financial Statements will become effective for annual periods beginning on or 
after 1 January 2013. The amended standard carries forward the existing accounting and disclosure 
requirements of IAS 27 (2008) for separate financial statements with some clarifications. The 
requirements of IAS 28 (2008) and IAS 31 for separate financial statements have been incorporated 
into IAS 27 (2011). The amended standard will become effective for annual periods beginning on or 
after 1 January 2013. Early adoption of IAS 27 (2011) is permitted provided the entity also early-adopts 
IFRS 10, IFRS 11, IFRS 12 and IAS 28 (2011). The new Standard will not have any impact on the Group’s 
financial position or performance. 

 IAS 28 (2011) Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures combines the requirements in IAS 28 (2008) 
and IAS 31 that were carried forward but not incorporated into IFRS 11 and IFRS 12. The amended 
standard will become effective for annual periods beginning of or after 1 January 2013 with 
retrospective application required. Early adoption of IAS 28 (2011) is permitted provided the entity 
also early-adopts IFRS 10, IFRS 11, IFRS 12 and IAS 27 (2011). The new Standard is not expected to 
have a significant effect on the consolidated financial statements of the Group. 

 IFRS 9 Financial Instruments will be effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2015. 
The new standard is to be issued in phases and is intended ultimately to replace International Financial 
Reporting Standard IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. The first phase of 
IFRS 9 was issued in November 2009 and relates to the classification and measurement of financial 
assets. The second phase regarding classification and measurement of financial liabilities was 
published in October 2010. The remaining parts of the standard are expected to be issued further on. 
The Group recognises that the new standard introduces many changes to the accounting for financial 
instruments and is likely to have a significant impact on Group’s consolidated financial statements. The 
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impact of these changes will be analysed during the course of the project as further phases of the 
standard are issued. The Group does not intend to adopt this standard early. 

 IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements will be effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 
January 2013. The new standard supersedes IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements 
and SIC-12 Consolidation – Special Purpose Entities. IFRS 10 introduces a single control model which 
includes entities that are currently within the scope of SIC-12 Consolidation – Special Purpose Entities. 
Under the new three-step control model, an investor controls an investee when it is exposed, or has 
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with that investee, has the ability to affect those 
returns through its power over that investee and there is a link between power and returns. 
Consolidation procedures are carried forward from IAS 27 (2008). When the adoption of IFRS 10 does 
not result in a change in the previous consolidation or non-consolidation of an investee, no 
adjustments to accounting are required on initial application. When the adoption results a change in 
the consolidation or non-consolidation of an investee, the new standard may be adopted with either 
full retrospective application from date that control was obtained or lost or, if not practicable, with 
limited retrospective application from the beginning of the earliest period for which the application is 
practicable, which may be the current period. Early adoption of IFRS 10 is permitted provided an entity 
also early-adopts IFRS 11, IFRS 12, IAS 27 (2011) and IAS 28 (2011). The new Standard is not expected 
to have a significant effect on the consolidated financial statements of the Group. 

 IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements will be effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013 
with retrospective application required. The new standard supersedes IAS 31 Interests in Joint 
Ventures. The main change introduced by IFRS 11 is that all joint arrangements are classified either as 
joint operations, which are consolidated on a proportionate basis, or as joint ventures, for which the 
equity method is applied. The type of arrangement is determined based on the rights and obligations 
of the parties to the arrangement arising from joint arrangement’s structure, legal form, contractual 
arrangement and other facts and circumstances. When the adoption of IFRS 11 results in a change in 
the accounting model, the change is accounted for retrospectively from the beginning of the earliest 
period presented. Under the new standard all parties to a joint arrangement are within the scope of 
IFRS 11 even if all parties do not participate in the joint control. Early adoption of IFRS 11 is permitted 
provided the entity also early-adopts IFRS 10, IFRS 12, IAS 27 (2011) and IAS 28 (2011). The new 
Standard is not expected to have a significant effect on the consolidated financial statements of the 
Group. 

 IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities will be effective for annual periods beginning on or 
after 1 January 2013. The new standard contains disclosure requirements for entities that have 
interests in subsidiaries, joint arrangements, associates and unconsolidated structured entities. 
Interests are widely defined as contractual and non-contractual involvement that exposes an entity to 
variability of returns from the performance of the other entity. The expanded and new disclosure 
requirements aim to provide information to enable the users to evaluate the nature of risks associated 
with an entity’s interests in other entities and the effects of those interests on the entity’s financial 
position, financial performance and cash flows. Entities may present some of the IFRS 12 disclosures 
early without a need to early-adopt the other new and amended standards. However, if IFRS 12 is 
early-adopted in full, then IFRS 10, IFRS 11, IAS 27 (2011) and IAS 28 (2011) must also be early-
adopted. The Group expects the new Standard will have a significant effect on the presentation and 
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements of the Group. 

 IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement will be effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 
2013. The new standard replaces the fair value measurement guidance contained in individual IFRSs 
with a single source of fair value measurement guidance. It provides a revised definition of fair value, 
establishes a framework for measuring fair value and sets out disclosure requirements for fair value 
measurements. IFRS 13 does not introduce new requirements to measure assets or liabilities at fair 
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value, nor does it eliminate the practicability exceptions to fair value measurement that currently exist 
in certain standards. The standard is applied prospectively with early adoption permitted. Comparative 
disclosure information is not required for periods before the date of initial application. The new 
Standard will not have any impact on the Group’s financial position or performance. 

 Amendment to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements: Presentation of Items of Other 
Comprehensive Income. The amendment requires that an entity present separately items of other 
comprehensive income that may be reclassified to profit or loss in the future from those that will 
never be reclassified to profit or loss. Additionally, the amendment changes the title of the statement 
of comprehensive income to statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. However, 
the use of other titles is permitted. The amendment shall be applied retrospectively to annual 
reporting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2012 and early adoption is permitted. The new 
amendment to the Standard is not expected to have a significant effect on the consolidated financial 
statements of the Group. 

 Amendments to IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures and IAS 32 Financial Instruments: 
Presentation: Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities. The amendments to IFRS 7 introduce 
additional requirements to disclose information about recognized financial instruments subject to 
enforceable master netting arrangements and similar agreements and the amendments to IAS 32 
clarify existing application issues relating to the offsetting rules and reduce the level of diversity in 
current practice. The amendments to IFRS 7 will be effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 
January 2013 and the amendments to IAS 32 will be effective for annual periods beginning on or after 
1 January 2014. Early adoption is permitted for the both Standards. The new amendments to the 
Standards are not expected to have a significant effect on the consolidated financial statements of the 
Group. 

 Amendments to IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements, IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements and IFRS 12 
Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities: Transition Guidance. The amendment comes into effect for 
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013 and provides additional transition relief by 
limiting the requirement to provide adjusted comparative information to only the preceding 
comparative period. The new amendments to the Standards are not expected to have a significant 
effect on the consolidated financial statements of the Group. 

 Amendments to IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements, IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other 
Entities and IAS 27 Separate Financial Statements: Investment Entities. The amendment comes into 
effect for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014 and provides 'investment entities' (as 
defined) an exemption from the consolidation of particular subsidiaries and instead require that an 
investment entity measure the investment in each eligible subsidiary at fair value through profit or 
loss in accordance with IFRS 9 Financial Instruments or IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and 
Measurement. The new amendments to the Standards are not expected to have any effect on the 
consolidated financial statements of the Group. 

 IFRIC 20 Stripping Costs in the Production Phase of a Surface Mine is effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2013 and provides guidance for entities with post-development phase 
surface mining activities. Under the interpretation, production stripping costs that provide access to 
ore to be mined in the future are capitalized as non-current assets if the component of the ore body 
for which access has been improved can be identified and future benefits arising from the improved 
access are both probable and reliably measurable. The interpretation also addresses how capitalized 
stripping costs should be depreciated and how capitalized amounts should be allocated between 
inventory and the stripping activity asset. The new Interpretation will not have any impact on the 
Group’s financial position or performance. 
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 Annual Improvements to IFRSs: 2009-2011 Cycle deals with non-urgent, minor amendments to various 
Standards. It incorporates amendments to five IFRSs and comes into effect for annual periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2013. The substance of those improvements is as follows:  

 Amendment to IFRS 1 permits the repeated application of IFRS 1and carrying forward previously 
capitalised borrowing costs on certain qualifying assets; 

 Amendment to IAS 1 clarifies the requirements for comparative information; 

 Amendment to IAS 16 clarifies the classification of servicing equipment; 

 Amendment to IAS 32 — clarifies that tax effect of a distribution to holders of equity instruments 
should be accounted for in accordance with IAS 12 Income Taxes; 

 Amendment to IAS 34 clarifies interim reporting of segment information for total assets in order to 
enhance consistency with the requirements in IFRS 8 Operating Segments 

The Group does not expect any material impact of the improvements on its financial position or 
performance.  

5. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS 

2012 transactions 

Acquisitions of subsidiaries 

CJSC Sky Link 

In July 2012 the Group completed the acquisition of a 100% stake in the mobile phone operator CJSC Sky 
Link. As part of the deal, LLC Mobitel, a subsidiary of Rostelecom, has acquired a 50% stake in Sky Link 
from OJSC Svyazinvest in exchange for 1.91% of Rostelecom ordinary shares or 56,287,425 shares. As a 
result, the Group’s effective ownership in Sky Link amounted to 100%. CJSC MC-Direct, a wholly-owned 
subsidiary of Sky Link, owned the remaining 50% stake in Sky Link. 

Sky Link currently owns licences in 76 Russian regions, covering over 90% of the total Russian population, 
which includes Moscow, St. Petersburg and several other major Russian cities. Sky Link’s licences enable 
the Company to provide services using CDMA-450 and UMTS-1900/2100 technologies in 65 regions, 
CDMA-450/2000 in 3 regions, GSM-1800 in 45 regions and GSM-900 in one region. The strategic 
acquisition of Sky Link enables the Group to strengthen its competitive position and increase the value of 
the Group. Sky Link is also the fourth operator which has obtained the remaining 3G frequencies available 
in Russia.  

As indicated in Note 1, the Government of the Russian Federation controls both the Company and OJSC 
Svyazinvest. Thus the Group treated the acquisition of Sky Link as business combination under common 
control. It has been accounted for by the Group as if the acquisition had occurred on 1 October 2010, the 
date when OJSC Svyazinvest obtained control over Sky Link. The financial statements for the periods 
ended 31 December 2011 and 2010 were restated accordingly. 

The following table represents the carring values of identifiable net assets of CJSC Sky Link as reported in 
the accounting of OJSC Svyazinvest as of the acquisition date (1 October 2010): 
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RUB 

Carring  value of identifiable assets and liabilities: 

 Property, plant and equipment 8,473 

Intangible assets 11,427 

Goodwill 10,653 

Investments in associates 31 

Other non-current assets 163 

Inventories 485 

Trade and other accounts  receivable 423 

Other current assets 354 

Cash and cash equivalents 54 

Deferred tax liabilities (1,998) 

Non-current loans and borrowing (12,328) 

Current loans and borrowing (5,417) 

Accounts payable, provisions and accrued expenses (2,555) 

Other current liabilities (465) 

Total net assets  9,300 

 

The difference between the cost of the acquisition (i.e., the fair value of the consideration paid by the 
Group), and the amounts at which the assets and liabilities of CJSC Sky Link have been recorded is 
recognised in equity. No additional goodwill arose in the business combination under common control. 

CJSC GNC-Alfa 

In February 2012 the Group acquired 74.98% equity interest in  CJSC GNC-Alfa from a third party Filor 
Ventures LTD. According to the share purchase agreement the purchase price consists of cash 
consideration amounted to USD 22.5 million (690) and a contingent consideration, that is the sum of Earn-
OUT-Payments  for the financial years 2012 - 2015. Earn-OUT-Payments shall be calculated in respect of 
each of Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) listed in the agreement in accordance with the specified 
formula. Fair value of Earn-OUT-Payments was calculated based on the assumption that actual KPIs will be 
equal to target KPIs. To take account of the time value of money the expected future payments were 
discounted using the discount rate, which represents the risk-free Russian government eurobonds rate, of 
5.41%. Fair value of the contingent consideration at the date of acquisition amounted to USD 4.3 million 
(139).  

GNC- Alfa is the largest independent Internet and data provider in Armenia. It operates a modern fibre-
optic network, which passes through 70% of the territory of the Republic of Armenia.  

The acquisition of GNC- Alfa is part of the Group’s international expansion policy. The acquisition of a 
control stake in GNC- Alfa provides the Group with access to a well-developed infrastructure for 
broadband and pay-TV services in the Armenian telecommunications market, a market which has a 
significant growth potential. 

The Group accounted for the acquisition of GNC-Alfa by applying the acquisition method, in accordance 
with provisions of IFRS 3 Business combinations. The results of operations and financial position of CJSC 
GNC-Alfa were consolidated by the Group starting from 1 February 2012. 

The goodwill is attributable mainly to the diversification of the activities of the Group and to the extension 
into new markets. 
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The functional currency of GNC-Alfa is the Armenian Dram (AMD), national currency of the Republic of 
Armenia. For the purpose of consolidated financial  statements of the Group the results and financial 
position of the company are translated in the presentation currency of the Group (RUB) applying the rules 
of  IAS 21 The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates. 

From the date of acquisition until 31 December 2012, GNC-Alfa has contributed  37  to the increase of net 
profit of the Group and 204  to the increase of revenue for 2012. If the combination had taken place at the 
beginning of 2012, the profit of the Group would have been 35,257 and revenue would have been 
321,275. In determining these amounts, management has assumed that the fair value adjustments that 
arose on the date of acquisition would have been the same if the acquisition had occurred on 1 January 
2012. 

LLC Enter 

In February 2012 the Group acquired 100% interest in LLC Enter, a broadband Internet services provider to 
individual subscribers in Barnaul, Novokuznetsk and Tyumen, for 305. 

The acquisition of LLC Enter reflects the Group’s strategy to increase its subscriber base and modernise its 
network infrastructure. The deal also serves as an alternative to capital expenditure in LLC Enter’s regions. 

LLC Enter’s network infrastructure was built in 2010 and it is among the most modern networks in the 
three cities it serves.  

The Group accounted for the acquisition of LLC Enter by applying the acquisition method, in accordance 
with provisions of IFRS 3 Business combinations. The results of operations and financial position of LLC 
Enter were consolidated by the Group starting from 1 April 2012. 

The goodwill is attributable mainly to the diversification of the activities of the Group and to the extension 
into new markets. 

From the date of acquisition until 31 December 2012, LLC Enter has contributed  54  to the decrease of net 
profit of the Group and 9 to the increase of revenue for 2012. If the combination had taken place at the 
beginning of 2012, the profit of the Group would have been 35,222 and revenue would have been 
321,272. In determining these amounts, management has assumed that the fair value adjustments that 
arose on the date of acquisition would have been the same if the acquisition had occurred on 1 January 
2012. 

LLC КМ Media 

In June 2012 the Group acquired 74.99% interest in LLC КМ Мedia, a software design company, for 
amount of USD 5.75 million. The acquisition of LLC КМ Мedia reflects the Group’s strategy to diversify its 
business. The Group accounted for the acquisition of LLC KM Media by applying the acquisition method, in 
accordance with provisions of IFRS 3 Business combinations. The results of operations and financial 
position of LLC KM Media were consolidated by the Group starting from 30 June 2012. 

The goodwill is attributable mainly to the diversification of the activities of the Group. 

From the date of acquisition until 31 December 2012, LLC KM Media has contributed 30 to the increase of 
net profit of the Group and 142 to the increase of revenue for 2012. If the combination had taken place at 
the beginning of 2012, the profit of the Group would have been 35,223 and revenue would not change. In 
determining these amounts, management has assumed that the fair value adjustments that arose on the 
date of acquisition would have been the same if the acquisition had occurred on 1 January 2012. 

LLC Chita-on-Line 

In August 2012 the Group acquired 100% interest in LLC Chita-on-Line from private investors. 
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Purchase price consists of a cash consideration amounted to 119 and contingent consideration 
(adjustment payment) amounted to 21. The adjustment payment was calculated on the settlement date 
of 6 February 2013 according  with the formula specified in the agreement and was taken into account in 
the calculation of goodwill at the acquisition date. 

LLC Chita-on-Line is one of the largest alternative operators in Chita. It provides FTTB and ETTH broadband 
access and pay TV services, along with other telecom services. The Group intends to take up a leading role 
on the IPTV market through this acquisition. 

The Group accounted for the acquisition of LLC Chita-on-Line  by applying the acquisition method, in 
accordance with the provisions of IFRS 3 Business combinations. The results of operations and financial 
position of Chita-on-Line were consolidated by the Group starting from 1 August 2012. 

The goodwill is attributable mainly to the diversification of the activities of the Group and to the extension 
into new markets. 

From the date of acquisition until 31 December 2012, Chita-on-Line has contributed 3 to the decrease of 
net profit of the Group and 33 to the increase of revenue for 2012. If the combination had taken place at 
the beginning of 2012, the profit of the Group would have been 35,239 and revenue would have been 
321,287. In determining these amounts, management has assumed that the fair value adjustments that 
arose on the date of acquisition would have been the same if the acquisition had occurred on 1 January 
2012. 

The following table summarizes the fair values of identifiable net assets of LLC Enter, LLC KM Media, LLC 
Chita-on-Line and CJSC GNC-Alfa as of the acquisition dates: 

 

                                                                    
LLC Enter 

 

   LLC KM Media 

    

       LLC Chita-           
on- Line 

 

CJSC GNC-Alfa   

Consideration     

Paid in cash 305 189 119 684 

Contingent consideration -                           - 21 139 

Total consideration transferred 305 189 140 823 

NCI - (3) - 56 

Fair value of identifiable assets and 
liabilities:  

   

Property, plant and equipment 152 7 28 314 

Intangible assets 30 - 18 28 

Deferred tax assets 9 - - - 

Other non- current asset - - 3 - 

Trade and other accounts  receivable   9 - 2 38 

Cash and cash equivalents 1 - 4 2 

Inventories 6 - 1 4 

Other current assets 14 37 - - 

Current loans and borrowing (51) (41) - (16) 

Accounts payable, provisions and 
accrued expenses (34) 

 

(16) 

 

(10) 

 

(72) 

Deferred tax liabilities (14) - - (53) 

Other current liabilities - - - (20) 

Total net assets  122 (13) 46 225 

Goodwill  183 199 94 654 

Costs directly attributable to 
acquisition 2 6 2 10 



OJSC Rostelecom 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
(In millions of Russian Roubles unless otherwise stated) 

 

 

 

31 

Acquisition of non-controlling interests 

In March 2012 the Group acquired an additional 28.23% interest in OJSC National Telecommunications 
from OJSC Gazprombank for 13,826, increasing its ownership to 100%. The Group recognised a decrease in 
non-controlling interests of 4,206 and a decrease  in retained earnings of 9,620. 

In June 2012 the Group acquired an additional 26% interest in OJSC Mosteleset, a subsidiary of OJSC 
National Telecommunications, from the government of Moscow for 1,800  in cash, increasing its 
ownership from 74% to 100%. The Group recognised a decrease in non-controlling interests of 3,117 and 
an increase in retained earnings of 1,317. 

The acquisition-related costs of 134 were included in other investing and financial gain in this consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income for the year ended 31 December 2012. 

2011 transactions 

Acquisitions of subsidiaries 

OJSC National Telecommunications 

In February 2011 the Group acquired 71.8% equity interest in  OJSC National Telecommunications from 
CJSC National Media Group, OJSC Surgutneftegas and Raybrook Limited. The purchase price amounted to 
USD 951 million. Further, the Group purchased promissory notes issued by OJSC National 
Telecommunications for USD 126 million from Shepton Holdings Limited. The acquisition-related costs of 
206 were included in other investing and financial gain in this consolidated statement of comprehensive 
income for the year ended 31 December 2011. 

As at the acquisition date OJSC National Telecommunications was a holding structure consisting of 42 
companies. The primary activity of the entity mainly focused on IP-television and data transmission 
services. The Group intends to take up a leading role on the IPTV market through this acquisition. The 
Group accounted for the acquisition of OJSC National Telecommunications by applying the acquisition 
method, in accordance with provisions of IFRS 3 Business combinations.   

The results of operations and financial position of OJSC National Telecommunications were consolidated 
by the Group starting from 1 February 1, 2011.  

The goodwill is attributable mainly to the diversification of the activities of the Group and to the extension 
into new markets.4 

From the date of acquisition until 31 December 2011, OJSC National Telecommunications has contributed   
0.2 to the increase of net profit of the Group and 9,170 to the increase of revenue for 2011. If the 
combination had taken place at the beginning of 2011, the profit of the Group would have been 43,260 
and revenue would have been 302,253. In determining these amounts, management has assumed that 
the fair value adjustments that arose on the date of acquisition would have been the same if the 
acquisition had occurred on 1 January 2011. 

 

CJCS Volgograd-GSM 

In August 2011, the Group acquired an additional interest of 50% in CJCS Volgograd-GSM thus obtaining 
control of 100%. The shares were acquired from SMARTS Group for cash payment of 2,322. CJCS 
Volgograd-GSM primarily provides mobile communication services.  

The Group accounted for the acquisition of Volgograd-GSM by applying the acquisition method, in 
accordance with the provisions of IFRS 3 Business combinations.  

The goodwill is attributable mainly to the diversification of activities of the Group. 
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The remeasurement to fair value of the Group’s existing interest of 50% in CJCS Volgograd-GSM resulted 
in a gain of 1,505 which has been recognised in other investing and financial gains in this consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income for the year ended 31 December 2011. 

From the date of acquisition until 31 December 2011, CJCS Volgograd-GSM has contributed 132 to the 
increase of net profit of the Group and 584 to the increase of revenue for 2011. If the combination had 
taken place at the beginning of 2011, the profit of the Group would have been 43,334 and revenue would 
have been 302,666. In determining these amounts, management has assumed that the fair value 
adjustments that arose on the date of acquisition would have been the same if the acquisition had 
occurred on 1 January 

2011. 

The following table summarizes the fair values of identifiable net assets of OJSC NTC and CJSC Volgograd - 
GSM as of the acquisition dates: 

 

 OJSC NTC CJSC Volgograd-GSM Total 

Consideration  

  Paid in cash 27,907 2,322 30,229 

Promissory notes 3,688 - 3,688 

Total consideration transferred 31,595 2,322 33,917 

NCI 8,465 - 8,465 

Deferred consideration - 23 23 

Investment in associate before the acquisition - 817 817 

Fair value revaluation of previously acquired 
share - 1,505 1,505 

    Fair value of identifiable assets and liabilities: 

   Property, plant and equipment 7,959 2,817 10,776 

Intangible assets 16,867 1,250 18,117 

Deferred tax assets 451 7 458 

Other non-current assets 99 - 99 

Non-current financial assets 1 4 5 

Trade and other accounts  receivable 2,368 147 2,515 

Cash and cash equivalents 1,628 8 1,636 

Current investments 1,808 - 1,808 

Inventories 208 43 251 

Non-current loans and borrowings (2) (131) (133) 

Current loans and borrowings  (2,471) (90) (2,561) 

Accounts payable, provisions and accrued 
expenses (1,899) (190) (2,089) 

Deferred tax liabilities (3,912) (479) (4,391) 

Total net assets 23,105 3,386 26,491 

Goodwill  16,955 1,281 18,236 

Costs directly attributable to acquisition 206 3 209 

Acquisition of non-controlling interests 

In September 2011 the Group acquired an additional 49% interest in CJCS Orenburg-GSM from SMARTS 
Group for USD 4 million (116) in cash, increasing its ownership from 51% to 100%. The Group recognised a 
decrease in non-controlling interests of 32 and a decrease in retained earnings of 84. 

In April 2011 the Group acquired an additional 49% interest in CJCS STS from MELVOND HOLDINGS 
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LIMITED for cash payment of 250, increasing its ownership from 51% to 100%. The Group recognised a 
decrease in non-controlling interests of 180 and a decrease in retained earnings of 70. 

2010 transactions 

Acquisitions of subsidiaries 

In June 2010, OJSC Volgatelecom acquired 98.19% of ordinary shares in Teleset Networks Public Company 
Limited for 4,283 and obtained control over this entity. Teleset Networks Public Company primarily 
provides local fixed line communication services in Tatarstan and Ulyanovsk region. 

In December 2010, OJSC North-West Telecom acquired 100% of ordinary shares in CJSC Severen-
Telecom’s ordinary voting shares for 863 and obtained control over this entity. CJSC Severen-Telecom 
provides various telecom services in Saint-Petersburg. 

The Group accounted for the acquisition of these entities by applying the acquisition method, in 
accordance with the provisions of IFRS 3 Business combinations.  

The following table summarizes the fair values of identifiable net assets of Teleset Network Public 
Company Limited and CJSC Severen-Telecom as of the acquisition dates: 

 

Severen Telecom 
Teleset Networks Public 

Company Limited Total 

Consideration  

  Paid in cash 863  4,283  5,146  

Total consideration transferred 863  4,283  5,146  

NCI - 48 48 

Fair value of identifiable assets and liabilities: 

   Property, plant and equipment 259  2,228  2,487  

Intangible assets 206  714  920  

Other non-current assets 19  10  29  

Non-current investments - 1 1  

Trade and other accounts receivable 55 169 224  

Cash and cash equivalents 1  597  598  

Other current assets  - 128  128  

Non-current liabilities (48)  (391)  (439) 

Current liabilities (61) (319) (380) 

Deferred tax liabilities - (322) (322) 

Non-controlling interests - (164) (164) 

Total net assets 431 2,651  3,082  

Goodwill  432  1,680  2,112  

Costs directly attributable to acquisition - - - 

The goodwill is attributable mainly to the expected expansion of new and existing services in the 
potentially lucrative regions. 

From the date of acquisition until 31 December 2010 Teleset Networks Public Company Limited has 
contributed 443 to the increase of net profit of the Group and 612 to the increase of revenue for 2010. 
Financial results of CJSC Severen-Telecom from the date of its acquisition, 21 December 2010, until the 
end of year were not included in the Group’s financial results as immaterial. 

If the combinations had taken place at the beginning of 2010, the profit of the Group would have been 
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30,856 and revenue would have been 278,569. In determining these amounts, management has assumed 
that the fair value adjustments that arose on the date of acquisition would have been the same if the 
acquisition had occurred on 1 January 2010. 
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6. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 

 

The net book value of property, plant and equipment as at 31 December 2012, 2011 and 2010 was as 
follows: 

 

 Buildings 
and site 
services 

Cable and 
transmission 

devices Other 
Construction in 

progress Total 

Cost/Deemed cost      
At 1 January 2010 201,323 292,049 71,068 13,252 577,692 

Additions 267 747 426 54,440 55,880 

Acquisition through business combination 1,707 6,517 836 1,900 10,960 

Transfer 15,370 26,121 8,676 (50,167) - 

Disposals (2,283) (11,270) (3,203) (717) (17,473) 

Reclassification 446 (1,688) 1,194 2 (46) 

At 31 December 2010 216,830 312,476 78,997 18,710 627,013 

      At 1 January 2011 216,830 312,476 78,997 18,710 627,013 

Additions 201 1,242 3,327 65,067 69,837 

Reclassification from investment 
 property and assets held for sale 

262 121 - - 383 

Acquisition through business combination 1,270 8,079 525 902 10,776 

Transfer 16,909 37,651 6,509 (61,069) - 

Disposals (3,826) (7,772) (4,789) (794) (17,181) 

Reclassification (12,117) 20,044 (8,639) 712 - 

At 31 December 2011 219,529 371,841 75,930 23,528 690,828 

      At 1 January 2012 219,529 371,841 75,930 23,528 690,828 

Additions 78 5,926 2,446 100,555 109,005 

Reclassification from investment 
 property and assets held for sale 

1,465 (7) 45 58 1,561 

Acquisition through business combination 8 454 29 10 501 

Transfer 13,231 38,527 8,488 (60,246) - 

Disposals (4,093) (6,157) (1,292) (951) (12,493) 

Foreign exchange - (43) (2) (4) (49) 

Reclassification (62,305) 55,707 6,574 24 - 

At 31 December 2012 167,913 466,248 92,218 62,974 789,353 
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 Buildings 
and site 
services 

Cable and 
transmission 

devices Other 
Construction in 

progress Total 

Accumulated amortization  
and impairment losses 

     

      At 1 January 2010 (82,131) (152,405) (49,287) (372) (284,195) 

Depreciation expense (11,360) (26,424) (9,637) - (47,421) 

Impairment losses (233) (22) 3 38 (214) 

Disposals 1,825 10,006 3,009 - 14,840 

Reclassification (186) (145) 179 152 - 

At 31 December 2010 (92,085) (168,990) (55,733) (182) (316,990) 

      At 1 January 2011 (92,085) (168,990) (55,733) (182) (316,990) 

Depreciation expense (9,675) (32,902) (9,993) - (52,570) 

Reclassification from investment property 
and assets held for sale 

(119) (61) - - (180) 

Impairment losses (1) (111) (1) (153) (266) 

Disposals 2,882 6,723 4,778 - 14,383 

Reclassification (9,324) 3,351 5,970 3 - 

At 31 December 2011 (108,322) (191,990) (54,979) (332) (355,623) 

      At 1 January 2012 (108,322) (191,990) (54,979) (332) (355,623) 

Depreciation expense (8,842) (36,016) (9,838) - (54,696) 

Reclassification from investment property 
and assets held for sale 

(1,086) 20 (38) - (1,104) 

Impairment losses (57) 96 (40) (1,391) (1,392) 

Disposals 3,211 5,186 1,028 30 9,455 

Foreign exchange - 1 - - 1 

Reclassification 33,298 (29,987) (3,316) 5 - 

At 31 December 2012 (81,798) (252,690) (67,183) (1,688) (403,359) 

      Net book value      
At 31 December 2010 124,745 143,486 23,264 18,528 310,023 

At 31 December 2011 111,207 179,851 20,951 23,196 335,205 

At 31 December 2012 86,115 213,558 25,035 61,286 385,994 

For the purposes of consistent classification of similar item of property, plant and equipment the Group 
made reclassification as at 31 December 2012, 2011 and 2010. 

At 31 December 2012, 2011 and 2010 cost of fully depreciated property, plant and equipment was 
155,128, 134,392 and 120,414 respectively. 

Interest capitalization 

Interest amounting to 1,462, 948 and 563 was capitalized in property, plant and equipment for the years 
ended 31 December 2012, 2011 and 2010 respectively. The capitalization rate used to determine the 
amount of borrowing costs eligible for capitalization is 7.88%, 7.50% and 9.48% for the years ended 31 
December 2012, 2011 and 2010 respectively. 

Pledged property, plant and equipment  

Property, plant and equipment with a carrying value of 1,286,  2,827 and 10,605 was pledged in relation to 
loan agreements entered into by the Group as at 31 December 2012, 2011 and 2010 respectively. 
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Leased property, plant and equipment 

As at 31 December 2012, 2011 and 2010 net book value of leased property, plant and equipment 
comprised:  

 
31 December 

2012 
31 December 

2011 
31 December 

2010 

Buildings and constructions 518 1,107 1,629 

Switches and transmission devices 2,265 3,533 7,239 

Vehicles and other property, plant and equipment 888 657 1,348 

Construction in progress 87 13 17 

Total net book value of leased property, plant and equipment 3,758 5,310 10,233 

Impairment of property, plant and equipment 

As at 31 December 2012, 2011 and 2010 the Group conducted impairment testing of its property, plant, 
equipment, to identify possible irrecoverability of the assets. The Group assessed the recoverable amount 
of the assets for which estimation on individual basis is impossible within respective CGU. The Group 
defines CGUs as regional branches (in case of Rostelecom), legal entities or group of legal entities (in case 
of subsidiaries).  

The recoverable amount of each CGU is determined by estimating its value in use. Value in use calculation 
uses cash-flow projections based on actual and budgeted financial information approved by management 
and a discount rate which reflects time value of money and risks associated with each individual CGU. Key 
assumptions management used in the calculation of value in use are as follows:  

 discount rates are estimated in nominal terms as the weighted average cost of capital on pre tax basis 
and varies from 15.01% to 22.39% per CGU; 

 OIBDA margin are based on historical actual results and varies from 13.99% to 54.23% per CGU; 

 for all CGUs cash flow projections cover the period of five years, cash flows beyond five-year period 
are extrapolated using growth rate of 2% for each CGU. 

For individual items of construction in progress for which the Group has no intention to complete and use 
or sell them impairment loss recognised in the amount of their carrying value. 

2012 impairment testing  

As a result of impairment testing  loss of 715 was recognised in respect of corporate assets included in 
construction in progress. Impairment loss are included in the line Depreciation, amortisation and 
impairment losses in the statement of comprehensive income. 

2011 impairment testing  

Impairment loss of property, plant and equipment in the amount of 113 (CGU regional branch Ural) and 
construction in progress of 150 were recognised as a result of impairment testing. Impairment losses are 
included in the line Depreciation, amortisation and impairment losses in the statement of comprehensive 
income. 

2010 impairment testing  

As a result of the impairment testing performed as at 31 December 2010, for certain CGUs the Group 
recognized an impairment loss of property, plant and equipment: Sibirtelecom (64), Uralsvyazinform 
(293), and reversal of impairment loss of property, plant and equipment: Rostelecom (93) and Southern 
Telecommunications Company (50). 
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7. GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS 

The net book value of goodwill and other intangible assets as at 31 December 2012, 2011 and 2010 was as 
follows: 

 Goodwill 
Number 
capacity 

Trade-
marks 

Computer 
software 

Customer 
list Licences Other Total 

Cost          
         

At 1 January 2010 6,105 578 371 35,866 1,557 1,502 868 46,847 

Additions - 11 - 3,182 - 80 508 3,781 

Acquisition through 
business combination 12,765 4 143 201 1,924 9,869 206 25,112 

Disposals (35) (4) (57) (1,058) - (7) (95) (1,256) 

Reclassification  (1) (1) 133 (169) (27) (43) 108 - 

At 31 December 2010 18,834 588 590 38,022 3,454 11,401 1,595 74,484 
         

At 1 January 2011 18,834 588 590 38,022 3,454 11,401 1,595 74,484 

Additions from internal 
developmet - - - 536 - - - 536 

Other additions - 7 26 4,391 15 221 579 5,239 

Acquisition through 
business combination 18,236 310 263 124 13,157 217 4,046 36,353 

Disposals (84) (1) (24) (4,007) (4) (373) (229) (4,722) 

Reclassification  49 - (114) 381 105 (83) (362) (24) 

At 31 December 2011 37,035 904 741 39,447 16,727 11,383 5,629 111,866 

         
At 1 January 2012 37,035 904 741 39,447 16,727 11,383 5,629 111,866 

Additions from internal 
developmet - - - 921 - - - 921 

Other additions - - - 4,924 - 216 1,524 6,664 

Acquisition through 
business combination 1,130 - 2 1 64 - 9 1,206 

Disposals (1) - (3) (5,144) - (197) (89) (5,434) 

Reclassification  - - (80) 11 - (160) 229 - 

Foreign exchange (65) - - - (2) - - (67) 

At 31 December 2012 38,099 904 660 40,160 16,789 11,242 7,302 115,156 
         

Accumulated amortization and impairment losses 

         
At 1 January 2010 (1,613) (149) (274) (10,850) (351) (707) (280) (14,224) 

Amortization expense - (19) (36) (3,736) (148) (395) (244) (4,578) 

Disposals 35 4 55 614 - 8 24 740 

Impairment losses - (1) - (4,402) - - (1) (4,404) 

Reclassification  - - - 88 - - (88) - 

At 31 December 2010 (1,578) (165) (255) (18,286) (499) (1,094) (588) (22,466) 

         
At 1 January 2011 (1,578) (165) (255) (18,286) (499) (1,094) (588) (22,466) 

Amortization expense - (28) (132) (4,752) (1,150) (1,158) (772) (7,992) 

Disposals 84 - 2 3,634 - 209 223 4,152 

Impairment losses (197) - - (11) - - (5) (213) 

Reversal of impairment 
losses - - - 3,566 - - - 3,566 

Reclassification  - 1 (8) (59) 31 64 (5) 24 

At 31 December 2011 (1,691) (192) (393) (15,908) (1,618) (1,979) (1,148) (22,929) 
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 Goodwill 
Number 
capacity 

Trade-
marks 

Computer 
software 

Customer 
list Licences Other Total 

At 1 January 2012 (1,691) (192) (393) (15,908) (1,618) (1,979) (1,148) (22,929) 

Amortization expense - (9) (107) (4,541) (1,260) (1,129) (1,317) (8,363) 

Disposals - - - 3,987 - 176 22 4,185 

Impairment losses - - - (274) - - (5) (279) 

Reversal of impairment 
losses - - - 60 - - - 60 

Reclassification  - - 34 (15) 4 (107) 84 - 

At 31 December 2012 (1,691) (201) (466) (16,691) (2,874) (3,039) (2,364) (27,326) 

         
Net book value          
At 31 December 2010 17,256 423 335 19,736 2,954 10,307 1,007 52,018 

At 31 December 2011 35,344 712 348 23,539 15,109 9,404 4,482 88,937 

At 31 December 2012  36,408     703     194     23,469     13,915     8,203     4,938    87,830 

Interest amounting to 130, 172 and 12 was capitalized in intangible assets for the years ended 31 
December 2012, 2011 and 2010, respectively. 

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives and Goodwill 

The owned number capacity with a carrying amount of 694 (2011: 697, 2010: 402) are intangible assets 
with indefinite useful lives and are not amortized. These assets have no legal restrictions on the term of 
their use and the Group can derive economic benefits from their use indefinitely. These assets are tested 
for impairment annually or more frequently if there is an indication that the intangible assets may be 
impaired. 

During 2012 the Group concluded contracts under the investment programme subject of which was 
research and development. Main area of research is development of software, hardware, clouds models, 
which may be used as a standard solution on promotion of the services provided by the Group to 
government and private customers.  

The aggregate amount of research and development expenditure recognized as an expense is 0 (2011:71; 
2010:0). 

The Group, on an annual basis, performs testing for impairment of goodwill and intangible assets with 
indefinite lives. 

At each reporting date the Group performs impairment testing of goodwill allocated to CGUs that were 
acquired upon business combinations. Principal approaches which were used to determine value in use of 
cash-generating units, to which goodwill has been allocated, are disclosed in Note 6. 

Carrying amount of goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are represented in the table 
below:  
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CGU 

31 December 2012 31 December 2011 31 December 2010 

Goodwill 
before 

impairment 
loss  

Intangible 
assets with 
indefinite 

useful lives 
before 

impairment 
loss  

Goodwill 
before 

impairment 
loss  

Intangible 
assets with 
indefinite 

useful lives 
before 

impairment 
loss  

Goodwill 
before 

impairment 
loss  

Intangible 
assets with 
indefinite 

useful lives 
before 

impairment 
loss  

Natsionalnye 
telecommunikatsii 16,955 290 16,955 290 - - 

Skylink 10,653 - 10,653 - 10,653 - 

Volgograd GSM 1,280 20 1,280 20 - - 

Nizchegorodskaya 
sotovaya sviaz 1,076 - 1,076 - 1,076 - 

MRF Dalniy Vostok 1,068 - 973 - 973 - 

Rostelecom 
International (former 
Teleset Networks Public 
Company Limited)  934 - 1,680 - 1,680 - 

MRF Severo-Zapad 911  911  911  

MRF Volga 811 - 210 - 210 - 

Globus Telecom 636 359 636 359 636 359 

RTComm.RU 596 - 596 - 596 - 

GNC Alfa 589 - - - - - 

Severen telecom 432 - 432 - 432 - 

MRF Sibir 183 - - - - - 

Other 284 28 138 28 89 43 

Total 36,408 697 35,540 697 17,256 402 

As a result of impairment testing no loss was recognised in 2012 (2011:197; 2010:nil). 

Discount rate and operating income before amortization and depreciation (OIBDA) margin are the key 
assumptions to which calculations of value in use of CGUs with goodwill and indefinite useful life 
intangible assets allocated to are the most sensitive. Management approach to gross margin projection is 
based on historical actual results and growth rate forecasts which correlates to industry growth rate. 

The table below demonstrates the sensitivity analysis of impairment, the effect of a reasonably possible 
change in  key assumptions on which determination of CGU recoverable amount  is based in case such 
change resulted in impairment loss as at 31 December 2012: 

CGU 
Increase in 

discount rate 
Impairment 

loss 

Increase in 
discount rate 

which resulted in 
equality of 

recoverable and 
carrying amount 

Decrease of 
OIBDA 
margin Impairment loss 

Decrease in  
OIBDA margin 
which resulted 
of recoverable 

amount is 
equal to 
carrying 
amount 

Rostelecom 
International (former 
Teleset Networks 
Public Company 
Limited) 0.50%    (52) 0.36% 5% (368) 1.32% 

Volgograd GSM 1.00% (125) 0.72% 5% (458)    2.17% 

Nizchegorodskaya 1.50% (321) 1.12% 5% (2,115)    1.67% 
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sotovaya sviaz 

Globus Telecom 1.00% (66) 0.49% 5% (363)    0.70% 

GNC Alfa 0.50% (25)    0.16% 5% (151)    0.36% 

 

Impairment Testing of Other Intangible Assets  

At each reporting date the Group performs impairment testing of intangible assets not yet available for 
use and intangible assets with indefinite useful lives. Principal approaches and assumptions which were 
used to determine value in use of cash-generating units, to which these intangible assets belong, are 
disclosed in Note 6.  

2012 impairment testing 

As at 31 December 2012 no impairment loss in respect of other intangible assets were recognised. 

2011 impairment testing 

As at 31 December 2010 impairment loss on billing system Amdocs was recognized due to the absence of 
intentions to implement and use it. However, in 2011 management approved the decision to implement 
customer relations management system (further – CRM) on Amdocs platform. According to the agreement 
with vendor of software billing system licenses were converted into CRM licenses. As a result, previously 
recognized loss in respect of licenses amounting to 3,419 was reversed in the statement of comprehensive 
income for 2011 and recognised in the line Depreciation, amortisation and impairment losses. 

2010 impairment testing  

As a result of the impairment testing performed as at 31 December 2010, the Group recognized 
impairment losses on intangible assets (including on Amdocs): Rostelecom (1,080), Volgatelecom (1,044), 
Southern Telecommunications Company (828), North-West Telecom (628), CenterTelecom (356), 
Sibirtelecom (348) and Far East Telecom (120). 
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8. SUBSIDIARIES 

These consolidated financial statements include the assets, liabilities and results of operations of the 
following significant subsidiaries:  

  
Effective share of the Group as at       31 

December 

Subsidiary Main activity 2012 2011 2010 

     
CJSC MTs NTT  Communication services (fixed line) 100% 100% 100% 

CJSC Westelcom  Leasing of equipment 100% 100% 100% 

CJSC Zebra Telecom  Communication services 100% 100% 100% 

OJSC RTComm.RU Communication services (internet) 99.51% 99.51% 99.51% 

OJSC RTS Communication services 100% 100% 100% 

LLC GTS Communication services - - 100% 

CJSC NSS Communication services (mobile) 100% 100% 100% 

OJSC Stavtelecom Communication services - - 100% 

LLC Uzhno-Uralskaya telefonnaya 
compania Communication services 100% 100% 100% 

CJSC Baikalwestcom Communication services (mobile) 100% 100% 100% 

CJSC Yenisey telecom  Communication services (mobile) 100% 100% 100% 

CJSC Akos Communication services (mobile) 94.45% 94.45% 94.45% 

CJSC Novocom Communication services (internet) - - 100% 

CJSC Globus-Telecom Communication services 94.92% 94.92% 94.92% 

CJSC GlobalTel Communication services 51% 51% 51% 

OJSC National Telecommunications Communication services (pay TV) 100% 71.8% - 

LLC Mobitel Investment company 99.99% 99.99% - 

CJSC Volgograd-GSM Communication services (mobile) 100% 100% 50% 

CJSC Orenburg-GSM Communication services (mobile) - 100% 51% 

CJSC Severen-Telecom  Communication services 100% 100% 100% 

CJSC GNC Alfa Communication services 74.98% - - 

OJSC Mosteleset Communication services (pay TV) 100% 74% 74% 

CJSC Chita-Online Communication services (internet) 100% - - 

CJSC Sky Link Communication services (mobile) 100% 100% 100% 

CJSC MS-Direct Communication services (mobile) 100% 100% 100% 

CJSC Delta telecom Communication services (mobile) 100% 100% 100% 

OJSC Moscovskaya sotovaya svyaz Communication services (mobile) 100% 100% 100% 

     
OJSC OK Orbita Recreational services 100% 100% 100% 

CJSC RPK Svyazist Recreational services 100% 100% 100% 

CJSC BIT Communication services (mobile) 100% 100% 100% 

Rostelecom International (former 
Teleset Networks Public Company 
Limited) Communication services 100% 100% 100% 

LLC Enter Communication services (internet) 100% - - 

LLC KM Media IT consulting 74.99 - - 

OJSC Svyazintek IT consulting 98% 98% 98% 

All the above entities have the same reporting date as the Group. 

All significant subsidiaries, except for Rostelecom International, are incorporated in Russia. Rostelecom 
International is incorporated in Cyprus. 

In 2012 CJSC Orenburg-GSM was merged with CJSC NSS. In 2011 the Group increased its share in CJSC 
Orenburg-GSM from 51% to 100%. Additional shares were bought for cash payment of 116 from OJSC 
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Srednevolzhskaya mezhregionalnaya assotsiatsia radiotelecommunicatsionnih system. 

In 2012 the Group increased its share in OJSC Mosteleset from 74% to 100%. Additional shares were 
bought for cash payment of 1,800 from government of Moscow. 

In March 2012 the Group increased its share in OJSC National Telecommunications from 71.8% to 100%. 
Additional shares were bought for cash payment of 13,826 from OJSC Gazprombank. In February 2011 the 
Group acquired 71.8% equity interest in OJSC National Telecommunications from CJSC National Media 
Group, OJSC Surgutneftegaz and Raybrook Limited. The purchase price amounted to USD 951 million. 

In August 2011 the Group increased its share in CJSC Volgograd-GSM from 50% to 100%. Additional shares 
were bought for cash payment of 2,322 from Bolaro Holdings ltd, CJSC Info-Telecom and OJSC SMARTS. 

OJSC Stavtelecom, LLC GTS and CJSC Novocom were liquidated during 2011. 

9. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES 

Investments in associates as at 31 December 2012, 2011 and 2010 were as follows: 

Associate Main activity 

Voting share 
capital,  

% 

2012 
Carrying 
amount 

2011 
Carrying 
amount 

2010 
Carrying 
amount 

OJSC Svyazinvest Investments 25.00 32,209 30,265 26,423 

OJSC Bashinformsvyaz Communication services 
41.42  

(2011: 40.16) 4,394 3,820 -  

CJSC Volgograd-GSM 
Mobile communication 
services 100.00 - - 695 

CJSC Samara Telecom Communication services 27.78 159 147 144 
OJSC MMTS-9 Communication services 49.14 347 260 186 
OJSC WestBalt Telecom Communication services 38.00 131 127 87 
OJSC Vostoktelecom Communication services 25.00 77 75 65 
Other Various - 72 52 58 

Total investments in associates 37,389 34,746 27,658 

In September 2010, the Group acquired 25% plus one share of OJSC Svyazinvest for a cash payment of 
26,000.  

The acquisition of interest in OJSC Svyazinvest resulted in a crossholding because OJSC Svyazinvest is the 
Company’s parent. The Company is the main subsidiary of OJSC Svyazinvest and represents the major part 
of OJSC Svyazinvest group. The investment in OJSC Svyazinvest is accounted for using the equity method 
applicable for crossholding structures. 

In March 2012 the decision about the merger of OJSC Svyazinvest and the Company was approved by the 
President of Russian Federation. The crossholding with OJSC Svyazinvest will be eliminated which will 
result in reduction of the Group’s equity by the amount of the difference of the Group’s investment in 
OJSC Svyazinvest and the carrying value of OAO Svyazinvest’s assets other than its investment in the 
Company. The timing of the transaction will be determined by a specific decision of the Government. At 
the date of these financial statements are authorised for issuance no decision on the timing was made. 

In December 2012 the Group acquired 140,315,416 ordinary shares of OJSC Svyazinvest through additional 
issue of shares of OJSC Svyazinvest. (25% of the issue). The purchase price amounted to 1,720.  

In December 2012 the Group made an offer to shareholders of OJSC Bashinformsvyaz to buy ordinary 
shares at the fix price of 11.42499 Rubles per share. In December 2012 the Group increased its share in 
OJSC Bashinformsvyaz to 41.42%. The purchase price amounted to 168. 

In June 2011 the Group acquired 38.78 % equity interest (40.16% of voting share capital) in OJSC 
Bashinformsvyaz from LLC Bashtelecominvest.  The purchase price amounted to 3,640. 
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Summarized financial information as at 31 December 2012, 2011 and 2010 and for the years then ended 
of the associates is presented below: 

Aggregate amounts 2012 2011 2010 

Assets 583,881 513,471 425,728 

Liabilities 334,577 271,187 236,599 

Revenue 333,036 304,006 282,241 

Net income 14,892 17,187 27,969 

None of the Group’s associates are publicly listed entities and consequently do not have published price 
quotations, except for OJSC Bashinformsvyaz, which is listed on Moscow exchange. Based on its closing 
bid price of 10.5 Roubles at the reporting date, (12.48 at 31 December 2011), the fair value of the Group’s 
investment is 4,127 (4,722 at 31 December 2011). In 2012 the Group received dividends from its 
investments in equity accounted investees in the amount of 820 (2011: 182, 2010: 151). 

10. OTHER INVESTMENTS 

 
31 December 

2012 
31 December 

2011 
31 December 

2010 

Non-current investments    
Available-for-sale financial assets 2,380 3,558 916 

Loans and receivables 118 77 61 

Total other non-current investments 2,498 3,635 977 

Current investments    
Available-for-sale financial assets 6 - 144 

Loans and receivables 946 3,926 5,438 

Total other current investments 952 3,926 5,582 

Total other investments  3,450 7,561 6,559 

The Group’s exposure to credit, currency and interest rate risks and fair value information related to other 
investments is disclosed in Note 31. 

11. OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS 

 
31 December 

2012 
31 December 

2011 
31 December 

2010 

Non-current advances, given for investing activities 4,481 12,565 3,083 

Non-current advances, given for operating activities 398 258 221 

Non-current receivables 626 816 260 

Other non-current assets - 37 11 

Less: doubtful debt allowance (92) (114) (47) 

Total other non-current assets 5,413 13,562 3,528 

12. INVENTORIES 

 
31 December 

2012 
31 December 

2011 
31 December 

2010 

Cable         832 857 885 

Finished goods and goods for resale           521            657 995 

Spare parts           729           951 841 

Tools and accessories           211  192           158 

Construction materials  87   74           212 

Fuel 157           164 127 
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Other inventory        1,997        1,868        1,497 

Total inventories 4,534 4,763 4,715 

13. TRADE AND OTHER ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE 

Trade and other accounts receivable as at 31 December 2012 and 2011, 2010 comprised of the following: 

 

Gross, 

31 December 
2012 

Doubtful 
debt 

allowance 

Net, 
31 December 

2012 

Amounts due from customers for operating activities 33,517 (4,849) 28,668 

Amounts due from customers for non-operating activities 3,302 (746) 2,556 

Amounts due from commissioners and agents 2,005 - 2,005 

Amounts due from personnel 146 - 146 

Amounts due from other debtors 1,095 (478) 617 

Total trade and other accounts receivable  40,065 (6,073) 33,992 

 

 

Gross, 

31 December 
2011 

Doubtful 
debt 

allowance 

Net, 
31 December 

2011 

Amounts due from customers for operating activities 28,511 (4,666) 23,845 

Amounts due from customers for non-operating activities 2,639 (718) 1,921 

Amounts due from commissioners and agents 1,624 - 1,624 

Amounts due from personnel 90 - 90 

Amounts due from other debtors 1,684 (374) 1,310 

Total trade and other accounts receivable 34,548 (5,758) 28,790 

 

Gross, 

31 December 
2010 

Doubtful  

debt 
allowance 

Net, 
31 December 

2010 

Amounts due from customers for operating activities 27,836 (5,161) 22,675 

Amounts due from customers for non-operating activities 2,156 (961) 1,195 

Amounts due from commissioners and agents 1,122 -  1,122 

Amounts due from personnel 153 -  153 

Amounts due from other debtors 1,181 (446) 735 

Total trade and other accounts receivable 32,448 (6,568) 25,880 

As at 31 December 2012, 2011 and 2010 settlements with customers for operating activities included 
settlements with the following counterparties: 

 
31 December 

2012 
31 December 

2011 
31 December 

2010 

Residential customers 13,032   13,312 12,311 

Corporate customers 4,909  5,047 4,299 

Governmental customers 9,375  5,378 5,640 

Interconnected operators - domestic 4,488  3,354 4,269 

Interconnected operators - international 1,713 1,420 1,314 

Social security bodies -  - 3 

Less: doubtful debt allowance (4,849)  (4,666)  (5,161) 

Total accounts receivable due from customers for operating 
activities 28,668  23,845 22,675 
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Based on historic default rates, management believes that trade and other receivables are adequately 
provided. 

As at 31 December 2012, 2011 and 2010 the share of accounts receivable that are past due but not 
impaired amounted to approximately nil, nil and 4% of the Group’s total accounts receivable, respectively. 

The following table summarizes the changes in the allowance for doubtful accounts receivable, advances 
and other assets for the years ended 31 December 2012, 2011 and 2010: 
 2012 2011 2010 

Balance, beginning of year (5,993) (6,711) (6,064) 

Bad debt expense (1,318) (572) (736) 

Acquisition through business combinations - (299) (914) 

Accounts receivable written-off 1,007 1,589 1,003 

Balance, end of year (6,304) (5,993) (6,711) 

As at 31 December 2012, 2011 and 2010 amounts due from other debtors include finance lease 
receivables of 179, 180 and 151, respectively.   

Finance income for the years ended 31 December 2012, 2011 and 2010 amounted to 46, 44 and 81, 
respectively, and are included in other investing and financial gain in these consolidated statements of 
comprehensive income. 

Future minimum lease payments together with the present value of the net minimum lease payments as 
at 31 December 2012, 2011 and 2010 are as follows: 

 31 December 2012 

 

Gross  
investments  

in lease 

Present value of 
minimum lease 

payments 

Current portion (less than 1 year) 48 3 

More than 1 to 5 years 191 21 

Over 5 years 370 155 

Total 609 179 

 

 31 December 2011 

 

Gross 
 investments 

 in lease 

Present value of 
minimum lease 

payments 

Current portion (less than 1 year) 47 2 

More than 1 to 5 years 191 16 

Over 5 years 415 162 

Total 653 180 

 

 31 December 2010 

 

Gross investments 
 in lease 

Present value of 
minimum lease 

payments 

Current portion (less than 1 year) 39 2 

More than 1 to 5 years 156 12 

Over 5 years 336 137 

Total 531 151 
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14. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

Cash and cash equivalents as at 31 December 2012, 2011 and 2010 included cash in bank, cash in-hand, 
short-term deposits and bills of exchange with original maturities of less than three months as follows: 

 
31 December 

2012 
31 December 

2011 
31 December 

2010 

Cash in bank and in-hand 9,573 4,731 11,588 

Short-term deposits and promissory notes up to 3 months 707 2,468 1,100 

Other cash and cash equivalents 90 181 6 

Total cash and cash equivalents 10,370 7,380 12,694 

15. OTHER CURRENT ASSETS 

 
31 December 

2012 
31 December 

2011 
31 December 

2010 

Deferred expenses 15 82 311 

VAT recoverable 773 700 478 

Assets held for sale 401 261 164 

Other current assets 100 281 296 

Less: doubtful debt allowance (31) (56) (33) 

Total other current assets 1,258 1,268 1,216 

16. EQUITY 

The nominal share capital of the Company recorded on its incorporation has been indexed, to account for 
the effects of hyperinflation from that date through 31 December 2002. The share capital of the Company 
in the Russian statutory accounts at 31 December 2012 and 2011 amounted to 7,965,224 nominal 
(uninflated) RUB (2010:  2,428,819). 

The authorized share capital of the Company as at 31 December 2012, 2011 and 2010 comprised 
6,628,696,320 ordinary shares and 242,832,000 non-redeemable preferred shares. The par value of both 
ordinary and preferred shares amounted to RUB 0.0025 per share. 

On the 2010 Annual General Meeting, the shareholders of OJSC Rostelecom resolved to increase the 
number of shares available for additional issue to 5,900,000,000 ordinary shares with par value of RUB 
0.0025 with the same rights as previously issued ordinary shares. Of them 2,214,561,949 ordinary shares 
were issued on 1 April 2011 to the shareholders of IRCs and OJSC Dagsvyazinform as part of the merger. 

As at 31 December 2012 and 31 December 2011 the issued share capital of the Company was as follows: 

Type of shares 
Number of shares 

issued 

Total 

par value 

Carrying 

value 

Ordinary Shares, RUB 0.0025 par value 2,943,258,269 7.358 81 
Preferred Shares, RUB 0.0025 par value 242,831,469 0.607 25 

Total  3,186,089,738 7.965 106 

As at 31 December 2010 the issued share capital of the Company was as follows: 

Type of shares 

 
Number of shares 

issued 

Total 

par value 

Carrying 

value 

Ordinary Shares, RUB 0.0025 par value 728,696,320 1.822 75 
Preferred Shares, RUB 0.0025 par value 242,831,469 0.607 25 

Total  971,527,789 2.429 100 
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Ordinary shares carry voting rights with no guarantee of dividends. Preferred shares have priority over 
ordinary shares in the event of liquidation but carry no voting rights except on resolutions regarding 
liquidation or reorganization, changes to dividend levels of preferred shares, or the issuance of additional 
preferred shares. Such resolutions require two-thirds approval of preferred shareholders. The preferred 
shares have no rights of redemption or conversion. 

Owners of preferred shares have the right to participate in and vote on all issues within the competence 
of shareholders’ general meetings following the annual shareholders’ general meeting at which a decision 
not to pay (or to pay partly) dividends on preferred shares has been taken. 

In case of liquidation, the residual assets remaining after settlement with creditors, payment of preferred 
dividends and redemption of the par value of preferred shares is distributed among preferred and 
ordinary shareholders proportionately to the number of owned shares. 

Accordingly, the preferred shares of the Company are considered participating equity instruments for the 
purpose of earnings per share calculations (refer to Note 30). 

Treasury shares 

As at 31 December 2012, 2011and 2010 total number of treasury shares held by the Group was as follows: 

Type of shares 31 December 2012 31 December 2011 31 December 2010 

Ordinary Shares 242,213,829 127,060,744 135,508,107 

Preferred Shares 69,432,721 70,384,795 70,384,795 

Total  311,646,550 197,445,539 205,892,902 

As at 31 December 2010 number of shares represents equivalent of shares of the Combined entity. 

At the 2010 Annual General Meetings of Shareholders of the Companies, comprising the Group, which 
took place in May - June 2010, shareholders approved the merger of the seven Interregional 
Companies and OJS Company of Telecommunication and Information of the Republic of Dagestan with 
and into OJSC Rostelecom. Shareholders dissenting with the decision, could require redemption of their 
shares at predetermined rates for both ordinary and preferred shares. According to applicable law, funds 
allocated for share redemption were limited to 10% of net assets of the companies comprising the Group 
determined in accordance with Russian accounting principles. As at 31 December 2010, the Group had 
completed the repurchase of its shares from dissenting shareholders. Total number of treasury shares 
purchased was an equivalent of 79,356,780 ordinary and 70,384,733 preferred shares of the Combined 
entity. As at 31 December 2010, all repurchased shares were held by the Group.  

During 2010, the Group also purchased share of the companies comprising the Group of an equivalent of 
112,434,672 ordinary shares of the Combined entity for 10,850 as a part of a management motivation 
program (refer note 29).  

In October 2011 the Board of Directors of the Company approved decision on shares buy back up to the 
amount of USD 500 million.  

During 2011 total number of ordinary shares realized as an exercise of the options under the management 
motivation program constituted 18,122,013. During 2012 the Group realized 83,635,424 ordinary shares, 
including 25,389,645 shares realized as an exercise of the options under the management motivation 
program and 56,287,425 shares transferred in exchange of acquisition of a 50% stake in Sky Link from 
OJSC Svyazinvest (refer to Note 5). During 2012 total number of preferred shares realized as an exercise of 
the options under the management motivation program constituted 952,074. 

During 2012 and 2011 the Group purchased 142,501,084 and 9,674,650 ordinary shares, respectively, for 
22,126 and 1,487, respectively.  
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Dividends 

According to the charter of the Company a preferred share carries dividend amounting to the higher of 
10% of the net income after taxation of the Company as reported in the Russian statutory accounts 
divided by 25% of total number of shares and the dividend paid on one ordinary share. 

Total amount of dividend paid on ordinary shares should be not less than 20% of net profit of the Group as 
reported under IFRS. 

In June 2012 the General Meeting of Shareholders approved the dividends for the year ended 31 
December 2011 in the amount of 4.6959 roubles per ordinary share and 4.6959 roubles per preference 
share. 

The total dividends payable amounted to the following:  

Category of shares Number of shares Dividends per share, 
roubles 

Total sum of dividends, 
roubles 

Declared and approved for 2011    

Preference shares  242,831,469 4.6959 1,140,312,295 

Ordinary shares 2,943,258,269 4.6959 13,821,246,505 

Total 3,186,089,738  14,961,558,800 

The difference between the dividends declared and the dividends presented in the statement of changes 
in equity is explained by the treasury shares, held by the subsidiaries of the Company. 

17. BORROWINGS 

Borrowings as at 31 December 2012, 2011 and 2010 were as follows: 

 
31 December 

2012 
31 December 

2011 
31 December 

2010 

Long-term Borrowings    
Non-current portion of long-term borrowings    
Bank and corporate loans 140,651 86,338 83,751 
Bonds 10,000 4,604 4,365 

Promissory notes 9 48 1,567 

Vendor financing 65 69 135 
Finance lease liabilities 133 751 2,489 

Interest payable 14 13 85 

Restructured customer payments 35 28 13 

Total non-current portion of long-term borrowings 150,907 91,851 92,405 

Current portion of long-term borrowings    
Bank and corporate loans 44,093 45,035 24,340 

Bonds 1,613 4,285 18,335 

Promissory notes - 23 597 

Vendor financing 2,665 2,717 2,822 

Finance lease liabilities 810 2,033 3,143 

Restructured customer payments 70 77 79 

Total current portion of long-term borrowings 49,251 54,170 49,316 

Total  long-term borrowings 200,158 146,021 141,721 

    
Short-term Borrowings    
Bank and corporate loans 13,492 25,998 3,096 
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Promissory notes 151 149 1,455 

Interest payable 605 655 1,398 

Total short-term borrowings 14,248 26,802 5,949 

Current portion of long-term borrowings 49,251 54,170 49,316 

Total current borrowings 63,499 80,972 55,265 

Total borrowings 214,406 172,823 147,670 

An amount of 537 on a credit agreement between Rostelecom and Vnesheconombank (VEB) entered into 
in December 2005 was included in current portion of long-term loans as at 31 December 2011 and 2010. 
The loan was repayable annually up to the end of 2012. The loan was totally repaid in the year 2012. 

Under the existing credit agreement with Vnesheconombank and CSFB, the Group is required to meet at 
the end of each quarter various financial covenants applied to the statutory financial statements of the 
Company, including maintaining certain levels of debt to equity and debt to income ratios. As at 31 
December 2011 the Group was not in compliance with some of the covenants and at the time these 
financial statements were authorized for issue no waiver had been obtained by the Group from the bank. 
Consequently, the entire amount of the loan is included in the current portion of long-term borrowings as 
at 31 December 2011.  As at 31 December 2010 the Group was not in compliance with some of the 
covenants and at that date no waiver had been obtained by the Group from the bank. Consequently, the 
entire amount of the loan is included in the current portion of long-term borrowings as at 31 December 
2010.  

In connection with the USD 100 million loan from Vnesheconombank and CSFB, on 28 June 2006, the 
Group entered into an interest rate swap agreement with CSFB. In accordance with the interest rate swap 
agreement, twice a year on 28 June and 28 December, commencing on 28 December 2006 and ending on 
28 December 2012, the Group undertakes an obligation to CSFB calculated at a fixed interest rate and 
CSFB undertakes an obligation to the Group in the amount calculated at floating rate payable by the 
Group on its loan. The Group did not designate the above interest rate swap derivative as hedging 
instrument. Therefore, this financial instrument was classified as financial liability at fair value through 
profit and loss amounted to nil in the year 2012, 24 in the year 2011 and 70 in the year 2010. Fair value of 
the derivative was calculated by discounting future cash flows determined by condition and payments 
schedule of the agreement using forward rates of similar instruments at the reporting date. The net gain 
related to the change in the fair value of the interest rate swap contract in the amount of 24, 45 and 39 
was included in other investing and financial gain in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income 
for 2012, 2011 and 2010 year respectfully. 

There is 342 outstanding on a credit agreement between CJSC GlobalTel and Loral Space and 
Communications Corporation (“Loral”) as at 31 December 2012, (2011: 359, 2010: 329). CJSC GlobalTel is 
in default in respect of this loan. A penalty in the amount of 136 is included in the outstanding balance.  As 
no waiver has been obtained from Loral, these loans are classified as current in the consolidated 
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2012. The loan does not provide for any collateral. In 
2006, Loral brought an action against CJSC GlobalTel claiming immediate repayment of the full amount of 
the debt. In 2009, the Supreme Court of Arbitration ordered CJSC GlobalTel to repay the loan and penalty 
to Loral.   

Finance lease liabilities 

In April 2005, the Group entered into a finance lease agreement for use of terrestrial optical fiber cables. 
The lease agreement is non-cancellable for the period of 15 years, which approximates the remaining 
useful life of the optical fibers. Effective interest rate of the lease is 7.21% p.a. Lease payments are 
denominated in US Dollars.  
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Also, the Group is involved in a finance lease agreement for use of a digital telecommunication station 
over its estimated remaining useful life of 7 years. Effective interest rate of the lease is 11.7% p.a. Lease 
payments are denominated in Russian Roubles.  

The Group has two lease tranches of optical fibers with OJSC FSK EES until year 2030. The effective 
interest rates of these leases are 15% and 17% p.a. Lease payments are denominated in Russian Roubles. 

Future minimum lease payments together with the present value of the net minimum lease payments as 
at 31 December 2012, 2011 and 2010 are as follows: 

 31 December 2012 31 December 2011 31 December 2010 

 

Minimum lease 
payments 

Present value 
of minimum 

lease payments 

Minimum 
lease 

payments 

Present value 
of minimum 

lease 
payments 

Minimum 
lease 

payments 

Present value 
of minimum 

lease payments 

Current portion (less 
than 1 year) 903 810 2,342 2,033 3,531 3,143 

More than 1 to 5 years 118 40 789 651 2,845 2,386 

Over 5 years 182 93 218 100 238 103 

Total 1,203 943 3,349 2,784 6,614 5,632 

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment under the finance lease contracts for 2012, 2011 and 2010 
amounted to 1,115, 1,655 and 2,068, respectively.  Finance charges for the year ended 31 December 2012, 
2011 and 2010 amounted to 388, 680 and 1,048, respectively, and are included in finance costs in these 
consolidated statements of comprehensive income. 

Vendor financing 

Vendor financing payable includes the following as at 31 December 2012, 2011 and 2010: 

 31 December 2012 31 December 2011 31 December 2010 

Government of Dagestan Republic 62 69 79 

Cisko Capital CIS -  43 

Other 3 - 13 

Vendor financing payable – long-term 65 69 135 

Globalstar L.P. 2,162 2,159 1,919 

Metrosvyaz Ltd 99 99 99 
Сisko Capital CIS - 47 342 
Huawei Technologies Co. Ltd. 391 389 401 
Government of Dagestan Republic 9 10 - 
Other 4 13 61 
Vendor financing payable – current portion  2,665 2,717 2,822 
Total vendor financing payable 2,730 2,786 2,957 

As at 31 December 2012, the Group had the following outstanding vendor financing payable: 

2,162 (USD 67 million) payable by CJSC GlobalTel to Globalstar L.P., which is the non-controlling 
shareholder of CJSC GlobalTel, for the purchase of three gateways and associated equipment and services. 
Globalstar L.P. has a lien over this equipment until the liability is fully paid. CJSC GlobalTel is in default in 
respect of payments in 2004 - 2012 and has not obtained a waiver from Globalstar L.P. As a result, the 
entire balance of 1,248 (2011: 1,323, 2010: 1,252) (USD 41 million) is classified as current in the 
consolidated statements of financial position as at 31 December 2012, 2011 and 2010.  Penalty interest in 
the amount of 914, 836 and 667, accrued for each day of delay at the rate of 10% p.a., is included in the 
vendor financing payable in the consolidated statements of financial position as at 31 December 2012, 
2011 and 2010, respectively. In 2006, Loral, which is the legal successor of Globalstar L.P., brought an 
action against CJSC GlobalTel claiming immediate repayment of the full amount of the vendor financing 
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payable. Management believes that immediate repayment of the defaulted vendor financing and loans 
would not have a material adverse effect on the Group's results of operations, financial position and 
operating plans. 

18. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE, PROVISIONS AND ACCRUED EXPENSES 

Accounts payable, provisions and accrued expenses consisted of the following as at 31 December 2012, 
2011 and 2010: 

  
31 December 

2012 
31 December 

2011 
31 December 

2010 

Payables for purchases and construction of property, plant and 
equipment 28,657 11,296 10,532 

Other taxes payable 5,335 6,371 7,855 

Payable to personnel 9,785 8,235 8,544 

Payable for operating activities 5,935 3,369 3,329 

Payable to interconnected operators 3,067 3,573 4,712 

Dividends payable 791 372 673 

Payable for purchases of software 1,552 395 157 

Current provisions 294 337 230 

Other accounts payable 4,473 5,248 4,838 

Current accounts payable, provisions and accrued expenses  59,889 39,196 40,870 

Non-current payables 19 42 129 

Non-current provisions 211 43 73 

Non-current accounts payable, provisions and accrued expenses 230 85 202 

Total accounts payable, provisions and accrued expenses  60,119 39,281 41,072 

19. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS 

According to staff agreements, the Group contributes to pension plans and also provides additional 
benefits for its active and retired employees. 

Defined contribution plans  

The non-state pension fund NPF Telecom-Soyuz maintains the defined contribution plan of Group. In 2012 
the Group expensed 193 (2011: 205; 2010: 148) in relation to defined contribution plans. 

Defined benefit plans and other long-term employee benefits 

To become eligible for benefits under the plan upon retirement the participant must achieve the statutory 
retirement age, which is currently 55 for women and 60 for men and fulfil certain minimum seniority 
requirements. 

As at 31 December 2012, the Group employed 163,532 participants of defined benefit plan and supported 
53,421 pensioners eligible for post-employment benefits. 

As at 31 December 2012, management estimated that employees’ average remaining working period was 
10 years (2011 – 9 years; 2010 – 10 years) 

As at 31 December 2012, 2011 and 2010 net defined benefit plan liability comprised the following:  
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  2012 2011 2010 

Present value of obligations on defined benefit plans 11,006 11,189 16,759 

Fair value of plan assets (9) (4) (1) 

Present value of unfunded obligations 10,997 11,185 16,758 

Unrecognized past service cost (686) (960) (1,861) 

Unrecognized actuarial gains 1,819 1,527 1,300 

Net defined benefit plan liability 12,130 11,752 16,197 

Net expenses/ gains for the defined benefit plan recognized in 2012, 2011 and 2010 were as follows:  

  2012 2011 2010 

Current service cost 522 604 835 

Interest cost 951 1,039 1,423 

Expected return on plan assets (1) - - 

Actuarial gains (41) - (101) 

Amortization of past service cost - non-guaranteed part 274 483 608 

Curtailment effect (281) (5,115) (357) 

Net expense/(gain) for the defined benefit plan 1,424 (2,989) 2,408 

Net expense/ gain for the defined benefit plan, excluding interest cost and return on plan assets, is 
included in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income in the line “Wages, salaries, other 
benefits and payroll taxes”. Return on plan assets and interest cost are recognized in “Other investing and 
financing gain” and “Finance costs” line items of these consolidated statements of comprehensive income.  

Curtailment effect occurred due to introduction of the new collective labour agreement in December 
2011. The agreement abolished certain social benefits in regard of the former Company’s employees and 
other miscellaneous social payments. 

The following table summarizes movements in the present value of defined benefit obligations for the 
above plan in 2012, 2011 and 2010:  

 2012 2011 2010 

Present value of defined benefit obligations as at 1 January 11,189 16,759 15,964 

Curtailment of liabilities (241) (4,868) (322) 

Interest cost 951 1,039 1,423 

Current service cost 522 604 835 

Past service cost - - 1 

Benefits paid (1,042) (1,453) (1,794) 

Actuarial (gains)/losses (373) (892) 652 

Present value of defined benefit obligations as at 31 December 11,006 11,189 16,759 

 

The following table summarizes movements in the fair value of defined benefit plan assets in 2012, 2011 
and 2010:  

  2012 2011 2010 

Fair value of plan assets as at 1 January 4 1 5 

Expected return on plan assets 1 - - 

Actuarial (gains)/losses (1) - 1 

Benefits paid (1,042) (1,453) (1,794) 

Contributions by the employer 1,047 1,456 1,789 

Fair value of plan assets as at 31 December 9 4 1 
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As at 31 December 2012, 2011 and 2010 the principal actuarial assumptions used in determining the 
amounts for the defined benefit plan were as follows:  

  2012 2011 2010 

Discount rate 7.00% 8.50% 8.00% 

Future salary increases 9.20% 9.72% 9.72% 

Rate used for calculation of annuity value 4.00% 4.00% 4.00% 

Increase in financial support benefits 5.00% 5.50% 5.50% 

Staff turnover 

5% for aged 50 
and below  

0%  for aged 
above 50  

5% for aged 50 
and below  

0%  for aged 
above 50  

5% for aged 50 
and below  

0%  for aged 
above 50 

Mortality tables (source of information) 1985/86 1985/86 1985/86 

The amounts of experience adjustments and present value of defined benefit obligation and defined 
benefit assets for the current annual period and previous four annual periods are as follows:  

  2012 2011 2010 2009 2008 

Defined benefit obligations 11,006 11,189 16,759 15,964 17,617 

Defined benefit assets (9) (4) (1) (5) (288) 

Plan deficit 10,997 11,185 16,758 15,959 17,329 

Experience adjustments on defined 
benefit plan liabilities (1,102) (664) (266) (301) (851) 

Experience adjustments on defined 
benefit plan assets 1 - (1) 8 30 

The Group expects to contribute 1,400 to its non-state pension fund in 2013 in respect of defined benefit 
plans. 

20. INCOME TAXES 

The components of income tax expense for the years ended 31 December 2012, 2011 and 2010 were as 
follows: 

 2012 2011 2010 

Current income tax expense    

Income tax for the year (7,415) (8,715) (9,625) 

Adjustments of the current income tax for previous years 201 (41) 41 

Total current income tax for the year (7,214) (8,756) (9,584) 

Deferred tax expense    

Origination and reversal of temporary differences (4,991) (1,679) (762) 

Changes in unused tax losses 3,412 (332) 262 

Total deferred income tax (1,579) (2,011) (500) 

Total income tax expense for the year (8,793) (10,767) (10,084) 
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A reconciliation of the theoretical tax charge to the actual income tax charge is as follows:  

 2012 2011 2010 

Profit before tax  44,033 53,295 40,513 

Statutory income tax rate 20% 20% 20% 

Theoretical tax charge at statutory income tax rate (8,807) (10,659) (8,103) 

Adjustments of the current income tax for previous years 201 (41) 41 

Non-deductible expenses and non-taxable income (1,791) 870 (2,225) 

Tax on intragroup dividend income (36) (44) (84) 

Changes in unrecognized deferred tax assets 1,584 (1,023) 262 

Tax exemptions 56 57 60 

Other - 73 (35) 

Total actual income tax (8,793) (10,767) (10,084) 

Effective tax rate, % 19.97% 20.20% 24.89% 

Non-deductible expenses and non-taxable income comprised the following amounts for the year ended 
31 December 2012, 2011 and 2010: 

 2012 2011 2010 

Effect of employee benefits curtailment - 1,023 - 

Effect of business combination achieved in several stages - 388 - 

Reversal/ (accrual) of impairment loss - 665 (665) 

Other (1,791) (1,206) (1,560) 

Total non-deductible expenses and non-taxable income (1,791) 870 (2,225) 

Other non-deductible expenses and non-taxable income include income connected with depreciation of 
certain property, plant and equipment, expenses within share-based employee motivation program, 
promotional and sponsorship expenditures, travel expenditures in excess of certain statutory allowances, 
other expenses and value added tax accrued on free-of-charge services. 

The components of net deferred tax assets and liabilities as at 31 December 2012, 2011 and 2010, and the 
respective movements during 2012, 2011 and 2010 were as follows: 

 

Balance as at 
1 January 

2012 

Movement during 2012 recognized in 

Balance as at 
31 December  

2012  

Acquisition 
through 
business 

combinations Equity 

Other 
comprehensive 

income 
Profit / or loss 

for the year 

       

Tax effects of future tax 
deductible items       

Property, plant and 
equipment 454 - - - (177) 277 

Unused tax losses 384 - - - 3,412 3,796 

Trade and other 
accounts receivable 240 5 - - (154) 91 

Inventories 52 - - - 197 249 

Investments - - - - 633 633 

Employee benefits 1,984 - - - 26 2,010 

Loans and  borrowings 384 - - - (384) - 

Other non-current 
liabilities 554 - - - (446) 108 
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Balance as at 
1 January 

2012 

Movement during 2012 recognized in 

Balance as at 
31 December  

2012  

Acquisition 
through 
business 

combinations Equity 

Other 
comprehensive 

income 
Profit / or loss 

for the year 

       

Accounts payable, 
provisions and accrued 
expenses 1,546 - - - 966 2,512 

Other 418 9 - - (143) 284 

Gross deferred tax 
asset 6,016 14 - - 3,930 9,960 

       

Tax effects of future 
taxable items:       

Property, plant and 
equipment  (17,847) (36) 2 - (4,234) (22,115) 

Intangible assets (6,321) (5) - - 1,090 (5,236) 

Investments (376) - 548 228 (1,547) (1,147) 

Accounts payable, 
provisions and accrued 
expenses (240) (31) 3 - 93 (175) 

Trade and other 
accounts receivable (679) - - - (827) (1,506) 

Loans and borrowings (4) - - - (213) (217) 

Other (235) - - - 129 (106) 

Gross deferred tax 
liability (25,702) (72) 553 228 (5,509) (30,502) 

Net deferred tax 
liability  (19,686) (58) 553 228 (1,579) (20,542) 

 

 

 

Balance as 
at 1 January 

2011 

Movement during 2011 recognized in 
 

Balance as at 
31 December  

2011  

Acquisition 
through 
business 

combinations Equity 

Other 
comprehensive 

income 
Profit / or loss 

for the year 

       

Tax effects of future tax 
deductible items       

Property, plant and 
equipment 252 9 - - 193 454 

Unused tax losses 240 476 - - (332) 384 

Trade and other 
accounts receivable 201 4 - - 35 240 

Inventories 9 1 - - 42 52 

Investments 469 1 - - (470) - 

Employee benefits 1,880 - - - 104 1,984 

Loans and  borrowings 1,311 - - - (927) 384 

Other non-current 
liabilities 85 - - - 469 554 
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Balance as 
at 1 January 

2011 

Movement during 2011 recognized in 
 

Balance as at 
31 December  

2011  

Acquisition 
through 
business 

combinations Equity 

Other 
comprehensive 

income 
Profit / or loss 

for the year 

       

Accounts payable, 
provisions and accrued 
expenses 1,245 19 - - 282 1,546 

Other 782 30 - - (394) 418 

Gross deferred tax 
asset 6,474 540 - - (998) 6,016 

       

Tax effects of future 
taxable items:       

Property, plant and 
equipment  (15,049) (788) - - (2,010) (17,847) 

Intangible assets (3,487) (3,621) - - 787 (6,321) 

Investments (627) - 14 (3) 240 (376) 

Accounts payable, 
provisions and accrued 
expenses (522) (55) - - 337 (240) 

Trade and other 
accounts receivable (410) (3) - - (266) (679) 

Loans and borrowings (13) - - - 9 (4) 

Other (119) (6) - - (110) (235) 

Gross deferred tax 
liability (20,227) (4,473) 14 (3) (1,013) (25,702) 

Net deferred tax 
liability  (13,753) (3,933) 14 (3) (2,011) (19,686) 
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Balance as 

at  
1 January  

2010 

 Movement during 2010 recognized in 
 

Balance as at 
31 December  

2010  

Acquisition 
through 
business 

combinations Equity 

Other 
comprehensive 

income 
Profit / or loss 

for the year 

       

Tax effects of future tax 
deductible items       

Property, plant and 
equipment  - 252 - - - 252 

Unused tax losses - - - - 240 240 

Trade and other 
accounts receivable 58 155 - - (12) 201 

Inventories 15 - - - (6) 9 

Investments 234 - - - 235 469 

Employee benefits 1,806 - - - 74 1,880 

Loans and borrowings 1,824 - - - (513) 1,311 

Other non-current 
liabilities 92 - - - (7) 85 

Accounts payable, 
provisions and accrued 
expenses 1,287 - - - (42) 1,245 

Other 550 - - - 232 782 

Gross deferred tax 
asset 5,866 407 - - 201 6,474 

       

Tax effects of future 
taxable items:       

Property, plant and 
equipment  (14,264) (684) - - (101) (15,049) 

Intangible assets (1,879) (1,970) - - 362 (3,487) 

Investments (98) - (9) (32) (488) (627) 

Accounts payable, 
provisions and accrued 
expenses (347) - - - (175) (522) 

Trade and other 
accounts receivable (165) - - - (245) (410) 

Loans and borrowings  (32) - - - 19 (13) 

Other  (12) (34) - - (73) (119) 

Gross deferred tax 
liability (16,797) (2,688) (9) (32) (701) (20,227) 

Net deferred tax 
liability  (10,931) (2,281) (9) (32) (500) (13,753) 

Taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries for which no deferred tax 
liabilities were recognized in the accompanying consolidated statements of financial position as at 
31 December 2012, 2011 and 2010 amounted to 17,082, 20,947 and 16,674, respectively. Deductible 
temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries for which no deferred tax assets were 
recognized in the accompanying consolidated statements of financial position as at 31 December 2012, 
2011 and 2010 amounted to 2,362, 12,057 and 8,686, respectively. 



OJSC Rostelecom 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
(In millions of Russian Roubles unless otherwise stated) 

 

 

 

59 

Deductible temporary differences for which no deferred tax assets were recognized in the accompanying 
consolidated statements of financial position as at 31 December 2012, 2011 and 2010 amounted to 5,263,  
14,819 and 9,705, respectively, of which unused tax losses with expiry date from 2014 to 2022 amounted 
to 4,359, 13,571 and 8,468 for 2012, 2011 and 2010, respectively. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax 
assets against current tax liabilities and the deferred income tax assets and deferred income tax liabilities 
relate to the income taxes levied by the same fiscal authority on the same taxable entity.   

The consolidated statement of comprehensive income for 2012, 2011 and 2010 includes tax expense in 
respect of following items of other comprehensive income:  

 

2012 2011 2010 

Change in fair value of available-for-sale financial assets 228 (3) (32) 

21. REVENUE 

Revenue comprised the following for the years ended 31 December 2012, 2011 and 2010: 

 

2012 2011 2010 

Local telephone services  85,734 88,061 85,393 

Intra-zone telephone services  18,754 21,393 23,358 

Domestic long-distance/International  long-distance telephone 
services  20,390 24,070 27,931 

Interconnection and traffic transit services  
 (excluding Internet) 21,003 19,774 19,678 

Mobile communication services  41,161 40,660 35,499 

Rent of channels  11,269 10,356 9,143 

Broadband Internet  49,797 46,396 39,214 

Pay TV  9,147 6,706 1,102 

Data services (VPN, data centres, wholesale Internet sales)  20,815 18,872 17,186 

Cloud computing services 6,625 2,764 1,190 

Other  36,556 22,442 17,803 

Total revenue  321,251 301,494 277,497 

In 2012, 2011 and 2010 the Group generated revenue by the following major customer groups: 

Customer Groups 2012 2011 2010 

Residential customers  162,493 165,634 156,231 

Corporate customers 69,015 69,555 62,287 

Governmental customers 53,452 34,484 28,445 

Interconnected operators 36,291 31,821 30,534 

Total 321,251 301,494 277,497 

22. WAGES, SALARIES, OTHER BENEFITS AND PAYROLL TAXES 

 

2012 2011 2010 

Salary expenses 63,655 59,933 53,963 

Share-based remuneration 10 588 3,930 

Social taxes 16,789 16,977 12,313 

(Gain)/loss for defined benefit plan 595 (4,114) 1,072 

Other personnel costs 3,259 2,868 3,453 

Total wages, salaries, other benefits and payroll taxes 84,308 76,252 74,731 
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Gain on pension plans in 2011 occurred due to curtailments effects of some of the Group’s defined 
benefits schemes (refer to Note 19).  

23. MATERIALS, UTILITIES, REPAIRS AND MAINTENANCE 

 

2012 2011 2010 

Repairs and maintenance 11,242 12,459 10,968 

Utilities 8,988 7,878 6,926 

Materials 7,128 7,170 6,860 

Total materials, utilities, repairs and maintenance 27,358 25,507 24,754 

24. OTHER OPERATING INCOME 

 2012 2011 2010 

Reimbursement of losses incurred from universal services fund 11,799  11,528 11,297 

Gain on disposals of other assets 8 132 138 

Reimbursement of other losses incurred 231 251 83 

Fines and penalties 645  536 617 

Income on Government grants -  11 - 

Other income  1,185  2,254 2,515 

Total other operating income 13,868  14,712 14,650 

25. OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES 

 2012 2011 2010 

Agency fees 7,735 7,645 6,809 

Taxes, other than income tax 7,426  6,931 6,377 

Advertising expenses 6,307 5,159 3,194 

Rent 5,572 5,374 4,149 

E-Government contract expenses 4,960 2,188 1,129 

Fire and other security services 3,390 3,124 2,935 

Contributions to universal service fund 3,061  2,978 2,800 

Transportation and postal services 2,652  3,548 2,633 

Third party services and expenses related to administration 1,734 5,934 6,481 

Audit and consulting fees 1,002  2,254 1,946 

Member fees, charity contribution, payments to labour units 870  577 680 

Fines and penalties 311  55 30 

Asset insurance 167  200 302 

Reorganization expenses - 395 951 

Other  10,260 6,272 6,395 

Total other operating expenses 55,447 52,634 46,811 
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26. FINANCE COSTS 

 2012 2011 2010 

Interest expense of defined benefit plans 951 1,039 1,424 

Interest expense on bank and corporate loans, bonds, 
promissory notes and vendor financing 14,473  11,214 9,406 

Interest expense on finance lease liabilities 388 680 1,048 

Borrowing servicing expense 193  136 118 

Total finance costs 16,005 13,069 11,996 

27. OTHER INVESTING AND FINANCIAL GAIN  

 2012 2011 2010 

Interest income from finance assets 539 837 2,274 

Dividend income 32 27 27 

(Expenses)/ income related to business combinations (156) (348) 51 

Loss on disposal of subsidiaries - (120) - 

Gain on disposal of other financial assets 819 - 74 

Gain on change of fair value of financial assets through profit and loss  15 51 39 

Fair value revaluation of previously acquired associate - 1,505 - 

Reversal of impairment of financial assets 171 30 20 

Other gains/(losses) 20 96 (189) 

Total other investing and financial gain 1,440 2,078 2,296 

Other investing and financial gain include fair value revaluation of previously acquired  share in CJCS 
Volgograd-GSM  at the date of obtaining control in the amount  of 1,505 (refer to Note 5). 

28. SEGMENT INFORMATION 

In 2011 the basis of segmentation has changed as compared with 2010 due to the reorganization of the 
Company completed on 1 April 2011 (refer to Note 1). As at 31 December 2010 there was no single 
management body that could be identified as chief operating decision maker. However, the financial 
information of former Rostelecom and IRCs comprising Svyazinvest Group was regularly analyzed by 
OJSC Svyazinvest, the Group’s controlling shareholder, and was used for decision making in regards of 
their strategy and operations. Thus Rostelecom and IRCs were determined as operating and reportable 
segments with all subsidiaries included in the segment Other as they did not meet quantitative threshold. 
After the merger the former Rostelecom branches and IRCs, which are located in the same geographical 
area, were integrated into macroregional branches of the reorganised Group. Rostelecom Management 
Body which becomes the chief operating decision maker started to analyze operating results of OJSC 
Rostelecom by macroregional branches. The results of subsidiaries are analyzed on standalone basis. 
Consequently, the Group has determined its macroregional branches and subsidiaries as operating 
segments. However, subsidiaries with the exception of Skylink do not meet quantitative threshold defined 
by IFRS 8 and financial information of these operating segments are combined and presented under the 
heading Other. Currently Group has eleven reportable segments, which are the Group’s strategic business 
units. While differentiated geographically, the strategic business units offer mainly the same services to 
the customers.  Management of the Group assesses the performance of the operating segments based on 
the accounting data that is prepared using Russian statutory accounting principles on unconsolidated 
basis. A measure of segment profit or loss reported to the management of the company is earnings before 
interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization (EBITDA). The following tables illustrate financial 
information of reportable segment required for disclosure by IFRS 8 for the year ended 31 December 
2012, 2011 and 2010:  
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The following table illustrates information about reportable segment revenue and EBITDA for the year ended 31 December 2012: 

2012  
Corp. 

Center 
IRC North-

West IRC Center IRC South  IRC Volga  IRC Ural  IRC Sibir  
IRC Far 

East  
IRC 

Moscow Sky Link 

Other 
operations and 
reconciliation  

Total 
segments  

Adjustment 
and 

eliminations  Total   

Revenue 

        

  

    Third party 
revenue 26,146 33,420 35,857 29,118 35,390 46,673 32,828 20,672 18,498 4,349 41,695 324,646 (3,395) 321,251 

Revenue 
from other 
segments 936 389 145 326 559 152 984 160 372 205 5,846 10,074 (10,074) - 

Total 
revenue 27,082 33,809 36,002 29,444 35,949 46,825 33,812 20,832 18,870 4,554 47,541 334,720 (13,469) 321,251 

EBITDA (18,343) 16,240 14,883 12,043 17,401 20,033 14,523 7,790 9,010 (1,576) 14,811 106,815 16,512 123,327 

The following table illustrates reconciliation of reportable segment EBITDA to profit before income tax for the year ended 31 December 2012: 

EBITDA of reportable segments 92,004 

EBITDA of other segments  14,811 

Adjustments  
Depreciation, amortization and impairment losses (57,134) 

Finance costs and other investing and financial gain (14,565) 

Net gain for defined benefit plan (374) 

Income from associates  4,293 

Share-based remuneration (18) 

Intragroup dividends (675) 

Adjustments to loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 57 

Reversal of income from revaluation of associates and available-for-sale investments recognized  in statutory books 1,148 

Reversal of material expenses recognized in statutory books and capitalized in property, plant and equipment under IFRS 3,202 

Other adjustments 1,284 

Profit before income tax 44,033 
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The following table illustrates information about reportable segment revenue and EBITDA for the year ended 31 December 2011: 

2011  
Corp. 

Center 
IRC North-

West IRC Center IRC South  IRC Volga  IRC Ural  IRC Sibir  
IRC Far 

East  
IRC 

Moscow Skylink 

Other 
operations 

and 
reconciliation  

Total 
segment

s  

Adjustment 
and 

eliminations  Total   

Revenue 

        

  

    Third party 
revenue 21,439 31,507 33,471 26,538 32,702 45,571 31,425 20,215 16,439 6,538 34,738 300,583 911 301,494 

Revenue 
from other 
segments 1,724 937 1,031 998 1,060 823 1,398 355 704 159 4,862 14,051 (14,051) - 

Total 
revenue 23,163 32,444 34,502 27,536 33,762 46,394 32,823 20,570 17,143 6,697 39,600 314,634 (13,140) 301,494 

EBITDA 302 14,833 13,544 11,363 14,163 20,636 12,769 6,413 8,312 (1,793) 10,543 111,085 10,725 121,810 

The following table illustrates reconciliation of reportable segment EBITDA to profit before income tax for the year ended 31 December 2011: 

  EBITDA of reportable segments 100,542 

EBITDA of other segments  10,543 

Adjustments 

 Depreciation, amortization and impairment losses (53,761) 

Finance costs and other investing and financial gain (10,991) 

Net gain for defined benefit plan 4,335 

Income from associates  4,474 

Share-based remuneration (589) 

Intragroup dividends (563) 

Adjustments to loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets (1,227) 

Reversal of material expenses recognized in statutory books and capitalized in property, plant and equipment under IFRS 1,814 

Reversal of income from revaluation of associates of available-for-sale investments recognized  in statutory books (760) 

Other adjustments (522) 

Profit before income tax 53,295 
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The following table illustrates information about reportable segment revenue and EBITDA for the year ended 31 December 2010: 

2010   
Corp. 

Center 
IRC North-

West IRC Center IRC South  IRC Volga  IRC Ural  IRC Sibir  IRC Far East  IRC Moscow Skylink 

Other 
operations 

and 
reconciliation  

Total 
segments  

Adjustment 
and 

eliminations  Total   

Revenue 

        

  

    Third party 
revenue 18,448 30,869 34,115 25,831 31,788 45,472 31,000 19,609 14,954 1,961 25,125 279,172 (1,675) 277,497 

Revenue 
from other 
segments 1,143 193 226 294 742 159 787 208 1,116 27 4,400 9,295 (9,295) - 

Total 
revenue 19,591 31,062 34,341 26,125 32,530 45,631 31,787 19,817 16,070 1,988 29,525 288,467 (10,970) 277,497 

EBITDA (4,343) 13,307 14,605 10,414 12,803 21,649 12,700 7,060 6,142 (346) 9,188 103,179 3,638 106,817 

The following table illustrates reconciliation of reportable segment EBITDA to profit before income tax for the year ended 31 December 2010: 

EBITDA of reportable segments 93,991 

EBITDA of other segments  9,188 

Adjustments 

 Depreciation, amortization and impairment losses (46,582) 

Finance costs and other investing and financial gain (9,700) 

Income from associates  353 

Share-based remuneration (3,930) 

Net loss for defined benefit plan  (923) 

Intragroup dividends (499) 

Adjustments to loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets (754) 

Other adjustments (631) 

Profit before income tax 40,513 
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29. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS  

Share-based program started in 2011 (preferred shares) 

In June 2011, the Board of Directors of the Company approved changes to the employee long-term 
incentive program by launching an additional share option scheme. Members of the Board of Directors 
and senior employees were granted options to buy preferred shares of the Company at an exercise 
price 87.6 RUB per share. Total funds allocating to the scheme amounted to 3,500. To operate the 
program, the Company established fund “Gazpombank – Telecommunication Plus” under management 
of ZAO “Gazprombank – Upravlenie aktivami”. To execute the program fund “Gazpombank – 
Telecommunication Plus” purchased shares from the Company’s subsidiary LLC Mobitel. The contracts 
with part of employees were signed on 29 June 2011. Another part of employees signed the contracts 
on 31 March 2012. 

The scheme is classified as equity-settled share-based payment plan. The Group receives services from 
its executives and senior employees and grants its own equity instruments as consideration. The share-
based transaction is settled by the Fund, which is a SPE controlled by the Group and, therefore, is 
consolidated in the consolidated financial statements.  

Options are exercisable in two tranches: not more than 50% are exercisable after 14 June 2012 and the 
rest after 14 June 2013. Options may be exercised within a six-month period after exercise date. 
Unclaimed options of the first tranche may also be exercised within the six-month exercise period 
attributed to the second tranche. 

The following share-based payment arrangements were in existence during 2011-2012:  

Options series 
Number of 

options granted  Grant date Exercise date 

Exercise 
price,  
RUB 

Share price at 
grant date, RUB 

(1) Granted on 29 June 2011 13,036,504 29 June 2011 14 June 2012 87.60 86.30 

(2) Granted on 29 June 2011 13,036,504 29 June 2011 14 June 2013 87.60 86.30 

(3) Granted on 31 March 2012 5,606,579 31 March 2012 14 June 2012 87.60 88.67  

(4) Granted on 31 March 2012 5,606,579 31 March 2012 14 June 2013 87.60 88.67 

All options vested during the year ended 31 December 2012 and were outstanding with weighted 
average remaining contractual life of nil days for options (1) and (3) and 257 days for options (2) and (4) 
(31 December 2011: 257 and 622 days). 

The weighted average fair value of the share options as of the grant date is 16.83 RUB for options (1) 
and (2) and 14.91 for options (3) and (4). Total amount of 18 was recognized as an expense in wages, 
salaries, other benefits and payroll taxes in this consolidated statement of comprehensive income for 
the year ended 31 December 2012 (31 December 2011: 588). 

Fair values of options were determined using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. Expected volatility 
is based on the historical average industry share price volatility over the option lives for respective 
series. 

Inputs into the model Series 1 and 2 Series 3 and 4 

Grant date share price, RUB 86.30 88.67 

Exercise price, RUB 87.60 87.60 

Expected volatility 39.8% 30.8% 
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Option life  1.75 year  1.75 year 

Dividend yield 4.4% 4.4% 

Risk-free interest rate  5.58% 6.32% 

The following table reconciles the share options on preferred shares outstanding at the beginning and 
end of the year: 

 2012 2011 

 

Number of 
options 

Weighted 
average 

exercise price, 
RUB Number of options 

Weighted 
average 

exercise price, 
RUB 

Balance at beginning of year  37,286,164 87.6 - - 

Granted during the year  - - 37,286,164 87.6 

Opted out during the year 5,136,987 87.6 - - 

Exercised during the year 609,182 87.6 - - 

Balance at end of year 31,539,995 87.6 37,286,164 87.6 

In 2012 employees exercised 609,182 options. The weighted average share price at date of exercise for 
share options exercised in 2012 was 96.94 RUB.  

 

Share-based program started in 2010 (ordinary shares) 

The Group introduced a share option scheme for executives and senior employees of the Group in 
August 2010. In accordance with the terms of the scheme, executives and senior employees which were 
in service with the Svyazinvest Group during the vesting period from 28 May 2010 until 1 December 
2010 were granted options to purchase ordinary shares of OJSC Rostelecom at an exercise price of 96.8 
RUB per share. The contracts with employees were signed on 17 August 2010. To operate the program, 
the Group established a fund under management of ZAO “Gazprombank – Upravlenie aktivami” (the 
“Fund”), which is also a party of the option agreements.  

In addition to executives and senior employees of the Group, certain Board members, who are also 
executives and senior employees of Svyazinvest, were granted options as part of the scheme.  The 
Group recorded a proportionate share of their share-based remuneration. 

The scheme is classified as equity-settled share-based payment plan. The Group received services from 
its executives and senior employees and granted its own equity instruments as consideration. The 
share-based transaction is settled by the Fund, which is a SPE controlled by the Group and, therefore, is 
consolidated in the consolidated financial statements. The Fund purchased shares of the companies 
comprising the Group on open market using cash contributions from the Group of 10,850. 

Options are exercisable in two tranches: not more than 60% are exercisable after 1 December 2011 and 
the rest after 1 December 2012. Options may be exercised within a six-month period after exercise 
date. Unclaimed options of the first tranche may also be exercised within the six-month exercise period 
attributed to the second tranche. 
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The following share-based payment arrangements were introduced during 2010:  

Options series 
Number of 

options granted  Grant date Exercise date 

Exercise 
price,  
RUB 

Share price at 
grant date, RUB 

(1) Granted on 17 August 2010 59,253,817 17 August 2010 1 December 2011 96.80 109.17 

(2) Granted on 17 August 2010 39,502,545 17 August 2010  1 December 2012 96.80 109.17 

All options vested during the year ended 31 December 2010. The weighted average fair value of the 
share options granted as of the grant date is 39.61 RUB. As at 31 December 2012 weighted average 
remaining contractual life of options comprised nil and 60 for options (1) and (2) respectively (2011: 60 
and 425, 2010: 426 and 791). 

For the year ended 31 December 2012 the Group recognized nil (2011: nil, 2010: 3,930) as an expense in 
wages, salaries, other benefits and payroll taxes with the regard of those options. 

Fair values of options on grant date were determined using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. 
Expected volatility is based on the historical average industry share price volatility over the option lives 
for respective series. 

Inputs into the model Series 1 Series 2 

Grant date share price, RUB 109.17 109.17 

Exercise price, RUB 96.80 96.80 

Expected volatility 43.46% 47.88% 

Option life  1.54 year  2.54 year 

Dividend yield 0.27% 0.27% 

Risk-free interest rate  4.99% 6.18% 

The following table reconciles the share options on ordinary shares outstanding at the beginning and 
end of the year: 

 2012 2011 2010 

 

Number of 
options 

Weighted 
average 
exercise 

price, RUB 
Number of 

options 

Weighted 
average 
exercise 

price, RUB 
Number of 

options 

Weighted 
average 
exercise 

price, RUB 

Balance at beginning of 
year  80,634,349 96.8 98,756,362 96.8 - - 

Granted during the year  -  -  98,756,362 96.8 

Exercised during the year 25,389,645 96.8 18,122,013 96.8 - - 

Balance at end of year 55,244,704 96.8 80,634,349 96.8 98,756,362 96.8 

In 2012 employees exercised 25,389,645 options (2011: 18,122,013). The weighted average share price 
at date of exercise for share options exercised in 2012 was 142.09 RUB (2011: 149.7, 2010: no options 
exercised). 
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30. EARNINGS PER SHARE 

 2012 2011 2010 

Profit for the period attributable to shareholders of the 
Company 35,064 42,701 30,509 

Weighted average number of shares outstanding used in 
calculation of basic earning per shares 2,887,915,223 2,981,398,946 3,112,930,766 

Weighted average number of shares outstanding used in 
calculation of diluted earning per shares 2,908,247,397 3,027,406,250 3,138,668,491 

Basic earnings per share attributable to ordinary 
shareholders of the Combined group, in RUB 12.14 14.32 9.80 

Diluted earnings per share attributable to ordinary 
shareholders of the Combined group, in RUB 12.06 14.10 9.72 

Weighted average number of shares outstanding for the years ended 31 December 2012 is adjusted for 
the weighted average number of treasury shares of the Group, which amounted to  227,987,533 (2011: 
134,539,497, 2010:   an equivalent of  177,458,995) ordinary and 70,186,982 (2011: 70,151,313, 2010: 
70,151,313) preferred shares of the Company.  

Reconciliation of weighted average number of shares used in calculation of basic and diluted earnings 
per shares: 

 2012 2011 2010 

Weighted average number of shares outstanding used in 
calculation of basic earning per shares 2,887,915,223 2,981,398,946 3,112,930,766 

Dilutive effect of call options  20,332,174  46,007,304  25,737,725 

Weighted average number of shares outstanding used in 
calculation of diluted earning per shares 2,908,247,397 3,027,406,250 3,138,668,491 

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise cash and cash equivalents, investments, bank 
loans, bonds and promissory notes issued and finance leases liabilities. These instruments serve to 
finance the Group’s operations and capital expenditures; its corporate financial transactions such as 
share repurchase and acquisition strategy; place available funds in course of cash management. Other 
financial assets and liabilities such as trade receivables and trade payables arise directly from the 
Group’s operations. The following table presents the carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities 
as at 31 December 2012, 2011 and 2010: 

Classes Categories 
31 December 

2012 
31 December 

2011 
31 December 

2010 

Cash and cash equivalents Loans and receivables 10,370 7,380 12,694 

Trade and other receivables Loans and receivables 34,526 29,492 26,093 
Available-for-sale financial assets 
at cost Available-for-sale 15 9 35 

Available-for-sale financial assets 
at fair value Available-for-sale 2,371 3,549 1,025 

Loans Loans and receivables 1,064 4,003 5,499 

Total financial assets   48,346 44,433 45,346 

  

 

 

 

Bank and corporate loans  Liabilities at amortized cost 198,236 157,371 111,187 

Bonds Liabilities at amortized cost 11,613 8,889 22,700 

Promissory notes Liabilities at amortized cost 160 220 3,619 
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Classes Categories 
31 December 

2012 
31 December 

2011 
31 December 

2010 

Vendor financing Liabilities at amortized cost 2,730 2,786 2,957 

Finance lease liabilities Liabilities at amortized cost 943 2,784 5,632 

Interest payable Liabilities at amortized cost 619 668 1,483 

Other borrowings Liabilities at amortized cost 105 105 92 

Trade and other payables Liabilities at amortized cost 55,192 31,774 31,894 

Non-hedge derivative 
Financial liabilities at fair value 
through profit and loss - 24 70 

Total financial liabilities   269,598 204,621 179,634 

The fair value of cash and cash equivalents, current receivables, trade payables, other current financial 
assets and liabilities approximate their carrying amount largely due to the short-term maturity of these 
instruments. 

The fair value of long-term debt investments, long-term accounts receivable and non-current accounts 
payable correspond to the present values of the payments related to the assets and liabilities, taking 
into account the current interest rate parameters that reflect market-based changes to terms and 
conditions and expectations. 

Available for sale investments accounted for at cost include unquoted equity investments whose value 
cannot be measured reliably. Quoted prices are not available for these investments due to the absence 
of an active market. It is also impracticable to derive fair value using the similar transaction method. The 
discounting cash flow method cannot be applied to such investments as there are no reliably 
determinable cash flows related to them. 

The table below analyses financial instruments carried at fair value, by valuation method. The different 
levels have been defined as follows: 

 Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities 

 Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or 
liability, either directly (i.e., as prices) or indirectly (i.e., derived from prices) 

 Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable 
inputs) 

 2012 2011 2010 

Available-for-sale financial assets    

    

Long-term equity investments at fair value    

Level 1 6 776 1,007 

Level 2 2,365 2,773 18 

Level 3 - - - 

Total long-term equity investments at fair value 2,371 3,549 1,025 

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit and 
loss    

Non-hedge derivatives    

Level 1 - - - 

Level 2 - 24 70 

Level 3 - - - 

Total non-hedge derivatives - 24 70 
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Income and expenses on financial instruments 
 

  
Finance 

costs  Other investing and financing gains and losses  Equity  

2012 

Bad debt 
income/ 

(expense) 
Interest 
expense  

Interest 
income 

Dividend 
income 

Gains / 
(losses) 
on asset 
disposal 

Fair value 
change 

Impairment 
loss  

(reversal of 
impairment) Other 

Foreign exchange 
gains / (losses) 

Fair value 
reclassificati

on 
Fair value 

change Total 

Cash and cash equivalents - -  281 - - - - - (24) - - 257 

Trade and other receivables (1,318) 10  46 - - - - - 5 - - (1,257) 

Available for sale financial 
instruments - -  - 32 804 (9) 145 - - (740) (407) (175) 

Loans - -  212 - - - - - (11) - - 201 

Total financial assets (1,318) 10  539 32 804 (9) 145 - (30) (740) (407) (974) 

Bank and corporate loans - (13,712)  - - - - - - 215 - - (13,497) 

Bonds - (531)  - - - - - - - - - (531) 

Promissory notes - (115)  - - - - - - 9 - - (106) 

Vendor financing - (125)  - - - - - - 70 - - (55) 

Finance lease liabilities - (388)  - - - - - - - - - (388) 

Interest payable - -  - - - - - - - - - - 

Trade and other payables 
and non-hedge derivatives - -  - - - 24 - - 210 - - 234 

Total financial liabilities - (14,871)  - - - 24 - - 504 - - (14,343) 
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Income and expenses on financial instruments 
 

  Finance costs  Other investing and financing gains and losses  Equity  

2011 

Bad debt 
income/ 

(expense) 
Interest 
expense  

Interest 
income 

Dividend 
income 

Gains / 
(losses) on 

asset 
disposal 

Fair value 
change 

Impairment 
loss  

(reversal of 
impairment) Other 

Foreign 
exchange 

gains / (losses) 
Fair value 

change Total 

Cash and cash equivalents - -  332 - - - - - (154) - 178 

Trade and other receivables (572) 21  77 - - - - - 141 - (333) 

Available for sale financial 
instruments - -  - 27 - - - - - 15 42 
Loans - -  428 - - - 76 - (88) - 416 

Total financial assets (572) 21  837 27 - - 76 - (101) 15 303 

Bank and corporate loans - (9,414)  - - - - - - (32) - (9,446) 

Bonds - (1,589)  - - - - - - - - (1,589) 

Promissory notes - (74)  - - - - - - - - (74) 

Vendor financing - (148)  - - - - - - (125) - (273) 

Finance lease liabilities - (680)  - - - - - - (2) - (682) 

Interest payable - (10)  - - - - - - (7) - (17) 

Trade and other payables and 
non-hedge derivatives - -  - - - 51 - (1) (110) - (60) 

Total financial liabilities - (11,915)  - - - 51 - (1) (276) - (12,141) 
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Income and expenses on financial instruments 
 

  Finance costs  Other investing and financing gains and losses   Equity  

2010 

Bad debt 
income/ 

(expense) 
Interest 
expense  

Interest 
income 

Dividend 
income 

Gains / 
(losses) on 

asset 
disposal 

Fair value 
change 

Impairment 
loss  

(reversal of 
impairment) Other 

Foreign 
exchange gains 

/ (losses) 
Fair value 

change Total 

Cash and cash equivalents - -  989 - - - - - 22 - 1,011 

Trade and other receivables (736) -  19 - - - - - (21) - (738) 

Available for sale financial 
instruments - -  - 27 74 - 4 - - 155 260 

Loans - -  1,266 - - - 16 - (283) - 999 

Total financial assets (736) -  2,274 27 74 - 20 - (282) 155 1,532 

Bank and corporate loans - (5,612)  - - - - - (37) 168 - (5,481) 

Bonds - (2,933)  - - - - - - - - (2,933) 

Promissory notes - (399)  - - - - - - - - (399) 

Vendor financing - (184)  - - - - - - 3 - (181) 

Finance lease liabilities - (1,170)  - - - - - - (12) - (1,182) 

Interest payable - (39)  - - - - - - 2 - (37) 

Other borrowings and hedge 
derivatives - (64)  - - - - - (48) - - (112) 

Trade and other payables and 
non-hedge derivatives - (53)  - - - 39 - - 27 - 13 

Total financial liabilities - (10,454)  - - - 39 - (85) 188 - (10,312) 
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(a) Credit risk 

Each class of financial assets represented in the Group’s statement of financial position to some extent 
is exposed to credit risk. Management develops and implements policies and procedures aiming to 
minimize the exposure and impact on the Group’s financial position in case of risk realization. 

Financial instruments that could expose the Group to concentrations of credit risk are mainly trade and 
other receivables. The credit risk associated with these assets is limited due to the Group’s large 
customer base and ongoing procedures to monitor the credit worthiness of customers and other 
debtors. 

The Group’s accounts receivable are represented by receivables from the Government and other public 
organizations, businesses and individuals each of them bearing different credit risk. Collection of 
receivables from the Government and other public organizations is mainly influenced by political and 
economic factors and not always under full control of the Group. However, management undertakes all 
possible efforts to minimize the exposure to risk of receivable from this category of clients. In particular, 
creditworthiness of such subscribers is assessed based on financing limits set by the Government. 
Management believes there were no significant unprovided losses relating to these or other receivables 
as at 31 December 2012, 2011 and 2010. 

To reduce risk of exposure on receivables from businesses and individuals the Group implements a 
range of procedures. Credit risk is determined based on a summary of probabilities of occurrences and 
possible impact of events negatively influencing the customer’s ability to discharge its obligation. A 
credit rating is attributed to a customer on initial stage of cooperation and, then, reassessed periodically 
based on credit history. As a part of its credit risk management policy, the Group arranges preventive 
procedures which are represented by but not limited to advance payments, request for collaterals and 
banks and third parties guarantees. For collection of receivables, which are past due, the Group takes a 
variety of actions from suspension of rendering of services to taking legal action. 

The Group deposits excess cash available with several Russian banks and makes investments in bills of 
exchange. To manage the credit risk related to deposit of cash available with banks, management of the 
Group implements procedures to periodically assess the creditworthiness of the banks. To facilitate this 
assessment, deposits are mainly placed with banks where the Group has already had current settlement 
account and can easily monitor activity of such banks. Prior to investing in bills of exchange, 
management of the Group performs an analysis of financial position of the issuer and monitors its 
creditworthiness over periods up to maturity.  

Maximum exposures to credit risk are limited to the net carrying amounts of respective financial assets. 
Such exposure is mitigated by collaterals held by the Group.  

(b) Liquidity risk 

The Group monitors its risk of a shortage of funds by preparing and monitoring compliance with cash 
flow budgets. The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and 
flexibility through the use of bank overdrafts, bank loans, bonds and finance leases. Cash flow budgets 
consider the maturity of both cash inflows and outflows from the Group’s operations. Based on 
projected cash flows the decision is taken on either investment of free cash or attracting financing 
required. Realization of liquidity risk management policy provides the Group with sufficient cash to 
discharge its obligation on a timely basis. However, since the companies comprising the Group were 
managed on individual basis in 2010-2012 no financing was provided within the Group introducing the 
need for certain companies to raise financing from third parties rather than from fellow subsidiaries 
with excess liquidity.  
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Maturity analysis as at 31 December 2012, 2011 and 2010 represented below shows undiscounted cash 
flows, including estimated interest payments:  

 

2013 2014 2015 2016 
2017  

and later Total 

31 December 2012 

      Bank and corporate loans  74,322 47,489 60,693 47,324 8,172 238,000 

Bonds 2,680 855 855 855 10,731 15,976 

Promissory notes 151 33 5 11 - 200 

Vendor financing 2,665 9 9 9 38 2,730 

Finance lease liabilities 903 46 18 18 218 1,203 

Other borrowings and hedge 
derivatives 71 30 1 4 - 106 

Trade and other payables and non-
hedge derivatives 53,192 - - - 1 53,193 

Total financial liabilities 133,984 48,462 61,581 48,221 19,160 311,408 

 

 

2012 2013 2014 2015 
2016  

and later Total 

31 December 2011 

      Bank and corporate loans  81,328 51,005 13,496 16,018 14,647 176,494 

Bonds 5,085 2,022 351 351 4,250 12,059 

Promissory notes 185 30 17 - 8 240 

Vendor financing 2,780 8 8 8 47 2,851 

Finance lease liabilities 2,205 847 44 18 218 3,332 

Other borrowings and hedge 
derivatives 77 13 10 9 12 121 

Trade and other payables and non-
hedge derivatives 31,798 43 1 1 1 31,844 

Total financial liabilities 123,458 53,968 13,927 16,405 19,183 226,941 

 

 

2011 2012 2013 2014 
2015  

and later Total 

31 December 2010 

      Bank and corporate loans  37,121 49,164 33,993 4,303 2,487 127,068 

Bonds 20,091 4,018 721 - - 24,830 

Promissory notes 2,156 464 - 1,115 8 3,743 

Vendor financing 3,127 52 - - - 3,179 

Finance lease liabilities 3,498 2,034 758 44 256 6,590 

Other borrowings and hedge 
derivatives 207 23 28 13 13 284 

Trade and other payables and non-
hedge derivatives 31,835 103 36 18 - 31,992 

Total financial liabilities 98,035 55,858 35,536 5,493 2,764 197,686 

(c) Market risks 

Significant market risk exposures are interest rate risk, exchange rate risk and other price risk. Exposure 
to other price risk arises from available for sale investments quoted on active markets.  

Interest rate risk 

Interest rate risk mainly relates to floating rate debt primary denominated in US dollars, Russian 
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Roubles and euros and financial instruments denominated in Russian Roubles. To manage this risk, the 
Group entered into interest rate swaps to hedge significant amounts of its floating rate debt. Other 
borrowings do not materially influence the exposure to interest risk. 

 

31 December  
2012 

31 December  
2011 

31 December  
2010 

Fixed rate instruments  

 

 
Financial assets 11,440 14,806 19,253 

Financial liabilities (167,014) (166,743) (126,523) 

 

(155,574) (145,737) (107,270) 

Variable rate instruments 

Financial assets - 135 - 

Financial liabilities (47,391) (6,200) (21,147) 

 

(47,391) (6,065) (21,147) 

 

Fair value sensitivity analysis for fixed rate instruments 

The Group does not account for any fixed rate financial instruments as fair value through profit or loss.  

Cash flow sensitivity analysis for variable rate instruments 

The table below demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in interest rates, with all 
other variables held constant, of the Group’s profit before tax. 

 

2012 2011 2010 

LIBOR (+0.1%) (1) (6) (10) 

LIBOR (-0.1%) 1 6 10 

Euribor (+0.1%) (1) - (1) 

Euribor (-0.1%) 1 - 1 

MosPrime (+0.1%) (119) (2) (9) 

MosPrime (-0.1%) 119 2 9 

CB refinancing (+0.1%) (2) - (3) 

CB refinancing (-0.1%) 2 - 3 

 

Foreign exchange risk  

Currency risk is the risk that fluctuations in exchange rates will adversely affect the Group’s cash flows. 
As a result, these fluctuations in exchange rates will be reflected in respective items of the Group’s  
consolidated statement of comprehensive income, statement of financial position and/or statement of 
cash flows. The Group is exposed to currency risk in relation to its assets and liabilities denominated in 
foreign currencies, mostly from accounts receivable and payable from operations with international 
telecom operators, accounts payable for equipment, borrowings issued in foreign currencies. The Group 
does not have formal procedures to reduce its currency risks. 
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Financial assets and liabilities of the Group presented by currency as at 31 December 2012, 2011 and 
2010 were as follows:  

 

31 December 2012 31 December 2011 31 December 2010 

 

USD EUR USD EUR USD EUR 

Cash and cash equivalents  719 17 272 32 568 16 

Trade receivables  1,252 670 1,283 310 690 300 

Loans and receivables  477 - 259 - 1,586 - 

Bank and corporate loans  (2,232) (487) (4,364) (770) (9,494) (1,520) 

Vendor financing  (2,553) - (2,204) - (1,969) - 

Promissory notes (151) - - - - - 

Finance lease liabilities  - - - - (1) - 

Trade and other payables and non-
hedge derivatives  (4,499) (249) (2,269) (242) (2,537) (416) 

Net exposure  (6,987) (49) (7,023) (670) (11,157) (1,620) 

The table below demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in exchange rates, with all 
other variables held constant, of the Group’s profit before tax: 

 

31 December 2012 31 December 2011 31 December 2010 

 

USD EUR USD EUR USD EUR 

Strengthening of the currency (+10%) (699) (5) (702) (67) (1,116) (162) 

Weakening of the currency (-10%) 699 5 702 67 1,116 162 

The analysis was applied to monetary items denominated in relevant currencies at the reporting date. 

Other price risk 

As at 31 December 2012, the Group’s assets include investments in quoted securities subject to other 
price risk. To mitigate this risk, the Group regularly analyzes market securities trends and makes a 
decision to sell a security, when necessary. 

The table below demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in market indexes for 
securities, with all other variables held constant, of the Group in terms of the result of fair value 
revaluation recognized in other comprehensive income.  

 
Increase/decrease  

in percentage point 

Effect on revaluation result  
recognized in other comprehensive 

income 

2012   

MICEX + 30.0% 2 

MICEX -  30.0% (2) 

2011   

MICEX + 30.0% 233 

MICEX -  30.0% (233) 

2010   

MICEX + 30.0% 387 

MICEX -  30.0% (497) 
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(d) Capital management policy  

Capital management policy of the companies comprising the Group is primarily focused on increasing 
credit ratings, improving financial independence and liquidity ratios, improving the structure of 
payables, and reducing cost of borrowings. Among the main methods of capital management are profit 
maximization, investment program management, sale of assets to reduce debt, debt portfolio 
management and restructuring, use of different classes of borrowings. In addition, the companies of the 
Group are subject to externally imposed capital requirements, which are used for capital monitoring. 
There were no changes in the objectives, policies and processes of capital management during 2010-
2012. 

The Boards of directors of the companies comprising the Group review their performance and establish 
a variety of key performance indicators which are based on Russian statutory accounts. The companies 
comprising the Group monitor and manage their debt using financial independence ratio and net 
debt/equity, net debt/OIBDA ratios.  

32. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 

(a) Legal proceedings 

The Group is subject to a number of proceedings arising in the course of the normal conduct of its 
business (refer to (b) below). Management believes that the ultimate resolution of these matters will 
not have a material adverse effect on the results of operations or the financial position of the Group. 

(b) Taxation 

Russian tax, currency and customs legislation is subject to varying interpretations and changes occurring 
frequently. Further, the interpretation of tax legislation by tax authorities as applied to the transactions 
and activity of the Group may not coincide with that of management. As a result, tax authorities may 
challenge transactions and the Group may be assessed additional taxes, penalties and interest, which 
can be significant. The Group’s tax returns are open for review by the tax and customs authorities with 
respect to tax liabilities for three calendar years preceding the year in which the decision on the conduct 
of the tax audit was adopted. Under certain circumstances, reviews may cover longer periods. 

New transfer pricing legislation enacted in the Russian Federation starting from 1 January 2012 provides 
for major modifications making local transfer pricing rules closer to OECD guidelines, but creating 
additional uncertainty in practical application of tax legislation in certain circumstances. 

The new transfer pricing rules introduce an obligation for the taxpayers to prepare transfer pricing 
documentation with respect to controlled transactions and prescribe new basis and mechanisms for 
accruing additional taxes and interest in case prices in the controlled transactions differ from the market 
level. The new transfer pricing rules eliminated the 20-percent price safe harbour that existed under the 
previous transfer pricing rules applicable to transactions on or prior to 31 December 2011. 

The new transfer pricing rules primarily apply to cross-border transactions between related parties, as 
well as to certain cross-border transactions between independent parties, as determined under the 
Russian Tax Code. In addition, the rules apply to in-country transactions between related parties if the 
accumulated annual volume of the transactions between the same parties exceeds a particular 
threshold (RUB 3 billion in 2012, RUB 2 billion in 2013, and RUB 1 billion in 2014 and thereon). 

Since there is no practice of applying the new transfer pricing rules by the tax authorities and courts, it 
is difficult to predict the effect of the new transfer pricing rules on these consolidated financial 
statements. 
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Management believes that its interpretation of the relevant legislation is appropriate and that it is 
probable that the Group’s tax, currency and customs positions will be sustained upon examination. 
Management of the Group believes that it has adequately provided for tax liabilities in the consolidated 
statements of financial position as at 31 December 2012, 2011 and 2010. However, the general risk 
remains that relevant authorities could take different position with regard to interpretative issues and 
the effect could be significant. 

In February 2010, the Federal Tax Service of the Russian Federation completed the comprehensive tax 
inspection for the period of 2007-2008 and, as a result, issued a claim in the amount of 715 of additional 
taxes, fines and penalties. In September 2010, higher taxing authority declared 410 of the total amount 
invalid. The Group appealed the decision of the higher taxing authority in respect of the remaining 305 
to the Arbitration Court of Moscow. In June 2011 the claim of the Group was fully settled, though in 
October 2011 that decision of the Court was changed as a result of the tax authority’s appeal. The Court 
declared 265 of 305 invalid. The Group and the tax authority disputed that decision in the Federal 
Arbitration Court of Moscow Region, which declared 242 of 305 invalid. The claim of the tax authority 
was declared valid in the amount of 34. The Group appealed the decision in the amount of 28 to a 
higher taxing authority. No consideration of the suit was held by the moment the present statements 
were published.  Management believes that, overall, taxes for 2007-2008 have been properly calculated 
by the Group and fairly stated in its financial statements based on the Group’s analysis of the 
sustainability of liability. However, certain transactions revealed during the tax inspection management 
assessed as unlikely to be successfully defended in higher courts.  As a result, the Group has accrued 
additional tax liabilities. The total provision for tax liabilities for the period 2004-2008 amounted to 63 
as 31 December 2011 (2010:16). 

(c) Licenses 

Substantially all of the Group’s revenues are derived from operations conducted pursuant to licenses 
granted by the Russian Government. These licenses expire in various years from 2013 up to 2021. 

The Group has renewed all other licenses on a regular basis in the past, and believes that it will be able 
to renew licenses without additional cost in the normal course of business. Suspension or termination of 
the Group's main licenses or any failure to renew any or all of these main licenses could have a material 
adverse effect on the financial position and operations of the Group. 

(d) Capital commitments 

As at 31 December 2012, contractual commitments of the Group for the acquisition of property, plant 
and equipment amounted to 44,058 (2011: 56,705; 2010: 8,435). 

(e) Operating leases 

As at 31 December 2012, all lease contracts are legally cancellable. However, the Group was involved in 
a number of operating lease agreements for land, on which the Group constructed certain leasehold 
improvements. Thus, it is reasonably certain that these leases would not be cancelled. Future minimum 
lease payments under these operating leases as at 31 December 2012, 2011 and 2010 were as follows: 

 

31 December  
2012 

31 December  
2011 

31 December  
2010 

As lessee  

 

 
Current portion 147 170 1,963 

Between one to five years 264 418 1,404 

Over five years 1,003 2,100 4,960 

Total minimum rental payables 1,414 2,688 8,327 

As lessor  

 

 
Current portion 151 100 834 

Between one to five years 207 281 444 
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Over five years 2 94 490 

Total minimum rental receivables 360 475 1,768 

33. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

(a) The Government and OAO Svyazinvest as a shareholder 

As indicated in Note 1, the Government of the Russian Federation controls the Company by indirect 
holding of 53.2% of the Company’s ordinary shares through OJSC “Svyazinvest”, “Vnesheconombank” 
and Federal Agency of State properties management. OJSC “Svyazinvest”, the major shareholder of the 
Company with 43.37% share, is fully owned by the Government. It is a matter of the Government policy 
to retain a controlling stake in sectors of the economy, such as telecommunications, that it views as 
strategic. 

(b) Interest of the Government in the telecommunications sector in the Russian Federation and the 
protection of that interest 

Effective telecommunications and data transmission are of great importance to Russia for various 
reasons, including economic, social, strategic and national security considerations. The Government has 
exercised and may be expected to exercise significant influence over the operations of the 
telecommunications sector and consequently, the Group. The Government, acting through the Federal 
Tariff Service and the Federal Telecommunications Agency, has the general authority to regulate certain 
tariffs. In addition to the regulation of tariffs, the telecommunication legislation requires the Group and 
other operators to make certain revenue-based payments to the Universal service fund, which is 
controlled by the Federal Telecommunications Agency. Moreover, the Ministry of Telecom and Mass 
Communications of the Russian Federation has control over the licensing of providers of 
telecommunications services. 

(c) Subsidiaries 

The companies comprising the Group perform transactions with subsidiaries as part of their day-to-day 
operations. Financial results and account balances on transactions with subsidiaries are excluded from 
the Group’s financial statements. The companies enter transactions with subsidiaries on market terms. 
Tariffs for subsidiaries are at the same level with tariffs for other parties and mostly are fixed by a 
regulatory body.  

(d) Associates 

The Group is also involved in various telecommunication services with entities in which it has 
investments, including associates over which it exerts significant influence. A summary of these 
transactions is as follows: 

 2012 2011 2010 

Revenue  207 128 115 

Purchase of telecommunication and other services (595) (453)  (197)  

The amounts of receivables and payables due from these entities were as follows: 

 2012 2011 2010 

Accounts receivable 75 14 15 

Allowance for doubtful receivables (9) (1) (9) 

Accounts payable and accrued expenses (23) (27) (20) 
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(e) Transactions with the companies of Svyazinvest Group 

The amounts of revenue and expenses relating to the transactions with Svyazinvest Group were as 
follows: 

 2012 2011 2010 

Revenue  271 272 546 

Purchase of telecommunication services (277) (304) (894) 

Purchase of other services (48) (128) (408) 

The amounts of receivables and payables due from and to Svyazinvest Group were as follows: 

 2012 2011 2010 

Accounts receivable 105 82 56 

Allowance for doubtful receivables (19) (6) - 

Accounts payable and accrued expenses  (206) (131) (250) 

Dividends payable - - (3,678) 

The Group also receives services related to the construction of the network from certain companies of 
the Svyazinvest Group which are included in additions of property, plant and equipment in amount of 
396 (2011: 641, 2010: 716).  

The Group held promissory notes issued by OJSC Tsentralniy Telegraf which is a part of Svyazinvest 
Group. Interest income accrued for the year ended 31 December 2012 and 2011 is nil (2010: 65). 

In December 2012 the Group acquired 140,315,416 additional ordinary shares of OJSC Svyazinvest for a 
total cash consideration of 1,720. 

(f) Non-state pension fund “Telecom-Soyuz” 

The Group has centralized pension agreements with a non-state pension fund “Telecom-Soyuz” (refer to 
Note 19). In addition to the state pension, the Company provides the employees with a non-state 
pension and other employee benefits through defined benefit and defined contribution plans.  

The total amount of contributions to non-state pension fund paid by the Group in 2012 amounted to 
1,235 (2011: 1,661, 2010: 1,937). The fund retains 3% of every pension contribution to cover its 
administrative costs. 

(g) Transactions with other government-related entities 

In January 2009, OJSC Rostelecom in partnership with mobile operator OAO Megafon won a tender for 
sponsorship of the ХХII Winter Olympic Games and the XI Winter Paralympic Games 2014 in Sochi in a 
category “Telecommunications”. According to the agreement with the Organisation committee of ХХII 
Winter Olympic Games and the XI Winter Paralympic Games 2014 in Sochi the sponsorship contribution 
amounts to USD 260 million and should be contributed by each sponsor in the amount of USD 130 
million. Half of this amount shall be paid in cash and the other half shall be contributed in free services. 
In return, each partner will obtain exclusive rights to use the Olympic logo in its advertising and other 
activity. There is a joint responsibility of the Group and Megafon in respect of non-cash contributions. 
The total charge of sponsorship contribution to profit and loss for the year ended 31 December 2012 
amounted to 609 (2011: 463, 2010: 469). As at 31 December 2012, the total commitment due to be paid 
in cash by 2014 is USD 20,1 million.  

The Group considers this transaction as a transaction with a related party because the Group treats the 
Organisation committee as a government-related entity. The reason for this is that the federal 
government was one of the founders of the Organisation committee and government executives are on 
the Oversight Board of this Organisation. 

In December 2009, OJSC Rostelecom entered into a state contract with the Ministry of Telecom and 
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Mass Communications of the Russian Federation to realise project Electronic government. The project 
involves equipment and software installation, development of web site for on-line access to information 
about government services, possibility to apply documents to government bodies via web-site, having 
support via call center and other related services. In 2010 the Company negotiated the new state 
contracts on maintenance of the Electronic government systems and on development of some new e-
government applications.  Total revenue under the contracts are disclosed in the Note 21 on the line 
Cloud computing services. 

The Group received loans from government-related banks OJSC Sberbank, OJSC Bank VTB, OJSC Sviaz-
bank, OJSC Gazprombank and others. The outstanding balances from these banks amounted to 175,012 
as at 31 December 2012 (2011: 125,270, 2010: 82,604). During year ended 31 December 2012 the 
Group obtained loans from these banks in amount of 430,787 (2011: 217,534, 2010: 101,574), made 
repayments in amount of 393,856 (2011: 182,884, 2010: 62,215). Interest expense accrued on those 
loans during year ended 31 December 2012 amounted to 12,811 (2011: 7,928, 2010: 2,903). 

The Group has collectively but not individually significant transactions with other government-related 
entities including but not limited to providing telecommunication services, consuming services having 
both production and miscellaneous nature, depositing and borrowing money. All these transactions are 
carried out in the course of normal day-to-day business operations on the terms comparable to those 
with other entities which are not government-related. Management assesses these transactions as not 
particular material except for placing deposits and purchase and sales of investments in promissory 
notes of government-related banks.  

Proceeds from sales of government-related banks promissory notes for the year ended 31 December 
2012 amounted to 1,044 (2011: 1,766, 2010: 9,841), purchases of the same kind of investments 
comprised 1,000, 712 and nil for 2012, 2011 and 2010 respectively. Related income recognized in profit 
and loss in respect of government-related banks promissory notes amounted to 44 for the year ended 
31 December 2012 (2011: 66, 2010: 41).  

The amount of funds placed on deposits with government-related banks for the year ended 31 
December 2012 is 873 (2011: 2,676, 2010: nil) with related income recognised in profit and loss of 47 
(2011:28, 2010: nil) and amounts repaid back to the Company’s account of 2,187 (2011: 953, 2010: nil). 

(h) Remuneration of key management personnel  

The key management personnel for the purpose of these consolidated financial statements comprises 
Management Board’s members, the Board of Directors’ members and Vice-Presidents. 

Remuneration to the key management personnel for the year ended 31 December 2012 amounted to 
522. Remuneration includes salaries, bonuses, payments for participation in the work of management 
bodies and other short-term benefits.  

The remuneration amounts are stated exclusive of social taxes. 

Also in June 2011 the Company introduced a long-term motivation programme for executives and senior 
employees of the Company. The amount of employee benefits related to the programme and attributed 
to the Management Board’s members, the Board of Directors’ members and Vice-Presidents for the 
year ended 31 December 2012 is nil (2011: 467). 

The key management personnel in 2009-2010 comprises also members of the Management Boards and 
the Boards of Directors of IRC companies. Short-term benefits accrued to the key management 
personnel for the year ended 31 December 2011 amounted to 432 (2010: 1,756). In 2010, the 
remuneration of the key management personnel in terms of share option granted amounted to 1,850.  

In 2012 the Group made a contribution of 1,967 to the non-state pension fund (2011: nil, 2010: 8) for its 
key management personnel. The plans provide for payment of retirement benefits starting date 
employee complies with terms of acting non-state pension program. 
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34. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 

In January 2013 the Group issued two sets of bonds, which form part of an approved bond issue 
programme worth a total nominal value of 100,000. These issues, Bond issue №15 and Bond issue №18, 
amount to 5,000 and 10,000, respectively. The coupon has been set at 8.20% per annum, with a period 
of 182 days. The bonds with a nominal value of RUB 1,000 per bond have a maturity of 5 years from 
placement. The bonds are not subject to any buyback offer. The bonds are to be redeemed based on 
the following amortization schedule: 50% of the principal to be repaid on the date of 9 coupon payment 
and 50% on the date of 10 coupon payment. CJSC VTB Capital, OJSC Gazprombank OJSC and CJSC 
Sberbank CIB have organized the placements. 

 

In March 2013 the Group issued 5-year series 19 bonds with a nominal value of 10,000. The coupon has 
been set at 8.10% per annum, with a period of 182 days. The bonds with a nominal value of RUB 1,000 
per bond have a three-year put option from placement and a maturity of 5 years from placement. The 
bonds are to be redeemed based on the following amortization schedule: 50% of the principal to be 
repaid on the date of 9 coupon payment and 50% on the date of 10 coupon payment. 

As at 13 March 2013 all the above mentioned issues are fully placed and included in quotation list «A1» 
on the MICEX. 

The Group plans to invest the obtained finance resources on financing of general corporate purpose, 
implementation of the investment programme and refinancing of outstanding loans. 

 


